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Learning Objectives and Outcomes
By the end of this lesson, students should be able to:
1. Describe the elements of an effective financial management framework in the public
sector.
2. Demonstrate understanding of the nature and significance of reporting entities with
respect to public sector accounting.
3. Describe the legal framework within which municipal accounting occurs.
4. Describe the features of municipal accounting, including the classification of revenues &
expenses for reporting purposes & the use of municipal funds.
5. Explain the purpose, importance and utilization of a chart of accounts.
6. Analyze the accounting and reporting requirements for tangible capital assets as now
required by the Public Sector Accounting Board.

Introduction
This lesson provides an overview of the
financial management framework of a
municipality which can be defined as the
planning, directing, monitoring, organizing
and controlling resources in order to meet the
objectives of the municipality. Good financial
management is one of the cornerstones of the
success and sustainability of any municipality.
It focuses on managing resources today
through a combination of effective controls
and accountability for results as well as
ensuring that plans are in place to support
long term strategic objectives over the long term.
In this section, the generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for government are
explored as set by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB), the standard setting body for
the public sector. In addition, the conceptual framework for accounting, objectives of financial
reporting and applicability of management accounting are explored. The lesson addresses the
concept of the reporting entity as well as provide a general introduction to Municipal accounting.
As stewards of the public purse, there are expectations of public officers to be accountable to its
citizens for financial resources to ensure that they are managed with probity and prudence
through effective controls and faithful compliance. As well, governments are expected to prove
value for money by managing its operations effectively (do the right things), efficiency (do things
right) and economically (at the lowest cost). This is unique from the private sector in that the
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focus is accountability for program results and outcomes as opposed to a financial profit focus.
This makes government more complex in terms of measuring performance as the indicators are
often challenging to identify and report on a regular basis. The lesson discusses the
accountability for results and logic models to manage programs in a municipal environment.
The demand for a new direction in the finance community has been a focus at all levels of
government over the last two decades. The federal government has commissioned over 40
studies dating back to 1962. The consensus in all these studies was that existing federal
comptrollership practices could no longer effectively support government decision-making
processes; nor could they ensure accountability for program and financial results. Notably
lacking were comprehensive financial management and accounting systems that would enable
financial information to be linked with non-financial (operational) data in order to measure
program costs and performance in relation to program objectives. To date, the focus of most
governments has been short term, sometimes at the detriment to the long-term sustainability of
the community. The accounting framework did not support the focus on the long term as it is
primarily historical in nature and, until 2009, did not include the recognition nor depreciation of
tangible capital assets on the financial statements. As such, fixed assets were viewed as
“operating” as opposed to “capital” and therefore not planned or managed as long-term assets
that provided services to the communities. This has led to a significant “infrastructure deficit” as
repair, maintenance and replacement of tangible capital assets has not been financed and
therefore, municipalities, all over the world, are now struggling to become or remain financially
sustainable.
Municipal financial sustainability can
be defined as:
“Ability to continue to deliver
services and develop infrastructure
required without sudden unplanned
increases in rates and tariffs or
reduction in services and the capacity
to absorb financial shocks without
external financial assistance”.
And/or…
“Financial capacity of municipalities to
deliver services and meet contractual
commitments while planning for the
future.”
While the foundation of financial
management includes the proper
accounting and “bookkeeping” of
financial transactions and controls to
ensure assets are safeguarded, the role of finance is broader than this. Finance has been
described as “the thread running through management, separate in certain specific aspects, but
for the most part intertwined with other factors, and seldom far below the surface” (Marshall
1974). The language of finance has been expressed through the bookkeeping and accounting
records of a municipality and the financial reports developed therefrom (Blake 2014). While this
is true, bookkeeping and accounting are transactional, historical representation that
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demonstrate accountability for funds expended. They provide guidance in terms of activities and
indicators of financial condition but cannot be used alone as indicators for long term financial
sustainability. These long-term concepts are further explored in this program.
To begin at the most basic level, we can define bookkeeping as a process for recording and
summarizing the financial transactions of an entity – in this case, a municipality, and the various
entities that can be distinguished within it (Marshall 1999). Bookkeeping involves maintaining a
set of records (in journals and ledgers) in which the dollar amounts of all financial transactions
are recorded in the books of accounts. Transactions include purchases, sales, receipts, and
payments by an individual person or an organization/corporation.These records should be
organized in a format that allows for the provision of summaries and totals on a timely basis. It is
the process of recording, summarizing, and analyzing financial information in a systematic
manner and interpreting the results that elevates bookkeeping into accounting. Accounting
provides the basis and background needed by management to set an organization’s policies
and to manage its operations (Naughton and Spamann 2015).
Accounting or accountancy is the measurement, processing and communication of financial
information about the organization such as a municipality. Accounting includes the following:

1. Recognition, recording of financial transactions utilizing the double entry accounting
approach through general ledger based upon a logical chart of accounts and subledgers
to reflect details by types of transactions (fixed assets, accounts payables, receivables,
payroll etc.);
2. Design of general ledger and accounting systems to capture and report financial
transactions based upon the needs of the users of financial information;
3. Design of internal controls in order to safeguard assets;
4. Preparation of financial reports and statements;
5. Analysis and investigation of the results disclosed by the financial records;
6. Analysis of financial results including comparison of actual results with budget estimates;
and
7. Presentation of the results in a meaningful way for the use of management, elected
council, the public, and other users who are generally not bookkeepers or accountants.

The Objectives Financial Reporting in the Public Sector
The Municipal Act requires that municipalities prepare financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles as recommended by PSAB which was created to
serve the public interest by establishing accounting standards for the public sector. PSAB also
provides guidance for financial and other performance information reported by the public sector.
The Handbook of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada (CPA Canada) replaced the
Handbook of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) after the CICA became part
of CPA Canada in 2013. The Handbook contains CPA Canada’s official pronouncements and
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authoritative guidance on accounting, assurance and public sector accounting standards in
Canada.
The municipal financial statements are audited against PSAB standards. The Government
Reporting and Accountability Framework contains both financial and non-financial reporting as
illustrated below. Best practice would suggest that financial statements be supplemented with
non-financial information such as performance information (what has been achieved with the
funding/tax dollars spent).

Accounting Principles
Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) have been reflected in the Accounting
Framework and provide
guidance for accountants in
exercising
professional
judgment in the recognition
of financial transactions and
Reporting
Entity
reporting
for
the
government.
One would
think that GAAP would
Full
provide
“rules”
and
Conservatism
Disclosure
prescription or regulation in
financial reporting. This is
far from the truth.
The
application of GAAP requires
significant
professional
Accounting
judgment in its application.
Principles
Hence,
the
accounting
principles guide accountants
Consistency
Cost
in exercising their judgment.
Some of the principles are
highlighted below:
1. Reporting
Entity
Assumption

Matching

Stable Dollar

A reporting entity is any
unit or activity that uses
resources to
provide goods or services.
A unit or activity encompasses legal, administrative, economic, accounting and other
entities. For the purposes of external financial reporting, a reporting
entity is an organization that is obliged to prepare general purpose financial reports. The municipal
treasurer is responsible to keep all of the business transactions of each municipal entity and then
consolidated for financial statement purposes. The entity concept is indispensable to accounting
because, to the extent that accounting is viewed as an information system, the entity defines the
boundaries of that system and the basis on which information is to be collected and analyzed.
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The PSAB Handbook1 (Section 1300) states that a government is a single reporting entity and
that no government body is included in the financial statements of another government. But
governments carry out their policies and deliver services through various forms of organization,
ranging from departments that are an integral part of the government structure to relatively
independent boards, commissions, and corporations that may prepare separate financial
statements of their own. The question of when to include or exclude an organization from the
financial statements of a government will be explored below and later in this program. For now,
the short answer is that government organizations are included in the government’s reporting
entity if they are controlled by government.2
In the public sector, four types of entity are relevant to the accounting system.

Types of Entity in the Public Sector
A Government

The federal or provincial government or municipality

Organizations controlled by
government

The standard defines control as:
“the power to govern the financial and operating policies
of another organization with expected benefits or the
risk of loss to the government from the other
organization’s activities.”

A Program

Often programs cut across organizational lines, and it is
also common to find several programs conducted within
a single body. In either of these situations, it is
necessary to distinguish the program as a separate
entity.
This is a fiscal entity created to account for resources or
other assets that have special restrictions or
requirements. Funds are no longer required in the
financial statement

A Fund

Entities for Municipal Reporting Purposes
As indicated by the table above, a municipality is an entity, as are organizations controlled by a
municipality. Once it has been determined that an organization is part of the municipality’s
reporting entity, the next step is determining how to account for that organization in the
municipality’s financial statements. The answer to that question will depend on the type of
organization. The PSAB Handbook, Section 2500.04, defines the following categories:

1

Chartered Professional Accountants, Public Sector Accounting Handbook.

2 Inclusion used to be based on whether an organization was accountable to, owned, or controlled by government,
but as of the fiscal year 2006, being controlled by the municipality is the sole criterion governing consolidation of
organizations within a municipality’s financial statements.
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Categories of Organization
Government
business enterprise

1. A separate legal entity with the power to contract in its own
name and that can sue and be sued.
2. Delegated the financial and operating authority to carry on a
business.
3. Sells goods and services to individuals and organizations
outside of the government reporting entity as its principal
activity.
4. Can maintain its operations and meet its liabilities from
revenues received from outside the reporting entity.

Government
business-type
organization

1. It is a separate legal entity with the power to contract in its
own name and can sue and be sued.
2. It has been delegated the financial and operational authority
to carry on a business.
3. It sells goods and services to individuals and organizations as
its principal activity.

Government
not-for-profit
organization

1. A government organization that meets the definition of a notfor-profit organization in the CPA Handbook – Accounting,
Financial Statement Presentation By Not-For-Profit
Organizations (paragraph 4400.02) and that has counterparts
outside the public sector.
2. This entity is normally organized and operated exclusively for
a social, charitable, professional, or any other not-for-profit
purpose. Its members, voluntary board, contributors, and
other resources provided do not receive any financial return
directly from the organization.

Government
organization

An organization that is controlled by the government, on the basis of
considerations discussed in the preceding section of this lesson.
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1. A government organization that is not a government business
enterprise.
2. Governmental units would include: government departments,
funds, agencies, service organizations, boards and
government not-for-profit organizations.

Section PS 1300, states that government financial statements should consolidate the financial
statements of all controlled organizations except government business enterprises (GBEs).
GBEs are to be included in government financial statements using the modified equity method.

Consolidated Basis
Reporting on a consolidated basis presents summary information that aggregates the individual
financial statements of organizations comprising a reporting entity.
Consolidation is a method of accounting that combines the accounts of those organizations lineby-line on a uniform basis of accounting and eliminates inter- organizational balances and
transactions. Consolidation is the most appropriate method of accounting for organizations
integral to the overall operations of government in directly performing its executive function.
Municipal Boards are classic examples of situations where the entities are consolidated for
financial statement reporting purposes. It is important to note, however, that the financial
statements of each entity are also required. More discussion on consolidation, including the
proportional consolidation of joint local boards, is found in Lesson 3 of Unit Two of this program.

Equity Basis
A government business enterprise differs from other government organizations in its relationship
to the government (municipal council, in this case), its objectives, and its operations. A
government business enterprise represents a financial asset of government, and given its
autonomy, business-oriented objectives, and financial self-sufficiency, this type of organization
is best accounted for by the equity method. The equity method of accounting produces the
same net results as consolidation. It, however, reports an organization’s net equity and income
as one line on the statement of financial position and statement of annual results, respectively,
instead of adding the organization’s.

The Importance of the Entity Concept
The most important point about the entity concept is the way it focuses and emphasizes
responsibility and hence accountability. Accountability is secured in relation to the responsibility
assigned, and management control is possible to the extent that authority has been granted to
responsible individuals. Information must therefore be collected and reported in accordance with
responsibility plans if accountability and control are to be achieved.
Centres of responsibility vary widely in size, scope, and complexity. A government is a
responsibility centre because the elected representatives who head the government are
accountable to the public. Similarly, any organizational unit within a government is a
responsibility centre, because some official is appointed as its head and is charged with
responsibility for its operations. Finally, where programs have a program director or other
responsible official in charge, the program itself may be viewed as a responsibility centre.
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The fourth type of entity mentioned, the fund was used by nonprofits and the public sector to account for the allocated equity
based upon specific requirements as directed by council or
another regulatory body. However, funds are no longer part of the
financial statement presentation. The concept of fund arose from
funding or legal requirements to segregate equity held by the
municipality and held for specific purposes. Reserve and reserve
funds provide a mechanism of accountability and control as well
as a communication mechanism for councils to identify specific
financial commitments or goals. Some reserve funds continue to
be required for legal requirements based upon agreements with
other governments (eg. Federal gas tax funds, development fees)
as the funds must be utilized for specific purposes at some point
in the future of the financial statement date. Restrictions may also
be placed by council to identify specific project, often as a result of
fund raising activities, grants or contributions.
Tracking of funds is often identified in the chart of accounts of the
municipality for ease of recording.
2. Stable Dollar and Monetary Unit Assumption
Municipal financial statements are measured in Canadian dollars
and the dollar is assumed to be stable and free of inflationary
influences.
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Fund Accounting
While many municipalities
continue to utilize funds to
segregate sources of funding or
legislative requirements, funds
are no longer part of the financial
statement preparation. PSAB
Section 1800 has been withdrawn
requiring funds and fund
balances.
Reserves and Reserve Funds
continue to be used by
municipalities to segregate equity
of the municipality into
“allocated funds” which can be
restricted by Council or
unrestricted to be used for a
variety of purposes.

Because of this basic accounting principle, it is assumed that
the dollar's purchasing power has not changed over time. As
a result, accountants ignore the effect of inflation on recorded
amounts. For example, dollars from a 1960 transaction are combined (or shown) with
dollars from a 2017 transaction.
3. Cost Principle

This principle refers to the fact that financial transactions are recognized at “cost" which
refers to the amount spent (cash or the cash equivalent) when an item was originally
obtained, whether that purchase happened last year or thirty years ago. For this reason,
the amounts shown on financial statements are referred to as historical cost amounts.
This is likely the principle that is criticized most frequently in terms of usefulness of
financial statements. The reason being that the buying power of dollar decreases over
time and the recognition does not take into account this change. Because of this
accounting principle asset amounts are not adjusted upward for inflation. In fact, as a
general rule, asset amounts are not adjusted to reflect any type of increase in value.
Hence, an asset amount does not reflect the amount of money a municipality would
receive if it were to sell the asset at today's market value nor does it provide predictive
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This is particularly problematic for

4. Full Disclosure Principle

If certain information is important to those using the financial statements, that information
should be disclosed within the statement or in the notes to the statement. The notes
contain valuable information about the municipality which are not reflected in the financial
statement numbers but are important for the user to understand.
For example, if the municipality is named in a lawsuit that demands a significant amount
of money. When the financial statements are prepared it is not clear whether the
municipality will be held liable or the amount that may be ordered or settled. As a result
of these conditions and because of the full disclosure principle the lawsuit will be
described in the notes to the financial statements.
Other schedules such as reserves, tangible capital assets, long term leases and other
significant financial information is also contained in the notes.
5. Matching Principle

Matching concept is at the heart of accrual basis of accounting.
It is important to match expenses with revenues because net income, i.e. the net amount
earned in a period, is calculated by subtracting expenses from revenues. If expenses are
not properly recorded in the correct period, the net income for a particular period may be
either understated or overstated and so are the related balance sheet balances.
Matching principle is what differentiates the accrual basis of accounting from cash basis
of accounting. It requires recognition of revenues and expenses regardless of the actual
receipt of cash from revenues and actual payment of cash for expenses.
In order to apply the matching principle, the municipality must apply judgment to estimate
the timing and amount of revenues and expenses. This is well illustrated by the changes
introduced in 2009 requiring municipalities to recognize tangible capital assets on the
balance sheet as an asset and amortization expense over the useful life of the asset. The
key is that even though the municipality has to pay for the assets they buy or build at the
time, the expense is recognized over the life of the asset as it provides services to its
citizens.
Other examples of accrual based accounting include wages for employees which should
be recognized when the employee earned the wages and necessarily when they are paid
(which may be before or after they have worked).
6. Revenue Recognition Principle
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Under the accrual basis of accounting (as opposed to the cash basis of accounting),
revenues are recognized as soon as a service has been performed (or earned),
regardless of when the money is actually received. Under this basic accounting principle,
a municipality could earn and report revenue from a grant but the funds have not been
sent by the other government but all requirements have been met.
Other examples include providing a recreation program but the citizen has yet to pay and
receivable to the municipality.
7. Materiality

Materiality is a very important but often
misunderstood concept. It defines is that if an
amount or transaction is immaterial in the grand
scheme of the municipality, then it may not need
to be treated in the same manner as material
transactions. It also allows for the treasurer to
make a decision on level of effort to expend to
identify amounts that are not reconcilable.
Because of materiality, financial statements
usually show amounts rounded to the nearest
dollar, to the nearest thousand, or to the nearest
million dollars depending on the size of the
municipality.
8. Conservatism

If a situation arises where there are two
acceptable alternatives for reporting an item,
conservatism directs the municipality to choose
the alternative that will result in less net income
and/or less asset amount. It does not direct
accountants to be conservative. Accountants
are expected to be unbiased and objective.

Materiality is organization
specific based upon its size
(revenues and/or
expenditures) and levels of
internal control. The larger
the size and the better the
controls, the higher level of
materiality. For example,
$500 would be “material” in
an organization with $5,000
in revenues. If the financial
statements were off by more
than $500, the auditor would
issue a qualified opinion if
the error was not resolved.
In a larger organization,
$500 would be immaterial in
an organization with $5
million in revenues.

The basic accounting principle of conservatism leads accountants to anticipate or
disclose losses, but it does not allow a similar action for gains. For example, potential
losses from lawsuits will be reported on the financial statements or in the notes, but
potential gains will not be reported.
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There are two primary objectives of public sector
accounting (Dachis and William 2014; García
2014). The first objective, which applies to all
types of accounting, is the provision of information
and analysis that is used by responsible decision
makers to make judgments about the activities
being reported on – in other words, to provide a
basis for management control.

The second objective is the provision of information that can be used to ensure accountability, a
concept inherent in the nature of government organizations, especially in democratic systems of
government such as are found in Canada. There is an expectation that various mechanisms will
exist to allow the governed to hold the government accountable. One such form of
accountability is based on financial disclosure. Paralleling these two objectives are two broad
categories of accounting – managerial and financial.

Managerial Accounting
Managerial accounting typically refers to the preparation of specific purpose reports for use by
persons within the organization. Management accounting includes identifying, accumulating,
analyzing, interpreting, and providing management with information to assist in the decision
making process. This type of reporting assists management in planning and controlling
operations to achieve the organization’s goals.
It is worth noting that control in this context is not simply a matter of eliminating waste,
preventing fraud, or discouraging bad performance. It should also involve promoting efficiency
and effectiveness, inducing excellence and innovation, and encouraging outstanding
performance (Blake 2014). These positive aspects of control have traditionally been harder to
achieve in most areas of government because the natural competitive regulator of the
marketplace has been absent. Competition, instead, has been centred upon getting a larger
share of the total budget for one’s own area of responsibility – not an objective conducive to the
promotion of productivity.
As will be seen, however, performance measurement is receiving increasing emphasis in
government. it is worth noting, however, that while it is true that measuring is important and is
gaining in importance, it is also true that the Municipal Performance Measurement Program is
no longer a requirement of municipal reporting to the Province. While it may be replaced with
something at some point in the future, it is not part of the requirements presently. Consideration
of alternative service delivery options for the provision of government programs and services is
also creating a more competitive atmosphere, one in which improved performance receives
greater recognition and reinforcement.

Financial Accounting
Financial accounting, the other broad category of accounting, typically refers to the preparation
of general purpose accounting information reports for use by persons outside of, or external to,
the organization. In the public sector, these users include:
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Users of Financial Information
As stakeholders in government, they provide a large portion
of the revenues and resources necessary for government
operations.

Council or legislative
authorities

They are responsible for administration of public financial
affairs and resources and are accountable for their
administration.

Regulators such as other
levels
Unions

They provide regulatory authority over operations and
financial affairs.
They are responsible for the interests of their membership
and the effect of the financial information on these members.

Investors
Creditors
Analysts

They provide financial resources to government.
They provide resources to government.
They provide information to the public and to special interest
groups.

Partners

They provide financial resources to government

A Closer Look at the Concept of Accountability
Financial information is provided to ensure accountability, but this is a complex concept with four
dimensions to it.
1. Stewardship: accountability for financial resources
2. Compliance: accountability for faithful compliance or adherence to legal requirements
and administrative policies
3. Efficiency: accountability for efficiency and economy in operations
4. Effectiveness: accountability for the results of government programs and activities, as
reflected in accomplishments, benefits, and effectiveness

Accountability Framework
Municipal governments are experiencing People want to know what is being accomplished
increasing demands to be more with their tax dollars, not just how much is being
accountable and transparent in their spent where.
decision making. The public wants to be
assured that their tax dollars are being
spent on the things that matter to them, namely top quality services that enhance their
quality of life. At the same time, there is continued pressure on government to keep the
property tax rate under control. Accountability begins with identifying municipal service
offerings and the outcomes expected with service delivery. New Open Government
strategies raise this expectation to new levels. Services must align and support the
community in the achievement of its vision. Without this common understanding of service
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responsibilities, the municipality becomes accountable for everything – an unrealistic
expectation to manage within limited resources.
An accountability framework is a valuable tool in helping elected officials and the
administration make better informed policy decisions, determine the best use of limited
resources, enhance service quality, and improve communications with citizens. However,
if the framework is not well designed and implemented properly, it has the potential to
create a large layer of bureaucracy simply focused on producing complicated data and
analysis that does not lend itself to solving performance issues, or worse, that no one
reads. An effective accountability framework requires a balance between measuring
performance and actually performing.
Part V.1 of the Municipal Act outlines
the requirements for municipalities to be
accountable and transparent. Section
270(1) requires that policies be
developed that demonstrate “the

manner in which the municipality will
try to ensure that it is accountable to
the public for its actions, and the
manner in which the municipality will
try to ensure that its actions are
transparent to the public.”

1. Accountability for Financial Resources
Fiscal accountability has long been the dominant emphasis of government accounting (Depuis
2004). At every level of government, rules and policies are established to ensure honesty and
integrity in fiscal matters. No funds can be spent except as legally authorized through
appropriate government actions. No government administrator can enter an agreement, place
an order, or otherwise commit the government to payment of funds without legislative
authorization to do so. Consequently, the accounting system is charged with keeping a record of
all legal authorizations, and of all commitments, agreements, encumbrances, obligations, and
expenditures that use any portion of the authorization granted.
Except where legislative permission is given to do otherwise, all receipts collected by any
agency of government are required to be remitted to the central treasury.
Moreover, authority to draw upon the treasury may also be subject to additional legal
authorization. Thus, responsible officials are accountable for all monies flowing into and out of
their custody, and proper accounting will disclose such flows.
Financial accountability is secured essentially through the periodic reporting of account
balances and other financial information to appropriate authorities. These reports may disclose
the status of funds, amounts collected, amounts obligated or expended, the status of
expendable assets, claims against those assets and other such information. In cases where

Unit 1
Municipal Accounting and Finance Program

Page 17

revenues are earned as a result of certain activities, financial reports may also include revenue
and expenditure statements as well as formal balance sheets containing both unrestricted
(revenue fund) and restricted (reserve fund) assets as well as long term debt.

2. Accountability for Faithful Compliance
Government officials are accountable to their legislative body for compliance with laws and
other expressions of legislative intent. Similarly, lower levels of management are responsible to
higher levels for adherence to administrative policies and requirements. To the extent that
information that discloses something about the degree of compliance can be quantified,
systematically collected, and objectively reported, it falls conceptually within the framework of
the accounting system. If any of these conditions are lacking, other means of determining
compliance must be found.

3. Accountability for Economy and Efficiency in Government Operations
Resources available for public sector programs will always be limited. As a result, there is great
interest in the ability of governments to discharge their responsibilities in an economical and
efficient manner. Both of these terms are open to a variety of interpretations and have not
traditionally been used with sufficient precision and consistency (Kernaghan and Siegel 1999;
Tindal and Tindal 2004).
Economy can be defined as obtaining the goods and services needed at the best possible price.
It usually refers to the elimination of unnecessary luxuries, frills, and other costs that are not
really necessary to the success of a program or activity. In that sense, economy is really a part
of efficiency, since it implies doing the job at less cost.
Efficiency is defined as using resources in such a manner as to obtain the maximum output from
those resources. Since it is a concept of input-output relationships, efficiency cannot be
measured for government as a whole. One cannot determine whether the public good would be
improved if a dollar spent for public health were transferred to education, for example. Thus we
cannot hope to prepare a report disclosing overall government efficiency. We must look to the
individual program or responsibility centre for such measures, and even here the problems are
numerous and difficult.

4. Accountability for Program Results
Accountability for program results is becoming more important as all levels of government are
expected to do more with fewer resources. In effect, the focus has shifted from the traditional
concern about the legality of government spending decisions (the accountability for compliance
outlined above) to a concern about the wisdom and effectiveness of such decisions.
Effectiveness can be defined as maximizing the attainment of a particular objective. In other
words, if efficiency is concerned with doing things right, effectiveness is concerned with doing
the right things.
The three Es – economy, efficiency and effectiveness – are complementary and in combination
can provide an enriched measurement of performance. But it is also possible to maximize some
of these and not others. One could, for example, maximize economy in obtaining resources, but
then use these resources in an inefficient manner. Even more common are situations in which
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economy and efficiency are achieved, but are misdirected in such a way that effectiveness is
not served (Kernaghan and Siegel 1999).
As discussed later in this lesson, and in more detail in Lesson 3, both efficiency and
effectiveness measures figure prominently in Ontario’s Municipal Performance Measurement
Program (MPMP). As noted earlier, while it is true that measuring is important and is gaining in
importance, it is also true that the Municipal Performance Measurement Program is no longer a
requirement of municipal reporting to the Province. While it may be replaced with something at
some point in the future, it is not part of the requirements presently.

The trend since 2016 has been an increase in the number of municipalities that have
created accountability officers as outlined in the Municipal Act. This is partly due to the
additional accountability measures that were put in place effective January 1, 2016.
Bill 8 - Public Sector and MPP Accountability and Transparency Act, 2014 made changes
to the Ombudsman Act of Ontario which granted new powers to the Ontario Ombudsman as
follows:
 May Investigate decisions, recommendations or actions done or not done in the course of
the administration of a municipality and most of its local boards;
 May initiate broad systemic investigations;
 May investigate in response to complaints or on the Ombudsman’s own motion;
 May publish findings and make recommendations on the above.
Accountability Recap
We have distinguished four aspects of the concept of accountability, so as to understand better
the implications for those responsible for accounting. These four aspects can be briefly
summarized as follows:


the accounting system must demonstrate that all revenue and expenditure activities are
properly authorized and meet all legislative requirements;



to the extent that such information can be properly quantified, collected, and reported,
the accounting system should demonstrate that personnel have complied with legal
requirements and administrative policies;



the accounting system should provide information that allows an assessment of the
economy and efficiency of programs and activities are being undertaken; and



to the extent that such information can be properly quantified, collected, and reported,
the accounting system should provide the basis for performance reports that indicate
program accomplishments and program effectiveness.

Fulfilling all of these aspects of accountability is a challenge and the emphasis given to different
aspects has varied over time. As noted, the traditional emphasis has been on fiscal
accountability and accountability for faithful compliance – reflected in detailed procedures and
controls intended to ensure that funds were only spent as legally authorized.
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Gradually, the view developed that the controls were excessive and that while they might
prevent governments from doing something bad, they also prevented them from doing anything
good. “Let the managers manage” became the rallying cry, and the emphasis shifted to the
establishment of a new regime in which liberated managers would become more entrepreneurial
and would emulate their private sector counterparts in generating revenues, minimizing costs,
and increasing productivity.
Reinventing Government (Osborne and Gaebler 1993) became the new panacea and the
supporting principles and approaches were portrayed as the new public management and found
much favour in a number of countries including Britain, Australia, New Zealand, and (less so)
the United States and Canada. A whole series of publications in public management followed
their works (Osborne 2010).
Then along came Enron and a series of other highly
publicized scandals involving irregularities in
corporate accounting and financial reporting, and
detailed controls designed to ensure proper use of
funds were back in vogue. Ontario municipalities
experienced their own “Enron” in the form of MFP
Financial Services. While its irregularities related to
capital leasing arrangements, the fallout from problems experienced by several large Ontario
cities has redirected attention to the importance of procedures and controls. Reconciling these
controls with the current emphasis in Ontario on performance measurement, on municipalities
demonstrating improvements in efficiency and effectiveness in service delivery, will call for
further balancing of accountability considerations.
The challenge of reconciling
shifting priorities – control and
accountability versus freedom and
entrepreneurship.

The accountability and transparency in local government has been further entrenched by the
Provincial Government through the 2006 City of Toronto Act and the changes to the Municipal
Act under Bill 160. All of which merely point out that accounting and reporting systems are not
technical constructs that operate in a vacuum. They are influenced by ever-changing
developments and pressures in the municipal world.

Introduction to Municipal Accounting
The accounting system in a municipality must be designed to serve the two main purposes of
accountability and management control described earlier in this lesson. All governments must
produce financial statements as outlined by PSAB. Under the Municipal Act, the financial
statements must follow generally accepted accounting principles as per PSAB. PSAB – One

Reporting Model for All Governments
In 2009, PSAB required one reporting model for all governments. Now…4 financial statements
are required:3
1. Statement of Financial Position
2. Statement of Operations
3. Statement of Changes in Net Debt
4. Statement of Cash Flows
3

PSAB Government Reporting Framework, 2009
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It is PSAB’s vision that governments supplement their financial statements with additional nonfinancial information as focusing on annual financial results
does not tell the whole story. This will be further explored in
Stops 3, 4 and beyond.

PSAB Standards versus Recommended
Practice
PSAB sets standards and issues Statements of
Recommended Practice (SORPs) with the view to
enhance decision making and accountability.

PSAB Standards are:



“authoritative
standards
for
accounting and reporting”
Requirements in preparation of
statements

SORPs are:


“voluntary”

financial
financial

PSAB Standards are REQUIRED
(GOOD Practice).
SORPs are VOLUNTARY.
(BEST Practice)

In the words of
Charles Kendall Adams…
"No one ever attains very eminent
success by simply doing what is
required of him; it is the amount
and excellence of what is over and
above the required that determines
the greatness of ultimate
distinction."
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guidance to improve financial decisions
recommended enhanced reporting
support for accountability

The year 2009 saw many changes in PSAB standards for local governments. As shown
in the chart below, we will focus on the following PSAB standards and SORPs at various
stops through our journey. It is important to note that only a select few PSAB standards
are explored. For authority and completeness, PSAB Handbook should be referenced..
PSAB SECTION

DESCRIPTION

1000

Financial Statement Concepts

1100

Financial Statement Objectives

1200

Financial Statement Presentation

3150

Tangible Capital Assets

2700

Segment Disclosures

STATEMENT OF
RECOMMENDED
PRACTICE

Assessment of Tangible Capital Assets
Indicators Of Financial Condition
Public Performance Reporting

PSAB Standards Changes
As mentioned above, PSAB introduced changes to financial reporting standards for local
governments for fiscal years commencing in 2009. Federal and provincial/territorial
governments were required to make effective fiscal years commencing April 1, 2005.
PSAB standards required changes to municipal accounting principles that require the
recognition of tangible capital assets and be included in municipal financial statements.
Full accrual accounting provided a new view of cost for financial reporting purposes. The
implications for municipalities have been challenging as the number and diversity of
assets owned and managed by municipalities are significant. These changes, however,
have changed the focus to asset management as it provided focus on assets and
highlighted the long term implications of aging infrastructure and financing the
replacement of these assets.
PS 3150, came into effect on January 1, 2009, and the first financial statements reflecting
this change are required for fiscal year 2009. PS 1000 to PS 1300 outline the required
financial statement concepts, objectives and presentation. For most municipalities, the
first statements under the new format were released in 2010 and many municipalities did
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not meet the deadline leading to “qualified” audit opinions. This concept is studied in this
program.
The standards provide for excellent information to allow municipalities and the public to be more
aware of the investment in physical infrastructure, and the cost of using an asset to provide
services over its useful life. While PSAB standards are historical in nature, they provide an
indication of the age of infrastructure and have enforced the need for long-term planning for capital
renewal and replacement.

It is important to recognize that the move to full accrual
accounting was just part of the financial management
framework. While financial accounting provides for more
informed understanding of the cost of providing services to
citizens, it is based upon historical information. The
replacement and rehabilitation of these assets as well as
new growth is not included in these costs.

Cash Based versus Accrual Based
Accounting
The Accounting Standards Framework outlines four financial
reporting methods ranging from full cash accounting to full
accrual accounting as follows:

Full Cash
Accounting
• Revenues
recorded when
cash received
and
expenditures
recorded when
paid

Modified Cash
• Cash basis
during year with
set up of unpaid
accounts and/or
receivables @
year end

Modified
Accrual

Full Accrual
Accounting

• Record
expenditures
when resources
received &
revenues when
measurable and
available within
accounting
period.

• Revenues
recognized when
earned,
expenses
recognized when
incurred (TCAs
capitalized and
amortized).

Cash-based accounting is a method of bookkeeping that records
financial events based on cash flows and cash position.
Revenue is recognized when cash is received and expense is
recognized when cash is paid. In cash-based accounting,
revenues and expenses are also called cash receipts and cash
payments. In comparison, accrual based accounting recognizes
revenues when earned and expenses when incurred rather than
when cash is actually receive.

Example: Municipality buys
a new Truck

Cash basis accounting:
The truck is not included as
part of the assets. Other
things being equal, the
municipal debt (accumulated
deficit) increases by the
amount of cash used to pay
for the truck, in the year in
which the municipality takes
ownership, without any
recognition that this cash has
purchased a long-lived asset.
Under full accrual:
Truck is added to the NonFinancial Assets in the
Balance Sheet.
The annual cost of owning
the truck is reported as the
amortization in the value of
the truck plus the cash
outlays for operations and
maintenance. As the truck
amortizes, Municipality has
less remaining “investment”
in the truck and accumulated
surplus declines.
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Advantages and Disadvantages of Cash and Accrual Based Accounting
Under full cash-based accounting, there is no recognition of the future requirements. Whether
the future requirements are invoices, commitments, contracts, asset renewal on the expense side,
or the recognition that revenues are owed to cover these expenses, cash basis of accounting
does not provide for the future view and understanding of liabilities. If an organization operates
in full cash based environment, it does not have any plans for tomorrow and likely will be unable
to plan for important issues or make appropriate decisions. Additionally, cash-based accounting
is not viable for cost accounting in operations because expenses cannot always be correctly
associated with product/service costs.
Accrual based accounting provides for a better matching and understanding of long term
receivables and liabilities. However, it is much more difficult to understand.
An important consideration is the basis of the accounting system maintained by the municipality
(Beauchamp 2009). Under the cash basis (or modified cash based) accounting, which many
years ago was traditionally used by many municipalities, revenues are not recorded in the
accounts until they are actually received in cash, and expenditures are not recognized until
payment is made. In contrast, the accrual basis of accounting records revenues in the fiscal
period when earned, regardless of the period of collection, and records expenditures when the
liability is initially incurred. The accrual basis is obviously more accurate or up-to-date,4 and
municipalities are required to report their revenues and expenditures on this basis under the
provisions of the PSAB Handbook.
What Ontario municipalities used until 2009 was more accurately termed a modified accrual
accounting system (Beauchamp 2009; Blanco, Lennard, and Lamontagne 2011; Tassonyi 2002)
because it reported capital expenditures on a cash basis and showed expenditures for capital
investments (and debt service) in the year in which they are incurred.

The Legislative Framework
Municipal accounting systems operate within a legislative framework provided by the Ontario
government, one that has had several important changes in recent years. Chief among these
changes is a new Municipal Act, in which sections 285 to 305 deal with financial administration.
The method of accounting in Ontario municipalities receives statutory recognition in the
Municipal Affairs Act (RSO 1990, c M.46, s.3), which gives the Ministry of Municipal Affairs the
power to “prescribe and regulate the system of estimates, bookkeeping and accounting to be
adopted by municipalities, and the form of and the manner in which all estimates, books of
accounts, registers, records, vouchers, receipts, and other books and documents relating to the
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenditures of municipalities shall be kept, and the manner in
which all funds and moneys thereof shall be accounted for.”

4

Even more timely is encumbrance or commitment accounting, an elaboration of accrual accounting under which a
commitment of unexpended budget appropriations is recorded at the earliest possible point at which it can be
recognized. For example, while accrual accounting records an expenditure when ordered goods are received,
encumbrance accounting records this expenditure as soon as the goods are ordered. Encumbrance accounting is
essentially a management tool for controlling expenditures within budgetary appropriations, whereas accrual
accounting is a legal financial reporting principle.
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This Act goes on to state that the Ministry may prescribe the forms, returns, statements, and
information to be made and furnished by municipalities annually, periodically, or otherwise, and
the times when and by whom they shall be made. As noted
in the next section, the Ministry requires, among other
things, two annual financial reports, which are widely
recognized as having a considerable influence over the
way municipalities keep their books and analyze their
financial activities.

Financial Reporting Requirements

Taxpayers, general public, legislators,
provincial and federal governments,
councillors, managers and analysts.

Section 296 of the Act requires that the municipality
prepare the financial statements for the municipality in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
as per PSAB. All financial statements of government organizations in Canada (federal,
provincial, territorial and municipal) are required to be audited annually by external
(independent) auditors. In the case of federal and provincial governments, the Auditor General
of the jurisdiction performs these audits. Municipal governments are unique in that each
municipality has an individual auditor that is procured through competitive processes in the
private sector but must be an auditor licensed under the Public Accounting Act.
While municipalities may prepare a wide variety of financial reports for management purposes,
they are required to prepare two main reports intended for external users – annual financial
statements and an annual financial information return.

Annual Financial Statements/Report5
Within 60 days of receiving the audited financial statements, the municipality is required (by s.
295 of the Municipal Act) to make them available to local ratepayers. The financial statements
and their accompanying notes are a central feature of a municipality’s accountability to its local
citizens.

Objectives and Concepts of Financial Statements – PS 1000
The conceptual framework for accounting consists of an interrelated and compatible
system of objectives, standards or principles, and practices or procedures, all linked
rationally to the needs of users.

PS 1000 details the overall concepts of government financial statements. In order to be
useful, financial officers and accountants must exercise their professional judgment and
balance the following concepts:

5

It should be noted that PSAB continues to make changes in the way municipalities record and report information in
order to improve accountability and relevance of financial statements. For example, some recent PSAB exposure
drafts and changes include the accounting of contaminated sites, asset retirement obligations, revenue recognition.
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Objectives of
financial statements
for governments (PS1100)


Objectives of Financial Statements
– PS 1100

Full nature and extent of financial
resources controlled by the government
 Financial position at end of
accounting period
 Changes in financial position
 Accountability for resources,
obligations and financial affairs (example:
Accrual based budgets)

The objective of financial statements is to provide
information about the financial position,
performance and changes in financial position of
the municipality that is useful to a wide range of
users in making financial decisions. As per
PS1000, financial statements should be understandable, relevant, reliable and

comparable.
PS1100 outlines the objectives of financial statements for
governments and should guide your accounting
decisions. In particular, ensuring that users have an
understanding of the financial decisions that have been
made both in the current year and the past is imperative
in order to utilize the statements on a prospective basis.
All decisions impact the current financial position of the
municipality.

In particular, Reported assets, liabilities and equity
are directly related to a municipality's financial position
and reported income and expenses are directly
related to financial performance of the municipality within
the year.

ARE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS USEFUL?
Financial Statements must Trade off between
Relevancy and Reliability
If Financial Statements were produced when
they were 100% reliable (accurate), they
would take so long to produce that they
would no longer be relevant (too old to
inform decision making)
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The changes in PSAB standards have significantly changed the elements contained in
municipal financial statements in order to provide a more relevant picture regarding
financial position and performance.
Since previous PSAB standards failed to report on a significant number of material assets
(tangible capital assets), the true financial position of a municipality was not known.
Further, the financial performance was skewed by inclusion of cash as revenues
(transfers from own funds and debt) as well as capital expenditures which provided
benefits for many years. The financial statements did not provide a complete view of the
financial condition of the municipality.

Financial Reporting Requirements
PS1200 sets out the required financial statements, the format and elements. Both current
and previous year are required on all statements. Some statements require current
budgets as well.
Financial statements required as follows:
a. Statement of Financial Position (Balance
Sheet)
b. Statement Of Operations (Income Statement)
c. Statement of Change In Net Debt
d. Statement of Cash Flow
e. Notes To Financial Statements
 Disclosure requirements

Users of the financial
statements need to have some
understanding of the meaning
behind the numbers in order to
utilize financial statements in

Unit 1
Municipal Accounting and Finance Program

The diagram below shows the relationship among the four required statements

Page 27

Unit 1
Municipal Accounting and Finance Program

Page 28

How do the Financial Statements Meet the Concepts and Objectives?
The Financial Statements for local governments were changed for fiscal periods
commencing 2009 with the view to better adhere to the concepts and objectives contained
in PS 1000 – 1100 as follows:
Statement
Financial
Position
(Balance Sheet)

Relevance
Point in Time
Indication of Net Debt – Financial Assets
less liabilities – Measure of future
revenues require to pay for past
transactions
Financial Assets and Liabilities not
sufficient for entire picture

Reliability
All assets should be
included including all
receivables, contingent
liabilities.
Accounting policies
should be disclosed and
applied consistently.

Accumulated Surplus (Deficit) or NET
ASSETS – residual interest and
accumulated surpluses or deficits over
the years and reflects all past decisions.

Operations
(Income
Statement)

Provides full cost of providing services

 Shows expenses for the
period rather than cash
outlay – could lead to
less change in business
practice

The exclusion of “unearned revenues”
such as transfers from own funds and
debt proceeds provides more relevant
current earned revenues
Period statement
Shows Extent to which expenditures are
offset by revenues in the period as
opposed to existing equity

Statement of
Cash Flow

Shows the degree of municipal financial
flexibility to meet future requirements
Period statement
Shows how the municipality change in
cash balances and how it financed its
activities

Current and Previous
period
Budget required
Comparable across
periods and
governments

Shows the extent to which net assets
have been maintained during the year

Change in Net
Debt

Reflects year over
year decisions and
how they affect
financial results.
Change in
Accumulated surplus
(deficit)shows the
degree to which the
financial position has
improved or
deteriorated over the
previous period

Non-financial assets (eg. TCAs) show
more complete picture of debt and future
operating requirements

Now includes all assets yielding improved
information.
Period statement

Comparative
Current and Previous
Year required to show
changes in financial
position.

Current and Previous
period

 Verifiable and unbiased
through consistent
application of standards
and audited externally.
 Verifiable and unbiased
through consistent
application of standards
and audited externally.

Budget required

Current and Previous
period

Notes to Financial Statements are extremely important and add to the
understandability of the statements as they relate to the municipality including
accounting policies and principles.
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The financial statements that are outlined in PSAB standard 1201 (replaced PS1200) and must
include:

Financial
Statement
Statement of
Operations
(Income
Statement)

Description and Intent of Financial
Statement

Account Categories

Shows the financial results during the fiscal year.
The difference between revenues and expenses
determine if there is a surplus or deficit in any
given year.

Revenues
Expenses
Net Income or Surplus
(Deficit)

Statement of
Financial Position
(Balance Sheet)

Shows the net “worth” of the municipality at a
point in time. Represents the Accumulated
Surplus (or Deficits) of all years.

Statement of
Cash Flows

Shows the Utilization of Cash in the fiscal year.
This shows the level and change in flexibility.

Statement of
Change in Net
Debt

Shows the changes in Financial Assets and
Liabilities. This is an indication of the ability for
the municipality to meet its obligations.

Assets
Liabilities
Accumulated Surplus
(Deficit)
Operating Activities
Capital Activities
Financing Activities
Investing Activities
Financial Assets (does
not include Tangible
Capital Assets or
Inventory for use by the
municipality)

Statement of Financial Position (a.k.a. Balance Sheet)
What is it?
The Statement of Financial Position reflects a point in time and reflects the definition of
accounting whereby assets are equal to liabilities plus equity accumulated surplus (deficit)
remaining in organization.
PS1200.32 highlights four key figures that describe the financial position of the
government at the financial statement date.
(a) cash and cash equivalents.
(b) net debt position - difference between its liabilities and financial assets.
(c) non-financial assets - assets used in service provision and include:




tangible capital assets
inventories of supplies
prepaid expenses.

(d) The accumulated surplus or deficit (indicator of net assets) is the sum of the net
debt and non-financial asset
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Why Use it?

Financial
assets
and liabilities have

always
been
presented on the
Statement
of
Financial Position.
The key difference
is the concept of
net debt which is
synonymous with

the net financial
assets/liabilities.
This part of the
financial
statements
continues to be as
important
as
it
always has been
with only slight changes.
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Government balance sheet identifies all of the
assets and liabilities that have financial value
Government balance sheet same accounting
equation as in the private sector:
Assets

Liabilities

In public sector, this can be rearranged:
Citizen/
Taxpayer
Accumulated
Surplus
(Deficit)

Assets

This statement must include the current and previous year comparison.

Financial
Assets
consist of assets that
can be utilized to
discharge
current
liabilities or finance
future obligations and
represent
the
municipality’s
flexibility
and
vulnerability to do so.
PS 1200.046 outlines
the
elements
as
shown in Prospect’s
Statement
of
Financial Statement.
The Statement of
Cash Flows can be
invaluable
to
demonstrate
how
the municipality has
financed
its
operations.
This
along
with
the

Equity

Liabilities

27
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Statement of Operations will round out the story and allow you to analyze the data further.
Ratios will also provide some trends and comparators
to assist in the analysis.
Liabilities are the obligations of department or outsiders’
claims against the municipality’s assets. Liabilities usually
arise from the acquisition of assets or the incurrence of
operational expenses. Liabilities arise from many types of
obligations such as agreements, contracts, another
government's legislation (for example, environmental
legislation), the municipality’s own legislation (for example,
legislation may require the municipality to make transfers to
organizations and individuals that meet certain criteria set
out in that legislation), constructive obligations; and
equitable obligations (that is, those that are based on ethical
or moral considerations). PS 1200.41 to 1200.43 provides
details regarding liabilities and includes:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)

Accumulated Surplus (Deficit) growth or
decline is neither
GOOD Nor BAD.
The Key to Understanding Accumulated
Surplus is change in MAGNITUDE and
DURATION.

accounts payable and accrued liabilities
liabilities for employee future benefits
deferred revenue
borrowings and
loans from other government
Post employment benefits
landfill liabilities

Net Debt
Net debt reflects the difference between financial assets and liabilities and shows the financial
flexibility and/or vulnerability of the municipality. The Statement of Changes in Net Debt
provides additional information and can assist in telling the story and understanding what decision
the municipality has made that has affected the net debt position. This will be reviewed in the
next section.

Accumulated Surplus (Deficit)
The most comprehensive measure of the municipality’s overall financial position is the
accumulated surplus (deficit). This is the difference between the Municipality’s total
liabilities and its total assets. Accordingly, it is also equal to the accumulation of annual
deficits and surpluses since incorporation.
Does the increase or decrease in accumulated surplus (deficit) matter?
Perhaps not from one year to the next but over several years, it may be significant. For example,
if there was a continuing trend downwards or towards deficit, this would indicate that the
municipality’s infrastructure may be aging, liabilities may be growing at a greater pace than
infrastructure is being replaced or taxation being raised to support programs. On the other hand,
large financial assets may not necessarily indicate a positive either as receivables could be
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growing or without effective collection mechanisms, there is a risk that these may be written off
over time.

Non Financial Assets include:




Tangible Capital Assets
Prepaid Expenses
Inventory of supplies

Tangible capital assets include such diverse items as roads, buildings, vehicles, equipment, land,
water and other utility systems, aircraft, computer hardware and software, dams, canals, and
bridges.
What is the Significance of Non Financial Assets
Until 2009, there had been no requirement to account for and recognize tangible capital assets
on the Statement of Financial Position of municipalities. This was a significant change for
municipalities as there are numerous and vast types of tangible capital assets owned and
controlled by municipalities.
It is important to note that although the Statement of Financial Position and Non Financial Assets
do not tell the whole story but they do tell more of the story for municipalities than it did before.
Full accrual accounting improves transparency and accountability by providing more
comprehensive and up-to-date financial statements and greater accountability by the municipality
to taxpayers. Full accrual accounting enables more effective decision making about municipality
operations, spending and longer-term risks and obligations.

Accounting and Reporting for Capital Assets (PSAB 3150)
Funding for infrastructure maintenance and renewal has been described as the biggest
management challenge in municipal government. In 2009, PSAB adopted PS 3150 which
required all municipalities in Canada to value their tangible capital assets and reflect the historical
cost on the financial statements. This was a very complex task for all municipalities as the
information was generally not available and most municipalities were forced to estimate the
historical cost utilizing replacement or reproduction costs.

Many municipalities engaged consultants to assist in this complex and time consuming
exercise. The implications of PS3150 was not fully understood by most municipalities
and the business processes to update and maintain this asset information were not
adequately developed. The benefits of PS3150 were also not realized.
Although PS 3150 is an accounting requirement for municipalities, it is really about
accountability, which is a shared among accountants, managers, engineers and
municipal councils. There is no doubt that municipalities own and utilize a significant
number of assets with large values in delivering services to citizens and yet, the cost of
providing those services had not been reflected in the financial statements. This was
truly only the first step towards improved asset management practices. PS3150 was
adopted to address the outdated accounting approach utilized by municipalities and

Unit 1
Municipal Accounting and Finance Program

required that all tangible capital
assets be accounted for and
amortized on the books of accounts
effective January 1, 2009.
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ASSET MANAGEMENT IS: AN
INTEGRATED OPTIMIZATION PROCESS

Although some may argue that the
OF "MANAGING INFRASTRUCTURE
historical basis of tangible asset
ASSETS TO MINIMIZE THE TOTAL
accounting
does
not
provide
COST OF OWNING AND OPERATING
meaningful information to users, it is
THEM, WHILE CONTINUOUSLY
intended to reflect the past
transactions that are verifiable and
DELIVERING THE SERVICE LEVELS
reliable. The depreciation of these
CUSTOMERS DESIRE, ACCEPTABLE
assets as an expense reflects the
LEVEL OF RISK.'
cost to utilize these assets in the
Managing Public Infrastructure Assets AMSA
provision of services. So, although
there is some basis for the argument that the historical information does not provide full
information on the cost to replace these assets, it does raise the awareness of the
existence of these assets and their cost. One can argue that “it is better than not having
any information” and that it is a start to move in the right direction. Most municipalities
did this to the best of their ability at the time.
However, as most municipalities have recognized, the true value comes a comprehensive
asset management approach and practice which is an integrated in business processes.
Effective asset management is not an “add on” or “after thought”. It is integral to daily
work with a long-term plan. It is a paradigm shift in thinking. That being said, all
municipalities, manage their assets. The key for continued success is to do so in a more
systematic way that reflects the long-term vision of the municipality.
PS3150 outlines that the financial statements should disclose, for each major category of
tangible capital assets, and in total:
a) cost at the beginning and end of the period;
b) additions in the period;
c) disposals in the period;
d) the amount of any write-downs in the period;
e) the amount of amortization of the costs of tangible capital assets for the period;
f)

accumulated amortization at the beginning and end of the period;

g) net carrying amount at the beginning and end of the period;
h) method used for determining cost;
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i)

amortization method used and period of amortization;

j)

net book value of assets not being amortized due to development, construction or
removal from service;

k) nature and amount of contributed/donated assets;
l)

nature and use of assets disclosed at nominal value;

m) nature of works of art and historical treasures held; and
n) amount of interest included in cost of assets for the period.
As a recommended practice, a “Tangible Capital Asset Policy” should be developed and
adopted by municipal councils. The policy should consider the following:6


setting of the threshold that tangible capital assets will be capitalized on the balance
sheet based upon materiality of the municipality;



identify the method(s) of amortization to be used by asset category;



providing the useful life (or range of useful lives) of each major tangible capital asset
category.



establishing what costs will be included for each asset category;



establishing policies on recognition donated/contributed assets;



determining the treatment of costs associated with repairs, maintenance, replacement
and betterment of assets.



providing for mechanisms to recognize asset impairment (write downs of value)



policies on disposal of assets.

Statement of Net Debt
What is it?
The statement of change in net debt reports the extent to which the expenditures of the accounting
period are offset by the revenues recognized in the period. This measure is displayed by reporting
the items that explain the difference between the surplus or deficit from operations and the change
in net debt for the period.
Net debt provides a measure of the future revenues required to pay for past transactions and
events. If the government's financial assets exceed its liabilities, then the indicator is a net

6

Town of Milton, Report CORS-014-09 to A and P Committee, Update on PSAB reporting for tangible capital assets,
March 17, 2009.
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financial asset position, indicating that there are net financial assets on hand, which can provide
financial resources to finance future operations.7
What Does it Include?
The Statement of Net Debt includes current and previous year results as well as current budget.
This statement serves well as a reconciliation with the “cash” based municipal tax budget as it
provides for budget of cash transactions that are not reflected in the statement of operations and
“non” cash items that are included in the statements.
As would be expected, some items may not be anticipated in the budget, such as the disposal of
tangible capital assets which may result in budgetary variances. Over time, municipalities may
wish to attempt to estimate gains/losses on disposal of TCAs as they impact financial results.
Further, upon disposal, assets that result in losses (or gains) provide information about the assets
(eg. Useful life estimate needs updating, assets may not be properly maintained resulting in early
disposal etc).

Statement of Operations
What is it?
A municipality's statement of operations reports the surplus or deficit from a government's
operations in the accounting period. It measures, in monetary terms, the extent to which the
municipality has maintained its net assets in the period through revenues in an amount sufficient
to meet the costs to cover of the services provided in the period, include the consumption of nonfinancial assets.
Such consumption costs include:


7

PS1200

amortization of capital assets

Unit 1
Municipal Accounting and Finance Program



prepaid expenses
and
inventory
utilization

The statement displays the
cost of government services
provided in the accounting
period,
the
revenues
recognized
in
the
accounting period and the
difference between them.

What Does it Include?
The
Statement
of
Operations includes:
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Revenues

Expenses

Do Not Include Debt Proceeds Or Transfers

Decreases In Economic Resources Including
Losses (Decreases In Assets, Increases In
Liabilities) Including Amortization Of
Tangible Capital Assets
• Do Not Include Debt Repayments Or Transfers

Annual
Surplus(Deficit)

a) Revenues
b) Revenues from noncash transactions
such as contributed assets
c) less
expenses,
including
amortization,
gains/losses from TCA disposals
d) annual surplus (deficit)
But does not include:
e)
f)
g)
h)

Increases In Economic Resources
(Increases In Assets, Decreases In
Liabilities) Including Gains

Debt proceeds
Debt payments
Transfers to/from own funds
Cash proceeds from disposals of TCAs

This statement requires current and previous period
results as well as current budget (accrual based).
With respect to expenses, the term expenditures no
longer exist on the financial statements but likely will
continue to be equated with cash requirements to fund
operations. The key difference is the fact that capital
expenditures are not included in the statement of
operations. Amortization expense of capital assets
over their useful life is reflected. These two concepts
are “reconciled” through the Statement of Cash
Flows.

Difference between Revenues and
Expenses

28

Revenues, Deferred Revenues
and Funding
Revenues are earned in the period for
providing services whether or not the cash is
received (example: current year property
taxes, provision of arena rentals).
In contrast, deferred revenue represents cash
that was received before the services are
delivered (example: federal gas tax where the
project is approved but all conditions not met).
This is a liability as the municipality “owes” the
service before it earns the revenue.
Funding represents the funding of a product or
service which could include the allocation of
current earned revenue, previous earned
revenue, debt or deferred revenue (example:
funding a capital project from a combination of
current property taxes, reserves (accumulated
surplus), federal gas tax and long term debt.
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The Financial Information Return (FIR)8
Section 294 of the Municipal Act stipulate that the treasurer of each municipality shall each year
provide the Minister of Municipal Affairs with a return containing information designated by the
Minister with respect to the financial affairs of the municipality, at the times and in the manner
and form designated by the Minister. This financial information return, or FIR, is the main data
collection tool used by the Ministry to collect municipal financial and statistical information.9 It is
a standard document comprised of a number of schedules that are updated each year to
comply with current legislation and reporting requirements.
The FIR has been provided as an electronic spreadsheet that municipalities access and
download from the Internet.10 When a municipality calls up its particular FIR, it finds that some
data from its previous FIR has been pre-loaded and carried forward into the new document.
This arrangement ensures that closing balances from the previous year match opening
balances for the current year. There are many automatic calculations built into the FIR, including
formulas that carry forward data from one schedule to another. There are also a series of data
verification checks built into the FIR to ensure that data entered by a municipality is accurate.11
Any questions or concerns that arise during completion of the FIR can be sent to the Ministry by
email to FIR@mah.gov.on.ca, the same address that is used to transmit the FIR once
completed. The FIR data is stored in the municipal data base in the Ministry, a vast library of
relational municipal financial information dating back to 1977.
A major change in the FIR beginning with the 2000 reporting year was the inclusion of a number
of measures of efficiency and effectiveness which comprise what is known as the Municipal
Performance Measurement Program (MPMP). These measures were initially portrayed as a
kind of municipal report card that will increase municipal accountability to ratepayers,12 but most
provisions are no longer required. In particular, effective for the 2014 reporting year, the
separate Performance Measurement Schedules (Schedules 90-95) were eliminated. Some of
the data points that were collected in these schedules are now contained in Schedule 80D:
Statistical Data.
The FIR requires that each municipality must classify its revenue, expenditure, asset, and
liability accounts under the same headings used by every other municipality. It follows that the
accounting records maintained by municipalities are very much influenced by the need to

8

The Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing has all of the FIR’s since 2010 on their FIR website. There are
changes slated to be rolled out over the next few years for the FIR as well.

9

The description of the FIR that follows is partly based on information provided by William Tumasz, Ministry of
Municipal Affairs, communication on February 20, 2003.

10

The address for the 2016 FIR is http://csconramp.mah.gov.on.ca/fir/FIR2016.htm.

11

The final lesson (5) of Unit Two is devoted to the FIR, but this document is also referred to throughout this program.

12

Ministry of Municipal Affairs, “Taxpayers to receive municipal report card,” News Release October 3, 2000.
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generate annually the specific classifications of information required for the FIR.13 In turn, the
format and classification of these accounting records influences the type of budget document
and resultant budget reports and analyses generated by the municipality.
The Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO) offers a data site related to the FIR through
an arrangement with the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing. The site allows reports to be
run on the data submitted by all Ontario municipalities covering all of their annual financial
activities and performance measurement requirements. The data results can be viewed for a
single municipality or for a group of municipalities so it is ideal for conducting comparative
benchmarking exercises. The system is called “Municipal Information and Data Analysis System
(MIDAS)” and any staff member or councillor of an Ontario municipality can have access. To
pursue the data, the student would need to contact AMO at www.amo.on.ca. in order to
establish a username and password.

Other Provincial Requirements relating to Accountability
In recent years the Ontario government has introduced several initiatives ostensibly designed to
enhance the accountability of public sector organizations, including local governments, but also
with the potential to increase provincial control over the operations of such bodies. The
establishment of an Ontario Centre for Municipal Best Practices (OCMBP) in mid-2002, with a
mandate to seek out and showcase municipal best practices in service delivery, then actively
encourage the use of these practices in municipal operations across Ontario.
While the Municipal Act 2001 gave municipalities somewhat more discretion and operating
freedom, it was very prescriptive with respect to financial matters and included a number of
reporting and accountability requirements.14


Section 270 requires a policy on the hiring of employees.



Section 270 requires a procurement policy.



Section 270 requires a policy on the sale of land.



Section 299 authorizes performance measures for municipalities.



Section 343 specifies what must be in a municipal tax bill.



Under Regulation 653/05, municipalities that want to enter into a capital lease must have
a statement of lease financing policies and goals. Under PSAB, these are tangible
capital assets that must be capitalized and included on the balance sheet.

13

As noted in the CPA Public Sector Accounting Handbook, section 1100.01, “the objectives of financial statements
of governments provide the basis for determining standards of financial statement reporting and accounting principles
that are consistent with one another and appropriate for government.”

14

The list that follows is largely based on a recent review of the Municipal Act, 2011 addition and associated
regulations
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Regulation 438/97 as amended requires municipalities to adopt a statement of
investment policies and goals if they have an investment portfolio.

In addition, the Sustainable Water and Sewage Systems Act (SWSSA), 2002, imposed new
accounting and reporting requirements on municipalities with respect to the cost and financing
of water and sewage facilities. Under this legislation, bodies (including municipalities) that
provided water services or waste water services to the public must provide a report to the
Minister of Environment about the infrastructure needed to provide the services, the full cost of
providing the services and the revenue obtained to provide them, and such other matters as
may be specified by regulation. This legislation was repealed on December 31, 2012.
The Safe Drinking Water Act was passed in December, 2002. The Safe Drinking Water Act
provides for 50 of the 93 Walkerton Part II recommendations. It focuses on the administrative
and operational aspects of the provision of water. The Safe Drinking Water Act is being
implemented in stages.
“The purpose of the Safe Drinking Water Act is to protect human health
through the control and regulation of drinking-water systems and drinking-water testing.
Building on existing policy and practice in Ontario's treatment and distribution of
drinking water, the Safe Drinking Water Act requires that all municipal drinking water
systems obtain an approval from the Director of the Ministry of the Environment in
order to operate. Operators are required to be trained and certified to provincial
standards. The act also provides legally binding standards for testing of drinking water
and requires that testing be done in licensed and accredited laboratories.”15
The following is a brief summary of the key elements included in the Safe Drinking Water Act::
 Mandatory licensing and accreditation of testing laboratories;
 New standards for treatment, distribution quality and testing;
 Mandatory operator training and certification;
 Mandatory licensing of municipal water providers;
 Stronger enforcement and compliance provisions; and
 “Standard of care” requirements for municipalities.
This legislation impacts the costs of operating a water system with the need for higher skilled
operators including increased training costs, increased reporting protocols and requirements,
continuing enhancements to quality standards and the costs to license each water system.
In August 2007, the Province of Ontario passed O. Reg. 453/07 and the guideline “Toward
Financially Sustainable Drinking Water and Wastewater Systems “. The key elements of this
regulation include;16

15

The Ministry of Environment
http://www.ene.gov.on.ca/environment/en/legislation/safe drinking water act/index.html
16 Excerpts from a Water and Wastewater Workshop presentation by CN Watson and Associates on November 12,
2008 in Brantford, Ontario
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the financial plan will represent one of the five key elements for obtaining a Municipal
Drinking Water License.



the plan was to be completed by July 1, 2010 (may be later if Drinking Water license is
to be obtained later than this date).



the financial plans shall be for a period of at least six years but longer planning horizons
are encouraged.



as the regulation is under the Safe Drinking Water Act, the preparation of the plan is
mandatory for water and encouraged for wastewater.



this regulation and guideline appear to be a transition to the SWSSA legislation.

Striking a Balance
Municipal accounting must serve the municipality by allowing it to demonstrate accountability to
the local public while also providing information needed for the effective operational and
financial management of municipal operations. Reconciling these two objectives may become
more difficult in light of the recent provincial initiatives ostensibly intended to enhance
accountability. Some of these new requirements could be used to increase municipal
accountability to the province at the expense of municipal managerial control and accountability
to local citizens. According to the MFOA, many of the provisions of the Municipal Act cited
above merely add an administrative burden for municipalities without enhancing accountability
to taxpayers.17
Since section 2 of the Municipal Act proclaims that municipalities are “responsible and
accountable governments with respect to matters within their jurisdiction,” MFOA contends that
municipalities should be able to determine their own accountability regimes to communicate
performance and similar information to citizens. As noted above, gaining more freedom and
flexibility for municipalities may be difficult in the aftermath of Enron and MFP but it would be
unfortunate if their legacy were an imbalance in the emphasis of municipal accounting and
financial operations.

Classification of Revenues and Expenses
The standard categories for classifying revenues and expenditures for reporting purposes are
as follows:

Municipal Revenues
Municipal revenues are classified under the three headings of:

17

As noted by Municipal Finance Officers’ Association, 2004 Municipal Act Review, p. 15
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1. Taxation and User Charges
2. Contributions from other Governments
Payments in lieu of taxes on properties in a municipality
owned by the federal and provincial levels of government or
by municipal enterprises such as water and hydro enterprises,
transportation and parking commission properties; subsidies
(or grants as they are more commonly called), both conditional
and unconditional. There are not many unconditional grant programs still available.
3. Other Revenue
This category includes fees, service charges and donations; licenses and permits; rents,
concessions, and franchises; penalties and interest on taxes; and investment income.

Municipal Expenses
For reporting purposes, municipal expenditures are classified by (1) function, (2) organization or
sub-function, and (3) object. To be specific: The nine major functional classifications are as
follows:
i)

General government

ii) Protection services
iii) Transportation services
iv) Environmental services
v) Health services
vi) Social and family services
vii) Social housing
viii) Recreation and cultural services
ix) Planning and development
Classification by organization or sub-function represents a further division of the nine categories
above. For example, under protection services, one would find such sub- functions as fire and
police, and under transportation services are such sub-functions as roadways, winter control,
transit, and parking.18
Finally, the third category, classification by object of expenditures, is as follows:

18

See Schedule 40 of the FIR and also further discussion of this topic in Lesson 3 of this Unit
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Salaries, wages and employee benefits

ii) Long term debt charges (interest)
iii) Materials
iv) Contracted services
v) Rent and financial expenses
vi) External transfer
vii) Long term debt charges (principal)
viii) Transfers to own funds
ix) Interfunctional adjustments
These categories are further distinguished in the reporting requirements within the FIR. For
example, “external transfers” would include such items as transfers to local boards not required
to be consolidated in this return, general assistance payments to
unemployed or unemployable persons, general assistance
payments to the aged, and grants to charitable organizations,
hospitals, universities, colleges, recreational or cultural
organizations.
To illustrate the threefold classification of expenditures, the salary of
the Chief of Police would be classified as follows:
Function
Sub-function
Object

Protection to persons & property
Police department
Salary

Probably the largest single influence over the design of municipal accounting records has been
the need to generate revenue and expense information in the above- noted classifications for
provincial reporting purposes.

Municipal Funds
While municipal fund accounting is no longer required for financial reporting purposes, funds
continue to be used in many municipalities in order to segregate municipal equity. As described
earlier, a fund can be defined as a segregation of assets and related liabilities, which is
administered as an accounting entity or unit. Funds may be required in special circumstances
such as legislative requirements and specific grants. Some municipalities continue to use
operating and capital funds to identify funding sources but this is a municipal choice and not a
requirement. Reserves and reserve funds, however, continue to be used to earmark funds for
special purposes.

Unit 1
Municipal Accounting and Finance Program

Page 43

Reserve Funds
A reserve fund is established to account for assets that have been segregated for a specific
purpose, either voluntarily or because of legal or contractual reasons.
Obligatory reserve funds must be created whenever a statute requires revenues received for
special purposes to be segregated from the general municipal revenues.
These are externally restricted funds and should be reflected as deferred revenue in the FIR
and financial statements. As at year-end financial reporting for 2010, the following are examples
of obligatory reserve funds:


Funds received from development charges;



Building permit fees stabilization reserve fund established under the Building Code
Statute Law Amendment Act



Cash in lieu of parking spaces under the Planning Act



Federal gas tax



Gas tax for transit purposes



Revenue in lieu of land for park purposes under the Planning Act.

Discretionary reserve funds are established whenever a municipal council wishes to earmark
revenues to finance a future project(s) for which it has the authority to spend money, and
physically sets aside a certain portion of any year’s revenues so that the funds are available as
required. It is suggested that municipalities create new reserve funds through the budget
process or a reserve policy which defines the purpose for which the reserve fund is being
created. The policy may also identify the “target” or level of the reserve and how it will be
allocated. Interest revenues should be allocated on a regular basis to reserves based upon the
balance in the reserve. Best practice would be to apply interest on a monthly basis as part of
the month end process.

Reserve Fund Versus Reserves
A reserve is different from a reserve fund in that it is simply an allocation of accumulated
surplus. It does not require the physical segregation of money or assets as in the case of
reserve funds. Reserves are part of the revenue fund and therefore do not earn interest on
their own, as happens with reserve funds. Reserves are established for many purposes
and some examples are; for working funds, for contingencies and for equipment
replacement.
A reserve may be established for a predetermined purpose and applied for that purpose at
the discretion of council. A reserve is created by including in the current budget the amount
that is to be designated as a reserve during the fiscal year, or by transferring to a reserve
account surplus funds that have been identified prior to the end of the fiscal year. In both
cases, a resolution of Council is required to establish the reserve.
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Trust Funds
A trust fund (or an endowment fund) is used by a municipality or local board to segregate and
administer assets under the specific terms of a statute or trust indenture. There might be
restrictions placed on trust fund assets regarding the use of the capital in the fund. In some
cases the capital cannot be used, although the income earned is available for a specific
purpose. A trust fund arrangement exists where money, property (or other valuables) are held
by a municipality or local board for the benefit of another. Some examples of trust funds are:
i)

Cemetery care and maintenance funds and monument care funds

ii) Surplus election contributions
iii) Funds held by the administrator on behalf of residents long term care as per the Long
Term Care Homes Act with a limit of $5000 per resident

Other Funds

Sinking
Funds

Special funds may also be established to pay for future liabilities.
The most common examples are sinking funds and Ministry of
Environment debt retirement funds.

A municipality that has sinking fund debentures (discussed in Unit
Two) outstanding is required to accumulate a sinking fund by
setting aside a predetermined amount each year, which is
invested in types of securities specified in the Municipal Act. A
separate sinking fund should be established for each sinking fund
issue and the amount of money that must be raised and paid into the
sinking fund certified in each year by the municipal treasurer. No
money in the sinking fund may be diverted other than to pay off the
sinking fund debentures for which the fund was established.

Fund Record Keeping
As noted above, funds are set up to ensure that monies are only used for specified purposes –
such as the proceeds of a debenture issue only being used for the purposes described in the
by-law related to it. It is necessary, therefore, that a clear record be kept that shows whether or
not the actual fund transactions are in accordance with legal requirements. This can best be
done by maintaining a separate and complete record of all transactions of the debenture or
capital fund. Separate fund accounting also provides a measure of control over the fund assets,
helping to avoid inadvertent use of the resources of one fund for the purposes of some other
fund.
Taken to extremes, the restrictive use of resources through traditional fund accounting concepts
can result in an approach where the resources are fully locked into the fund and as a result the
needs of efficient fiscal administration are reduced. Provision should be made in the design of
accounting systems to allow for the most effective flow of resources or interfund transfers, while
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maintaining the need to provide for the reconciliation of each fund as a separate accounting
entity for statement presentation.
For a further discussion on the future of fund accounting, refer to;
http:psab.mfoa.on.ca/newsletter.html and read newsletter number 50 issued June 26, 2009 on
“Fund Accounting – The Case For and Against” by Bruce Radford.

The Municipal Accounting Cycle
Early in this lesson it was noted that accounting is “the process for recording and analyzing
financial information systematically.”

Double Entry System
The field of accounting—both the older manual systems and today's basic accounting
software—is based on the 500-year-old accounting procedure known as double entry. Double
entry is a simple yet powerful concept: each and every one financial transactions will result in an
amount recorded into at least two of the accounts in the accounting system. One account will
receive a "debit" entry, meaning the amount will be entered on the left side of that account.
Another account will receive a "credit" entry, meaning the amount will be entered on the right
side of that account. The initial challenge with double-entry is to know which account should be
debited and which account should be credited.

Accounts,
The major components of the accounting equation are made up of numerous detail
accounts. An account is nothing more than a specific accounting record that provides an
efficient way to categorize similar transactions. All transactions are recorded in accounts
that are categorized as asset accounts, liability accounts, owners’ equity accounts,
revenue accounts, and expense accounts. Account format occurs in a number of ways
(chart of accounts).

Chart of Accounts
The Chart of Accounts is a classification system for the general ledger to provide information for
multiple uses both within and outside departments. The classification of accounts provides the
framework to identify, aggregate, and report financial transactions for planning, resource
allocation, management control, accounting, statistical, and evaluation purposes. The objective
of the Chart of Accounts (COA) is to establish the accounts and codes that are required to
report the financial transactions of the municipality. The various classifications provide the
framework for identifying, aggregating, and reporting the financial transactions of the municipality.
While there have been attempts to mandate the chart of accounts, there is no one way or set of
accounts. The FIR describes the standard classifications, as well as the accounts and codes that
are used for accounting and reporting. Proper coding of transactions is extremely important for
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financial reporting, public accounts, commitments, budgets and variance reporting. As a
recommended practice, the chart should allow for ease of reporting to all entities including the
FIR.
The COA provides for a simple way to segregate types of financial transactions by revenues,
expenses, assets or liabilities. The COA also provides structure to identify the financial
transactions into organization, geography, costing and legislative control elements. Projects can
also be tracked, both short and long term, although, it possible, these should be tracked in a
subledger or separate job costing system. This assists managers by providing reports based
upon priorities and goals. The COA should be structured to allow disaggregation of information
as well as roll ups to higher levels.

A typical chart includes the following and may vary by number of digits. Other elements
such as projects, locations, facilities are also common in charts. However, the more
complex the chart, the more transactional entries are required. Therefore, a properly
designed chart must have a balance between detail for reporting and transactional
requirements.

The Use of a Chart of Accounts
One of the features of a good accounting system is the integration of the various aspects of the
system – budgets, internal management reports, and external reports. In order to accomplish
this “tying together” of the system, there must be a common, consistent terminology and
classification of revenues and expenditures. The budget, the accounts, and the reports are
inseparable parts of the total financial planning, control and administration system.
1. The budgets control the nature and size of operations by setting the amount of revenues
on one hand and the purpose and amounts of expenditure on the other.
2. The account classifications capture in summary and in detail a record of revenues and
expenditures by transaction and event.
3. The internal reports advise management how well they are doing in relation to the
financial plan or budget.
4. The year-end audited financial statement serves as an account of the stewardship of the
municipality to its inhabitants.
In order to carry out the recommended classification system and segregate revenues and
expenditures in a manner that is useful for internal and external reporting, it is necessary to
have a chart of accounts. Over the years there has been considerable discussion on the need
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for, and form of, a common chart (or code) of accounts for municipalities. Obviously, the
requirement for detailed information is not the same for a large city and a smaller municipality.
Nevertheless, the structure of coding for accounts can be flexible enough to accommodate both
the large and smaller units.

Debits and Credits
Within the general ledger and subsidiary ledger, each transaction is reflected in the
appropriate accounts with debits (dr) or credits (cr). In order to keep balance in the
accounts, debits must equal credits.
Debits increase assets and expense accounts, while credits decrease them.

Conversely, credits increase
liabilities,
accumulated
surplus
(equity),
and
revenue accounts; debits
decrease
them.
Every
transaction recorded in the
accounting records will have
both a debit and a credit,
thus the term double-entry
accounting.

What is the General
Ledger?
General Ledger is defined
as the central repository of
the accounting information
of government in which the
summaries of all financial
transactions (culled from
subsidiary ledgers) during
an accounting period are
recorded. Also called the
book of final entry, it
provides the entire data for
preparing
financial
statements
for
the
organization.
The ”conservatism constraint”
in accounting states that
financial statements should be
prepared with a downward

Illustration: Purchase of Supplies (Non-Inventory)
Step 1: When you purchase supplies, the following entry is completed
in the financial system:
Supplies Expense (Expense increase is debit)

$500

Accounts Payable (Liability increase is credit)

$500

Step 2: Now you are liable to pay for these supplies. When the invoice
is paid, the following entry is made in the financial system:
Accounts Payable (Liability decrease is debit)

$500

Cash or Bank (Asset of Cash is decreased is credit)

$500

Now there is no longer a liability on the balance sheet, cash has been
depleted and so has the accumulated surplus. On the financial report
you receive, you will see the supplies expense of $500.
Illustration: Purchase of Supplies (Inventory)
Step 1: When you purchase supplies that are put in inventory for
future use, you have an asset (inventory), the following entry is
completed in the financial system:
Supplies Inventory (Asset increase is debit

$500

Accounts Payable (Liability increase is credit)

$500

Step 2: Now you are liable to pay for these supplies. When the invoice
is paid, the following entry is made in the financial system:
Accounts Payable (Liability decrease is debit)
Cash or Bank (Asset of Cash is decreased is credit)

$500
$500

Now there is no longer a liability on the balance sheet, cash has been
depleted and so has the accumulated surplus. On the financial report
you receive, you will see the supplies expense of $500.
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measurement bias. Assets and revenues should not be overstated, while liabilities and
expenses should not be understated. PS 3200 Liabilities states that:
“Liabilities should be recognized in the financial statements when:
(a) there is an appropriate basis of measurement; and
(b) a reasonable estimate can be made of the amount involved.”19
This section should be read in conjunction with PS 3300, Contingent Liabilities which are distinct
from liabilities as there is a degree of uncertainty as to whether a present obligation to sacrifice
economic benefits exists at the financial statement date requiring estimates to be recognized in
where there is an existing condition or situation; and there is an expected future event that will
resolve the uncertainty as to whether a present obligation to sacrifice economic benefits
exists.which addresses estimates where future. In summary, if the liability can be estimated,
the conservatism principle requires that it be recognized on the financial statements even if one
is not certain. That is, it will increase the liability and reduce the net income of the municipality,
thereby, providing a conservative result that does not overstate earnings.
Assets, therefore, must only be recognized when more certain of the revenue that will be
recognized. PS 3210 states:
“Assets have three essential characteristics:
(a) They embody future economic benefits that involve a capacity, singly or in
combination with other assets, to provide goods and services, to provide future cash
inflows, or to reduce cash outflows.
(b) The public sector entity can control the economic resource and access to the
future economic benefits.
(c) The transaction or event giving rise to the public sector entity's control has already
occurred.”
Contingent assets are disclosed in the financial statements if the amount can be estimated and
the event is likely to occur. This is different from liabilities as assets would serve to overstate
revenues and violate the conservatism constraint.

Financial Transactions
Financial transactions arise based upon the definitions above or where there are uses of equity.
As soon as someone is aware of a pending liabilities, such as a purchase and the event has
taken place and is able to be estimated, a financial transaction (or journal) is required. For
example, the issuances of a purchase order (if a committed or encumbrance system is in place),
the payment of an invoice, or the filling out of a bank deposit slip are all original financial
transactions. In almost every case, some sort of document or other source of information is
produced which serves as a source for an accounting entry.
The accounting cycle is a sequence of accounting procedures consisting of six steps, each of
which will be discussed in turn. The actual practice in individual municipalities may vary
somewhat as a result of personal preferences and the sophistication of the technology and
19
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software available to the users.
i)

Journalizing of transactions

ii) Posting journal entries to the general ledger and subsidiary ledgers
iii) Preparing trial balance
iv) Preparing adjusting entries and posting to the general ledger
v) Preparing the financial statements
vi) Journalizing and posting closing entries

1.

Journalizing of Transactions

The first real step in the accounting process is to record these transactions in a journal. A
journal is a book of “original entry” in which transactions and events are recorded in
chronological sequence. The transactions are recorded in the journal with either a debit or credit
entry. A debit increases the assets or decreases the liabilities of an organization. A debit also
increases expenditure accounts or decreases revenue accounts. A credit, on the other hand,
decreases the assets or increases the liabilities of an organization. In addition, a credit
increases revenue accounts or decreases expenditure accounts. In all accounts, the left hand
column is the debit side and the right hand column is the credit side. Every transaction must be
analyzed to determine which account it affects, by how much, and in what way.
It should be noted that financial systems do many of the journals in the background based upon
the initial set up of the system. For example, in accounts payable, a municipality would likely
set up its accounts payable liability account as a default for specific types of transactions or
vendors. Similarly, taxes that are paid (such has Harmonized Sales Taxes HST) are separated
out in its own account. The reason for this is that municipalities, as a public sector body, are
able to claim a rebate of its HST.20 Therefore, it needs to be able to separate the portion of the
invoice that attracts the rebated. Most financial systems allow for this segregation and creates a
journal entry for the rebate for a later claim.

2.

Posting to the Ledgers

The general ledger is the main account register that contains all the accounts of the
organization. “Posting” is the action of transferring the transaction recorded in the journals, in a
summarized form, to the general ledger. A ledger is a collection of individual accounts in which
all transactions affecting those accounts are summarized in one place. The accounts are called
ledger accounts and provide the basis for preparing reports, trial balances and annual financial
statements. Total debits should equal total credits if the accounts have been properly
maintained.

20
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By computing trial balances often, it is much easier to locate any mistakes because one does
not have to go back over a large number of entries. This posting and balancing should be done
immediately and reconciliations of balance sheet accounts should be done monthly at minimum.
Most computerized systems create automatic journal entries and “batches” may be used to
group transactions together. Batching is most useful to accommodate approvals and
segregation of duties which improve internal controls. However, they can also hinder the
degree of efficiency when batches are produced overnight and the systems cannot
accommodate immediate batching.
The posting of transactions, in financial systems, automatically update the balances in the
ledger accounts. If journals are done manually, this is difficult as one has to undertake the
double entries and update the balances in the balance sheet ledgers.
Subsidiary ledgers contain separate ledger pages for each customer or vendor (for example)
with transactions posted on a regular basis to ensure current information is available. The
subsidiary ledgers provided the detail of account balances of certain accounts in the general
ledger. Examples of subsidiary ledgers would include:
a) Taxes Receivable Ledger, which contains an account for each property and provides an
ongoing record of all taxes, penalties and interest, payments and amounts still
outstanding for each property.
b) Tax Arrears Ledgers, which list arrears of taxes by year and property; separate ledgers
may be used for each year for which tax arrears exist.
c) Accounts Payable Ledger, which contains individual accounts owed by the municipality
to individual suppliers.
d) Accounts Receivable Ledger, with accounts owed to the municipality by individual
debtors.
e) Fixed Asset Ledger with accounts for each asset and accounts that summarized the
asset values, depreciation and accumulated depreciation as well as gains and losses on
disposal.
To illustrate the linkage between the books of original entry and the ledgers, consider the
following very simple example involving the payment of taxes. Specific practices will vary among
municipalities, but in a computerized environment, the process would be as follows:
1. Taxes are billed and mailed out 21 days prior to the due date.
To record the tax billing:
DR
CR
CR
CR
CR
CR

Taxes Receivable
Lower Tier Levy
Upper Tier Levy
School Board Levy
BIA Levy
Local Improvement Levy
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The Subsidiary Ledger is updated immediately with the taxes owing on the approximate
due date(s).
The taxes receivable account(s) may be separated by arrears or combined depending
upon the ease of reporting in the financial system. The accounts may be broken down
by tax class and consist of current, arrears, and penalty/interest. In a computerized
environment, the details for current and arrears are available and broken down,
2. Payments are received.
To record payment of taxes:
DR
CR

Bank
Taxes Receivable

As specified by section 347(1) of the Municipal Act 2001, payment is first applied against
all late payment charges (penalty and interest). Any sums remaining are then applied to
outstanding taxes, beginning with the oldest first.
3. Penalty/Interest applied for late or non-payment at the end of each month.
To record penalty for the month of
DR
CR

:

Taxes receivable
Revenue – Interest/Penalty on Taxes

The numbers on the flow chart below indicate the following transactions:
1. Tax payments are received on a daily basis in the mail or drop box, over the counter,
through web based banking, etc., and are recorded in the Tax Receipts Journal.
2. At the end of the day, cash receipts are balanced and a daily bank deposit is prepared.
3. All individual payments are posted to the Taxes Receivable Subsidiary Ledger.
4. Cash receipts are posted daily to the appropriate General Ledger accounts.
5. At the end of the day, the total of individual tax accounts in the Taxes Receivable
Subsidiary Ledger should agree with the balance of the Taxes Receivable in the General
Ledger.
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General Ledger Accounts

Debit bank account
Credit taxes
receivable

1

Tax receipts
journal
3

3.

Individual tax accounts/
Taxes receivable
Subsidiary ledger

5

Trial Balance

The third step in the accounting cycle is a listing of all of the account balances in the general
ledger which is prepared regularly, after all postings have been made. The sum of all of the
debit balances must equal the sum of all of the credit balances in the general ledger. The trial
balance is the basis of the financial statements.

4.

Adjusting Entries

These entries are journalized and posted to the general ledger to record expenses and revenue
in the appropriate period, as in the examples that follow. This is often required at month end or
year end.
Sample Adjusting Entries
Debit
$10,000

Utilities Expense
Accrued Liabilities
(To record hydro expense to December 31)
Salary Expense
Accrued Payroll Liabilities
(To record payroll expenses to December 31)

5.

Credit
$10,000

$12,500
$12,500

Internal Financial Statements

Financial statements used for internal purposes are prepared from the trial balance, as adjusted
where necessary for balance sheet accounts. Such statements can be prepared to show the
financial position and the results of operations of the municipality. These statements should be
run regularly and balance sheet accounts reconciled monthly.

6.

Closing Entries

Closing entries, also called closing journal entries, are entries made at the end of an accounting
period to zero out all temporary accounts and transfer their balances to permanent accounts. In
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other words, the temporary accounts are closed or reset at the end of the year. This is
commonly referred to as closing the books.
Temporary accounts are income statement accounts that are used to track accounting activity
during an accounting period. For example, the revenues account records the amount of
revenues earned during an accounting period—not during the life of the municipality. The idea is
that the financial statements reflect the revenues and expenses for the year and not the
previous year or the following year.
Permanent accounts are balance sheet accounts that track the activities that last longer than an
accounting period. For example, accounts payable represents what is owed by the municipality
for trade payables at any given time. It is considered a permanent account because the amount
owed does not disappear simply because the year has changed. It is a liability that must be
paid in the future.
At the end of the year, all the temporary accounts must be closed or reset, so the beginning of
the following year will have a zero balance to start with. In other words, revenue and expenses
always have a zero balance at the start of the year because they are always closed at the end
of the previous year.
This is closed by reversing all the transactions in total. Revenues are debited and Expenses
are credited resulting in net income (surplus or deficit). Net income is then closed to retained
earnings (or accumulated surplus/deficit) which are balance sheet “equity” accounts.
This concept is consistent with the matching principle.

Concluding Comments
We have noted that the accounting records maintained by the municipality are very much
influenced by the need to generate annually the specific classifications of information required
by the FIR and, increasingly, by other provincially mandated reporting obligations as well. In
turn, of course, the format and classification of the accounting records influence the type of
budget document and resultant reports and analyses generated by the municipality. The link
between these activities is depicted in the chart below that serves as a lead-in to the discussion
of budgeting in the next lesson.
BUDGETING

ACCOUNTING

Planning, priority
setting and authorizing
expenditures and
revenues.

Gathering, recording
and summarizing
information on the
progress of the
budget plan.

REPORTING
Interpreting, analyzing
and communicating
the outcome of the
budget plan.

We have emphasized that municipalities must ensure that the financial information that they
generate is used, first and foremost, as a basis for effective local decision making and local
accountability. There is no better, or more important, example of local decision making than the
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Lesson Highlights and Points To Remember
►

Objectives of Accounting in the Public Sector
There are two primary objectives of public accounting:
1. The provision of information used for managerial control.
2. The provision of information to ensure accountability. There are four aspects to
accountability, not always easily reconciled. They are:


accountability for financial resources



accountability for faithful compliance



accountability for efficiency and economy in operations



accountability for the results of government programs (effectiveness)

Central to both accountability and management control is the concept of the accounting
entity, which defines the responsibility centre and the boundaries for collecting
information. The four types of entity in the public sector are:

►



a government



an organizational unit within a government



a program



a fund (which has been especially important in the municipal sector)

Key Terms and Concepts
Fund Versus Funds
The term fund, as in fund accounting, refers to the result of accounting procedures in
which a self-balancing group of accounts is provided for each accounting entity
established. Each of these separate sets of accounts is referred to as a fund, as in the
Revenue Fund or the Trust Fund. The term, funds, on the other hand, means either
cash, or receivables and securities that can be converted to cash.
Revenue Versus Receipt
A receipt occurs when revenues are actually collected. While receipts and revenues are
identical with the cash basis of accounting, with the accrual basis the recognition of the
revenue is required in the accounts at the moment it is earned or a valid claim for it
comes into existence.
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Expenses Versus Disbursement
Disbursements represent the actual payment of cash for government expenses and they
are identical to expenditures on a cash basis of accounting. With the accrual basis of
accounting, expenses are recorded when the liability for them is initially incurred.
►

Legislative Framework for Municipal Accounting
Ministry of Municipal Affairs has the power to prescribe and regulate the system of
estimates, bookkeeping, and accounting to be adopted by municipalities. Two annual
reports (financial statements and financial information return) are required by the
Ministry and strongly influence how municipalities keep their books.
The province has recently introduced several measures ostensibly designed to enhance
municipal accountability. These include:

►



A performance measurement system under which municipalities must report
efficiency and effectiveness measures in new schedules in the financial information
return (FIR);



New provisions in the Municipal Act requiring municipal actions with respect to hiring,
procurement, tax bills, user charges, capital leases, and investment goals;



New accounting and reporting requirements in the Safe Drinking Water Act¸with
respect to the cost and financing of water and sewage facilities.



Municipalities must follow PSAB standards in the preparation of the financial
statements. PS3150, Tangible Capital Assets required in 2009 lead to many
significant changes in the financial statement presentation and heightened the need
to improve asset management planning in Ontario.

Classification of Revenues and Expenses
Municipal revenues are classified for reporting purposes under the three headings of: (1)
taxation and user charges, (2) contributions from other governments, and
(3) other revenue.
Municipal expenses are classified by (1) function, (2) organization or sub- function, and
(3) object.

►

Nature of Municipal Accounting
Municipal accounting has changed. While funds are required in some cases, they are
disclosed only in the notes to the financial statements. They are used by municipalities
to segregate funding and statutory requirements that monies raised or supplied for a
particular purpose are only used for that purpose. The main funds that continue to be
used in municipal accounting are reserve funds and trust funds. Development charges
and infrastructure funds are required in many cases.
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To carry out the recommended classification system and to segregate revenues and
expenses in a manner that is useful for internal and external reporting, it is necessary to
have a chart of accounts that allow for ease of reporting and analysis.
Municipal financial transactions are recorded in books of account that include books of
original entry (journals) and ledgers.
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and the financial information return are found at the Ministry of Municipal Affairs web site at
www.mah.gov.on.ca.
For further information on Tangible Capital Assets and other PSAB changes for accounting and
reporting changes, you can refer to the following websites:
www.amcto.com
www.mfoa.on.ca
www.ombi.ca
www.psab-ccsp.ca
www.watson-econ.ca – go to publications

Unit 1
Municipal Accounting and Finance Program

Page 60

Review Questions
1. Describe the two main objectives of public accounting and the two broad categories of
accounting that parallel these objectives.
2. Describe and illustrate the four dimensions to the concept of accountability.
3. What is a reporting entity and what is its significance for accounting purposes?
4. Changes in the legislative framework for municipal accounting emphasize increased
accountability. Discuss this statement, using examples to illustrate these changes.
5. What is a fund and what are the main funds found at the municipal level?
6. How has PSAB 3150 changed the accounting and financial management for tangible
capital assets?
7. Describe the purpose and use of each of the financial statements required by PSAB.
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Learning Objectives and Outcomes:
By the end of this lesson, students should be able to:
1. Distinguish between capital and current budgets and explain the links between them.
2. Explain the legal requirements governing the preparation of the current budget.
3. Analyze the steps typically followed in the annual current budget process.
4. Explain the purposes of the current budget and the constraints which make it difficult to
fulfill them.
5. Describe changes to the budgeting processes including multi-year budgets, long term
financial plans and new requirements for asset management plans.
6. Demonstrate knowledge of the requirement for accrual based budgets in PSAB.

Introduction
This lesson examines municipal budgeting with a particular focus on capital and current
expenditures, capital and current budgets, and limitations on the budget process. The lesson
also addresses alternative budgeting systems and formats such as performance features,
program features, planning features, and zero based features.
Until recently, annual budgets have been the focus of municipalities. However, this approach
has led to short term decision making by Councils and does not look at long term impacts on
financial sustainability. While many municipalities have made strides towards multi-year
budgeting, it has been a struggle to get Councils to approve multi-year budgets without some
review on an annual basis. This is in part due to legislative provisions but more due to changing
priorities. Some municipalities still struggle with passing budgets before the beginning of the
year and often pass budgets late into the year. This has been partly due to the planning
process and reluctance to pass budgets without approved grants from other levels of
government.
There is now widespread realization that the budget process incorporates planning,
coordination, and control features throughout the year that make it arguably the single most
important document and decision-making exercise undertaken by the municipality. Before we
can examine this process, however, it is important to distinguish between the two types of
expenses that municipalities make and for which they budget – that is, current and capital
expenses (Dachis and Robson 2014).
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Capital and Current Expenses
A current expense is one incurred for services in the performance of an ongoing program, or for
goods that are consumable or that have a short life, or for expenses on projects of a constantly
recurring nature, which have no lasting value. In contrast, a capital expenditure is one that
results in the acquisition of an asset of a fixed or permanent nature or that improves an existing
asset or extends the useful life of such an asset.
Example of Capital and Current Expense
For example, in the acquisition and use of road
equipment by a municipality, the original purchase
represents a capital expenditure but the driver’s wages
and the gas, oil, maintenance and related costs are
current expense.

While normal repairs to a vehicle would also be current expenses, different considerations might
apply to a major overhaul. If the work carried out were extensive and costly and considerably
lengthened the useful life of the vehicle, the overhaul would probably be treated as a betterment
to a fixed asset and would be capitalized and amortized over the useful life. The determination
of the fixed asset versus current expense is materiality. For some municipalities, a small
replacement of a part such as a transmission, would be considered to be a capital expenditure;
others would not. Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) 3150 accounting princples effective
January 1st, 2009, has had an impact on how municipalities view capital and their capital
budget.
It should be clear from the foregoing discussion that it is the nature of the expenditure that
distinguishes a current expense from a capital expenditure. Granted, all current expenses must
be paid for out of current revenues and many capital expenditures are paid for, at least in part,
out of long term borrowing or reserves. Nevertheless, municipalities can pay all or a portion of
capital expenditures from current revenues – and some are very committed to this “pay-as-yougo” approach.
It is useful in practice to fix a minimum value and a minimum life below which an item will not be
considered a capital expenditure. PSAB 3150 for tangible capital assets requires a more defined
approach around both threshold values and expected life of assets. This approach provides
consistency for reporting purposes. For example, a municipal policy for the classification of
capital expenditures might state that “capital acquisitions, including mobile equipment, buildings
and engineering structures, must have a useful life of three (3) years or more and the value of a
single item must be $10,000 or more.”
Distinguishing between capital and current expenses requires careful consideration as
municipalities. Many expenses now in the “capital” budget do not meet the definition of tangible
capital assets but remain in the capital budget due to the materiality of the expense. An
example would be consultant fees for an organizational review. In some cases, studies would
be attributed to a tangible capital asset, however, such as an environmental assessment for a
road project.
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A key issue, however, is establishing the minimum dollar value that a municipality will use for
determining which expenditures will be capitalized as assets and depreciated or treated as
current year expenses. If the threshold or cut-off point is set at too high a dollar value, a
municipality is likely to face significant fluctuations from year to year, as major expenditures
(that would otherwise have been classified as capital) are reflected in current expenses.
However, it is desirable to move to capital budgets that are actually capital in nature.
Complicating the considerations is the fact that views of an appropriate cut-off point are likely to
vary among different municipal service areas. The value of furniture and equipment may be
important to administrators of long-term care facilities but of less interest to managers of water
and wastewater systems. In addition, very large municipalities will probably establish a higher
cut-off point than small ones. But different dollar values for distinguishing current and capital
expenditures have always made comparisons between municipalities problematic. Clearly,
Ontario municipalities had many policy decisions in implementing the accounting and reporting
requirements of PSAB 3150.21

Capital Budgets
All municipalities are required to prepare annual current budgets, as will be detailed below, but
there isn’t any comparable requirement for annual capital budgets. Indeed, the PSAB Handbook
contemplates capital budgets because of its provisions (Sections 1100.63, .64, 65. and .66)
calling for financial statements that compare actual expenses and planned financial results of its
management of its resources, obligations and financial affairs in the period. As well, accrual
based budgets are required by PSAB.
A number of developments in recent years have increased the importance of capital budgets.
Specifically:


Municipalities now face the need to provide new and expanded services in such areas
as transportation, sewage handling and treatment, social housing, health services, and
recreation services. Responding to these needs effectively requires the systematic long
term planning and priority setting that is inherent in a municipal capital budgeting
process.
The requirement to implement an asset management plan makes it clear that it is no
longer acceptable to manage in a reactive, short term manner. Indeed, quite specific
municipal reporting requirements and potential provincial interventions are very much in
evidence in the Safe Drinking Water Act, discussed in Lesson 1.
This legislation requires bodies (including municipalities) that provide water services or
waste water services to the public to report to the Minister of Environment about the
infrastructure needed to provide the services, the full cost of providing the services and
the revenue obtained to provide them, and such other matters as may be specified by
regulation. Cost recovery plans must also be submitted describing how the full cost of
providing the services will be paid. Broader full cost recovery plans prepared by
counties, regions, or clusters of municipalities in Northern Ontario are called for by the

21 For further information on capital asset accounting issues, visit the PSAB/Asset Management component of the
MFOA website at www.mfoa.on.ca
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July 2005 Report of the Water Strategy Expert Panel.


Financial planning and providing for infrastructure replacement continues to be a focus
of all levels of government and will become an even more important activity,



There is more pressure on municipalities to have infrastructure projects available for
consideration under the latest versions of federal and provincial grants programs. These
government infrastructure programs have an application process with short turnaround
times and the jobs must be “shovel ready”.



On May 1, 2016, the province proclaimed the Infrastructure for Jobs and Prosperity Act,
2015 (the Act), which includes an authority to regulate asset management planning of
identified public bodies. This authority was included in the Act with the intention of
providing a more structured framework for what asset management plans need to
include, and strengthening the work already being undertaken. Highlights from an
update in January 2017 by the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing are included
below:

The purpose of the regulation was to imbed the idea that asset management planning is integral
for creating long term sustainability of important services, saving money/maximizing benefits,
and avoiding surprises.
To help advance the development of the regulation, the province created an initial regulatory
proposal for consultation with municipalities to:






Update the existing provincial framework for municipal asset management planning, and
help translate plans into action
Establish strategic asset management policy to support organizational commitment
Develop common language to define and explain service levels
Strengthen lifecycle management analysis
Ensure annual updates are provided to council on implementation.

Following the consultation, many updates were recommended and are being considered. The

Unit 1
Municipal Accounting and Finance Program

Page 69

next steps have been identified as follows:

While the regulation does not specifically contemplate this, best practice states that asset
management and capital planning in the public sector need to be planned thoroughly and that
there must be meticulous coordination across departmental lines to avoid potential chaos.
Obviously, roads should not be built before the installation of sewers, water, and gas lines.
Watermains should not be installed in an area where sewers have not yet been provided or
where sewage facilities are inadequate. The future of capital budgets will be a financial strategy,
over several years and the annual capital budget will be prepared within the framework and
perspective provided by a long-term asset management plan. Links to the asset management
plan will be required and must guide the decision making.
It is strongly recommended that municipalities prepare an annual capital budget and that this
exercise be completed before – or at least in conjunction with – the adoption of the current
budget because of the desirable link between the two.22 The most direct link, of course, occurs
through the financing of capital expenditures. A “pay-as-you-go” policy will mean a direct charge
on that year’s current budget. If the capital expenditures are financed by debenture instead, the
result will be annual debt interest charges that must be covered in subsequent current budgets
throughout the period of the debt. A good asset management plan would also include some
provision for long term infrastructure planning in terms of reserves.
Life cycle costing should be incorporated into the budgets as well. In particular, what are the
operating costs that arise because of the acquisition of a capital asset. Additional salaries,
supplies, and other overhead costs may result, and these will be reflected in subsequent current
budgets. It is obviously important, therefore, that the capital budget indicate precisely how the
various capital expenditures are to be financed and that, before its adoption, the impact on the
municipality’s current budget and future operating budgets is anticipated. Utilizing present value
of operating costs and upgrades over the life of the asset should be part of the decision making
22

Actually they should have a capital plan for a minimum of 10 years and from that the effect on the annual budget
can be determined.
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process and the implications on the tax rates over time. Decisions should not be based simply
on the cost in the current year. The chart below attempts to depict some of the main links that
typically arise between current and capital expenditures.

Links Between Capital and Current Expenditures
Payment of
debt interest
charges of
past
borrowings
Payment of
operating cost
of capital item

Annual Current
Budget often
includes
these types of
expenditures

Payment of
capital item in
current
budget

Transfers to
reserves for
future capital
expenditure

All long-term expenditures, regardless of how they are financed, and all the money that a
municipality obtains through long term financing, is reported in its capital fund. Depending on
the size of the municipality, its accounting system and its resources, there are a number of
different methods used to record capital transactions. Some examples of these varied capital
fund entries will be found in Unit Two of this program, along with further discussion of capital
budgeting and related matters. The remainder of this lesson will concentrate on the annual
current budget.

Current Budgets
The annual current budget (also known as the operating budget) is central to municipal financial
operations – indeed, to municipal operations generally. In the words of one noted British analyst
(Marshall 1974: 73) of municipal finance:
Local government would be unworkable without the annual budget, the
centrepiece of the financial year. All departments and most officers participate in
its making; all must abide by its contents. It is the most pervasive financial
activity….Legally, its purpose is to fix the rate; managerially, it is both a decisionmaking and a control document. The budget and the preparation of it serve as
the handmaid of policy making, both short- term and long-term, as well as the
means by which longer-term aims are implemented. It brings the various
activities of the authority into focus, and helps the council to take a forward look
and to keep policy under review.

Legal Requirements
While the benefits of the current budget justify its adoption on its own merits, there is a legal
requirement that municipalities adopt such a budget. Sections 289 and 290 of the Municipal Act
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2001 require an upper tier municipality and a local municipality (which means lower tier and
single tier), respectively, to adopt a budget including estimates of all sums required during the
year for the purpose of the municipality including:


amounts sufficient to pay off all debts of the municipality falling due during the year;



amounts required to be raised for sinking funds or retirement funds;



amounts required for any local boards, commissions, or other bodies; and (in the case of
upper tier municipalities)



amounts in respect of debenture debt of lower tier municipalities for the payment of
which the upper tier municipality is liable.

In addition, the legislation provides that the budget shall be in such detail and form as the
Minister may require, shall set out the estimated revenues (including the amount to be raised
from taxes), and shall provide that the estimated revenues are equal to the estimated
expenditures. In preparing the budget, the legislation also provides that the upper or lower tier
municipality:


shall treat any operating surplus of any previous year as revenue that will be available
during the year;



shall provide for any operating deficit of any previous year;



shall provide for taxes and other revenues that in the opinion of the treasurer are
uncollectible and for which provision has not previously been made;



may provide for taxes and other revenues that it is estimated will not be collected during
the year; and



may provide for such reserves as the municipality considers necessary.

A provincial government regulation was adopted in 2009 that does impact municipal budgets. It
is Regulation 284/09 and starting in 2010, municipalities are required to decide whether or not to
budget for all or part of:


amortization expense of tangible capital assets



post-employment benefits



landfill closure/post-closure expenses

If not budgeted for, a report must be adopted by Council each year that explains the impact of
not budgeting for these expenses. Specifically, Section 3 of the regulation states:23

23

The Municipal Act, Regulation 284/09
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A report under section 2 shall contain at least the following:
1. An estimate of the change in the accumulated surplus of the municipality or
local board to the end of the year resulting from the exclusion of any of the
expenses listed in section 1.
2. An analysis of the estimated impact of the exclusion of any of the expenses
listed in section 1 on the future tangible capital asset funding requirements of
the municipality or local board. O. Reg. 284/09, s. 3.

Form of the Current Budget
While authorized to do so, the Minister of Municipal Affairs has not prescribed a specific form for
the annual current budget. As noted in the preceding lesson, however, the province has
specified the way in which revenues and expenditures are to be classified in the annual financial
statement and financial information return that must be prepared for each municipality and the
accounting system and budgeting format used by municipalities is heavily influenced by these
requirements.
In addition, now that municipalities are governed by the provisions of the Public Sector
Accounting Board of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants, they are required to
include budget comparison information in their financial reporting. To comply, councils have to
publish not simply totals but actual expenditure and revenue compared to actual budgeted
amounts (capital as well as current) for the purpose of providing information “useful in
evaluating the financial results of the government’s management of its resources, obligations
and financial affairs in the accounting period” and “useful in assessing whether resources were
administered by the government in accordance with the limits established by the appropriate
legislative authorities.”24
Quite apart from the new reporting requirements, the provision of this information is going to
generate questions about the effectiveness of council’s performance, about how well the
finances of the municipality were managed.
Misdirected Focus
Invoice scrutiny throughout the
year is no substitute for
comprehensive budget exercise to
set priorities

24

At one time, especially in small municipalities, it
was customary for council to approve every
invoice (presumably before paying for it). But any
suggestion that this practice made it less
necessary to have as detailed a current budget
overlooks several key points.



First, one may well ask whether or not the limited time available for most councillors is
being wisely spent in perusing individual invoices.



Second, experience indicates that such a practice may encourage councillors to become
overly preoccupied with detail to the neglect of the broader policy issues that should be
their primary concern. Having councillors question the purchase of a stepladder or a can
of paint, for example, is no substitute for having in place an established purchasing

Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants, Public Sector Accounting Handbook, section 1100.61
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policy and guidelines for staff. In fact, a policy with respect to the procurement of goods
and services had to be adopted before January 1, 2005 under provisions in the
Municipal Act 2001, section 270.


Third, and most fundamental, exercising expenditure control on an invoice-by- invoice
basis represent an incremental approach that does not allow for adequate consideration
of overall spending priorities. No matter how thoroughly councillors scrutinize individual
invoices, they are judging each of these expenditure items “in a vacuum.” As the totals
involved accumulate, the amount of money left in the approved budget shrinks
accordingly. As a result, council may find itself faced with a significant expenditure item
in the latter part of the year, for which there are not sufficient funds remaining. This item
may well be a high priority for most councillors, and may be considered more important
than many of the items to which they had given their approval earlier in the year.
However, in the absence of a comprehensive budget process, councillors never had an
opportunity to consider all of the potential expenditure demands that they would be
facing, and to determine those of highest priority.

For these reasons, it is recommended that even very small municipalities should conduct a
sufficiently thorough and specific budget exercise so that conflicting claims on limited financial
resources can be considered and resolved with the adoption of the budget, rather than on an ad
hoc basis as specific expenditure demands surface throughout the year.

Purposes of the Current Budget
The adoption of the current budget identifies the amount of money to be raised from taxation
and/or user fees in the year, and serves as the basis for the calculation of the tax rates needed
to generate these revenues. By their nature, these taxation decisions generate all of the
attention and appear to be the primary purpose of budgeting. But the current budget serves at
least two other major purposes that are of greater significance.
First, the adoption of the current budget should be the culmination of a process that considers
and selects the priorities to be adopted by the municipality. Long term planning and the
delineation of specific goals and objectives should provide the foundation for the decisions
reflected in the current budget.
Second, the adoption of the budget is the beginning of a process of financial management and
control through which the expenditure and revenue choices reflected in the budget are
monitored and assessed. The adoption of the budget is but one aspect of a continuous financial
process that is an integral part of the overall management and decision making of the
municipality. In reality, “every day is a budget day.” In practice, however, a number of factors
conspire to limit the potential of the budget process and to keep the budget from fulfilling its
purposes effectively. Both the potential and limitations of the current budget will be evident as
we trace the budget process in the next section.

Preparing the Current Budget
Just as there is no standard form for the current budget, neither is there one standard series of
steps or procedures to be followed in its adoption. Even so, it is helpful to provide an indication
of the procedures that are typically followed in most municipalities. The sophistication of the
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financial information and analysis involved will obviously vary with the size of the municipality.
The number of separate review stages will also vary in relation to the specific municipal
structure involved and whether, for example, it includes such elements as standing committees,
a finance or executive committee, and a chief administrative officer.
A fundamental characteristic of the budget operation is that it must be on a responsibility basis.
That is, each operating area must be organized to be a responsibility center that has
responsibility for, and control over, its expenditures and revenues. This arrangement will
rationalize budget preparation and subsequent control reports, in that each responsibility center
will be held accountable for the budget that it prepared and for the level of expenditure and
services that it provides. As noted in the discussion of the entity concept in Lesson 1,
information must be collected and reported in accordance with responsibility patterns if
accountability and control are to be achieved.
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A Budget Timetable
An effective budget process requires a schedule relating to the
timing of the preparation, adoption, implementation, and review
of the budget. The actual time of the year when budgets are
commenced and finalized varies greatly. At one extreme used to
be those municipalities, usually quite small ones, that didn’t start
preparing their current budgets until the actual figures from the
previous year were known – that is, not until March or April of
the current year.
Increasingly, however, municipalities are starting their budget
processes earlier and earlier, in some instances in the
spring/summer of the previous year. While the budget timetable
adopted has to be realistic and workable for the particular
municipal organization and its resources, the trend towards earlier start dates is certainly
desirable and highly recommended.
There is no one correct budget timetable. The important thing is to have a timetable, so that all
parties concerned know what has to be done, by when, by whom. (See Appendix A for an
example of a very expeditious budget process, one that has the budget approved by council in
December – prior to the start of the budget year.)
The sample timetable on the next page does not depict any specific municipality but is a
composite of common schedules. It is followed by an examination of what takes place (and what
should take place) at the various key stages of the current budget process.
Sample Budget Timetable
June
August
August
September
September
October
October
November
December
December
January
January

Initiate budget call/Initial public input
Preliminary budget report to council
Recommendations for guidelines for preparation of the 2012 budget
Direction to all departments to proceed with budgetary preparations within the
parameters set by council and any assumptions
Deadline for submission of all budgets to Finance
Finance submits total budget to CAO for review
CAO and Treasurer carry out general review of departmental budgets
Budget distributed to council and the public
Committee review of departmental budgets/Further public input
Budget discussions at special council meeting
Further meeting(s), possible delegations
Final staff follow up if necessary
Adoption of the budget

Initiation and Guidelines
It is here, at the beginning of the budget process, that the die is cast in terms of the potential of
this annual exercise. The key consideration is the extent to which the budget will be developed
“from the bottom up” or “from the top down.” Much has been written about the importance of
more top-down direction from council in terms of overall priorities and more emphasis on future

Unit 1
Municipal Accounting and Finance Program

Page 76

needs rather than past spending patterns. But most current budgets are still assembled
department by department largely on the basis of the previous year’s budget.
In the budget timetable above, the budget is usually initiated through a report to council with the
proposed schedule and guidelines. Some municipalities include current year forecasts as a
starting point to build the budget. While some believe it assists in decision making, it actually
does not provide full information. The new year should contain annualized costs and revenues
based upon plans.
The council may request additional details concerning certain types of expenses, such as those
relating to:
a) salaries, including payments to temporary staff and overtime payments;
b) new equipment such as computers;
c) travel and conventions;
d) subscriptions and memberships; and
e) staff training courses.
Some of these expenditures may be quite limited for many of the departments, but they relate to
activities that can become the subject of public controversy and criticism. It is for this reason
that councils often single them out for special consideration. Since salaries and wages
constitute a major portion of the budget, they may be subject to additional requirements such as
the following instructions:25
a) State the staff complement approved for the immediately preceding year.
b) If this complement was altered during the preceding year, state the nature and estimated
added or reduced cost of the change per annum and its effective date.
c) State any changes in staff complement that have been approved for this budget year,
the nature and estimated added or reduced cost of the change per annum and its
effective date.
d) State any changes in staff complement that have not yet been approved but are now
proposed in the estimates, the nature and estimated added or reduced cost of the
change per annum, and its effective date if approved.
e) State the basis on which employee benefits have been calculated, both for full time and
part time staff. (For example, benefits might be calculated at 20 percent of wages).
Other items that might be singled out for special attention include:

25 Based on samples found in Association of Municipal Managers, Clerks and Treasurers of Ontario, How- To
Manual, Preparing a Municipal Budget and Using It As a Working Tool, 1990, pp. 36-37. (This Manual was revised in
1998).
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a) significant items of new equipment, including replacements.
b) new lease/rental arrangements respecting new acquisitions or replacements and
equipment maintenance agreements. Capital leases are doubtless the subject of
considerable scrutiny in the aftermath of the highly publicized controversies and public
inquiries concerning municipal leasing agreements with a company named MFP
Financial Services. Under PSAB, leases that meet the definition of capital leases and
must be included in the financial statements as tangible capital assets.26
c) significant changes in contributions to reserves and/or transfers of monies from one fund
to another and the basis of approval for such transfers.
d) new expenses or increased costs (such as hydro and gas) that are beyond the control of
council.

The Budget Foundation and Framework
As already indicated, the starting point for budget preparation is the budget of the previous year.
While criticized for perpetuating the status quo, this approach is not without merit – especially
when a large portion of the budget is made up of fixed and recurring costs. But there are a
number of other considerations that also provide (or should provide) the foundation and
framework for budget preparation. These include:

26



Significant changes in provincial policies and legislation. A classic example in Ontario is
the downloading of responsibilities and costs that resulted from the local service
realignment (LSR) exercise of the mid-1990s. This reallocation of responsibilities and
costs obviously had major and continuing budget implications for municipalities. Another
example is the extensive changes in municipal revenues arising from provincial reforms
relating to property taxation, licensing fees, building permit fees, and long term
borrowing and investing.



The pattern of economic growth and development. Stagnation or economic decline will
erode the revenue base of a municipality. Rapid economic growth increases the tax
base but may cause its own problems if it requires substantial investment in
infrastructure.



Shifts in population and societal demands. One risk in building budgets from those of
previous years can be a failure to recognize changing demands for programs and
services. Such changes are often dictated by the changing demographics of the
population, and especially the aging of the “baby boomers.”



Innovation and technological advances: Not all costs increase with inflation.
Technological advances have significantly reduced the cost of many items such as
computers, laptops, mobile devices, storage to name a few. Efficiencies should always
be explored when developing a budget to provide for capacity to improve services at the
same or lower cost.

CPA PSAB ‐ PSG‐2 Leased tangible capital assets
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Inflation or deflation: Costs should be analyzed and appropriate assumptions developed
to handle inflation or deflation. For example, oil prices have a tendency to fluctuate
affecting operating costs such as gas and diesel for vehicles or heating as well as
construction costs where petroleum is used (eg. Asphalt). Understanding the price
volatility risks in developing a budget are extremely important and need to be built into
the budget either through contingencies or reserves.

Factors such as these would form the basis for a pre-budget report often prepared for council by
the Director of Finance or Treasurer. This background information and options that may be set
out in the report, along with any goals and objectives (and even special projects) of councillors,
all influence the budget guidelines that may be initiated by council (as discussed later in this
lesson).
It is reasonable to expect that performance measures (measures of efficiency and
effectiveness) will play an increasingly important role in the development of budgets.
Since 2000, municipalities have had to report annually (as part of the financial information
return) on efficiency and effectiveness measures in relation to their core municipal services. The
efficiency measures are essentially unit costs arrived at by taking the total costs associated with
the provision of a particular service divided by the volume/output of that service. Examples are:


Operating costs per tonne of garbage collected or per household served.



Operating costs for collection of sewage per kilometre of sewer line.



Operating costs for paved roads per lane kilometre.

To generate the necessary measurements, municipalities are
developing cost accounting techniques long found in the private
sector. As solid data is acquired on the total and unit cost of
providing a defined level of output, municipalities can build their
budgets from this foundation. A roads budget should not be based
on last year’s budget with some fiddling at the margins to stay
within some council’s objective of a zero tax increase. Nor should
the time of councillors and staff be spent doing that fiddling.
Council’s role is to make a policy decision, in this case, as an
illustration, to commit to the construction of 20 lane kilometres of
paved road. If it costs $50,000 per lane kilometre, then $1 million
is the amount to be budgeted for this work.
Although we are getting ahead of ourselves, it should also be noted that these unit cost
measures, together with the accompanying effectiveness measures, make it possible to monitor
budget implementation with improved insight. It is no longer sufficient for a roads department to
stay within budget for the year. Holding the spending on construction of paved roads to $1
million is not a praiseworthy achievement if only 17 lane kilometres of road were built instead of
the 20 originally scheduled. Nor is constructing 20 lane kilometres within the $1 million
allocation acceptable unless quality standards (effectiveness measures) are maintained.

Budget Guidelines From Council
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As the municipal departments are preparing their portions of the current budget, it is
increasingly common for staff to provide budget guidelines to council and have the council give
directions to staff (Garcia 2014). Such guidelines can be in the form of service levels related to
previously established goals and objectives, general service levels, tax rate increase, or
expense increases. One of the most common approaches has been to have percentage
guidelines established at the beginning of the budget process. For example, departments might
be told to develop three sets of estimates based on 100% of last year’s budget, 95% of last
year’s budget, and 105% of last year’s budget. Another variation might involve asking
departments to develop two draft budgets – one that identifies the total spending requirements
based only on maintaining on a constant basis last year’s programs and one that indicates the
additional expenditures related to specified new programs or increased levels of service. There
has been a trend for councils to set a maximum tax rate change or tax levy change which
sounds good in principle but has many risks. First and foremost, this may result in a lack of
understanding of the impacts on services by the council as staff determine which projects are
the most important without a full understanding of the risks of cancelling or delaying projects.
Further, service levels may be unknown and therefore, may be cut as a result of a maximum tax
rate without council’s knowledge in order to meet these maximum tax rates. The Treasurer
needs to provide such insight during the budget process. This issue can be minimized with a
long term financial plan and asset management plan that clearly demonstrate the municipality’s
long term requirements for financial sustainability.
Consider the following examples:27


Preliminary Budget Guidelines
Salary items are to be budgeted initially at 1.0% increase



Budget full time staff benefits at 26% (of salary costs) and part time benefits at 14%



Gross expenditures are not to exceed 1.0% increase



Gross revenues/fees are to be maximized where possible



Net expenses are not to exceed 1.0% increase



Net tax rate increase is not to exceed 1.0%



Provide alternative budget proposals with 1%, 2% and 3% reductions in the net levy



Inflation assumed at 1%

Ideally, whatever guidelines are provided should be based on goals and objectives developed
by council as a result of a strategic planning or visioning exercise or some other process used to
set a long term direction for the municipality. It is through the introduction of approved budget
guidelines at this early stage of the budget process that council can provide some top-down
direction and reduce somewhat the bottom-up, incremental approach to budgeting that normally
prevails. As an example, Ottawa introduced a new budget process in 200428 that, among other
27

Ibid., p. 35.

28

Details on the budget process are at www.ottawa.ca and go to budgets.
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improvements, will feature financial documents that provide both a social and economic context
to budget information and will include linkages to the City’s Ottawa 20/20 vision and its growth
management plans. The Town of Milton has adopted a very progressive council report for
establishing council approved guidelines for both the current and capital budgets.29

Processing and Evaluating the Draft Budget
Departmental managers and staff should be very involved in the development, management
and monitoring of the budget in order to improve the outcome as well as accountability for the
budget. Once the estimates from individual departments have been prepared, along with any
supporting documentation requested, this information has to be pulled together into a
comprehensive budget for further analysis. The specific steps that follow vary considerably with
the size of the municipality, the sophistication of its budgeting system, and its internal governing
structure. Within the latter may be found:


a standing committee system, with departmental budgets examined by “their” committee
before proceeding to council for adoption;



the use of a budget committee (usually comprising councillors and staff) to coordinate
the budget process, establish guidelines, monitor responsibilities, and review the draft
budgets; and/or



a chief administrative officer system, in which the CAO takes the lead role in budget
coordination and review.

As a best practice, the budgets of all departments should be reviewed across the municipality.
Whatever the structure, it is common for the treasurer to review the various departmental
estimates with the individual department heads. This step is beneficial to both the treasurer and
the department as treasurers are in the best position to ensure that proposed programs of one
department, which may have a bearing and financial impact on another, are drawn to the
attention of the second department. They also attempt to identify duplication or omissions. They
also have information regarding certain annual expenses which may have been overlooked by
the department head or which are the responsibility of the treasurer, such as insurance and
maintenance contracts. The Treasurer is also in the best position to identify funding sources
such as the state of reserves, debt or development changes that could be used to finance
projects.
In short, the experience and breadth of financial knowledge of treasurers should help them to
determine if the estimates submitted by a department appear reasonable in the light of past
experience. Any amendments to the budget at this stage, however, must not affect the
established policies of the council. Where there is a chief administrative officer system, of
course, the CAO is also likely to have this kind of broader perspective and has a specific
mandate to bring about any necessary coordination.

29

See Report CORS-039-11, 2012 Budget Call Report, May 30, 2011 at www.milton.ca and go to Corporate Services
reports in the Council section.
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In larger municipalities, a budget team from the
finance department will often meet with the other
Draft estimates may be
departments to review their estimates and to
reviewed by Treasurer,
determine the significant changes in expenditure
CAO, or Budget Team
level and programs, and the reasons for them. For
example, it is important to distinguish those higher
expenditures caused by increased costs from
those caused by an increased level of service. These meetings are also used by the finance
department to ensure that individual departmental budgets comply with any guidelines that have
been set down by council.
Municipalities often will provide the departments with detailed reports in order to analyze the
budget submission against the council priorities. These reports may contain the following:


actual revenue and expenses by account (or account category) for current and previous
year.



Current year budget and forecast to yearend.



account description.



a column for priority changes from last year’s budget or actual expenses.



a column for dollar and percentage change.



a column for adjustments.



the final adjusted budget figure.

A budget worksheet might look something like this:
City of Somewhere, Public Works – 2017 Budget Working Papers
Account
(Category)

Description 2016
2016
Budget Forecast

2017
Budget

2017
Priorities

Percent
Change

Adjustment 2017 Final
Budget

It is important to note that there are several software options available to municipalities in order
to facilitate the development, revision and management of the budget. While many
municipalities continue to use spreadsheets, there are some challenges with this approach. In
particular, version control, impacts on final numbers can be difficult with large spreadsheets. As
well, budgets should be based upon plans for services and performance measures should be
included in any budget preparation with the impacts on services. This performance based
budget approach is beginning to be embraced in some municipalities.
Budgets should have the ability to provide comments and review by the CAO or Budget
Committee, first review by the applicable council committee, and then finally council review and
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adoption.
During the review of the budget through the various levels of the administrative and political
machinery, any adjustments made are tracked, in the second example, in the staff review or
committee review column, with a description of the level at which the adjustment was made.
Any council or committee resolution number may also be included. As a result, when the final
budget is presented, one can trace the history of a budget appropriation from the original
request through the various review levels to the finally adopted budget.
In a municipality with a standing committee system, each committee would examine the
estimates from its department(s). The committee’s main concern is the determination of whether
the estimates reflect, in financial terms, the policies approved by council. Since committee
members have been specializing in the activities of their particular department (s), and may
have been appointed to the committee because of their interest in its functional area, there is
may be a tendency for the committee to approach the budget process rather narrowly, seeking
the largest possible share of municipal revenues for the departments within their jurisdiction. It
is recommended that budgets be prepared at an enterprise (or across all departments) in order
to avoid this silo approach to budget preparation.
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Compilation of the Overall Budget Document
After all of the standing committees have completed their
review of departmental estimates, the treasurer prepares the
final budget document for the approval of council as a whole
(or for the approval initially of a finance or executive
committee of council where such exist).
The treasurer combines the estimates of all departmental
committees, adds the budgets prepared and submitted by
the local boards of the municipality, and prepares an overall
statement that includes the expected non-tax revenues and
the tax rates that will have to be levied if the estimates are
to be approved as submitted. It is best practice to provide an
understanding of the levy change impact and tax rate
change at the beginning of the budget process so the tax
rates as calculated are not a surprise to council. For
example, it is helpful for decision making to provide council with the amount of levy per 1% tax
rate increase
While councils often complain about the financial demands imposed upon them by local boards,
and the lack of adequate explanation or justification of these demands, some municipalities fail
to make use of the authority that they do have with respect to the budgets of local boards.
The Municipal Act (now sections 289 and 290) provides that the council of an upper tier or local
municipality may by by-law require that the current year’s budget of every board, commission or
other body, for which the municipality is required by law to provide money, be submitted to the
municipality on or before a date specified by the municipality each year and that the budget
shall be in such detail and form as the by-law provides.

Approval of the Budget and the Tax Levy By-laws
A great deal of discussion may still take place – within council, within the ranks of the senior
staff, and between the two groups. Most of it focuses on the actions needed to reduce the
expense/increase revenues or to otherwise limit the tax rate increase to a level deemed
acceptable by council. Here again, specific practices vary widely.
Whatever approach is used, and whatever budget review machinery is in place, one thing is
clear. Councils that established some sort of priorities at the outset (that provided some topdown direction) and are provided with the impact of their decisions are in a much better position
to face the challenge of reducing expenditures now.
Without any clear idea of what their priorities are, councils sometimes fall back on such dubious
tactics as ordering a standard percentage cut for all departments. This move provides a
semblance of equality of treatment, but it is a bad practice that takes no account of the varying
importance (and often the varying financial needs) of different programs and services.
Worse still, such an action by council rewards those department heads who had judiciously
padded their estimates against just such a possible move by council, and it penalizes those
department heads who had submitted an honest “bare- bones” budget. What kind of a signal is
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council sending out with such an action? What kind of behaviour can they expect from their
senior staff in response? Obviously, behaviour which is exactly the opposite of what councillors
(and the taxpayers) presumably desire.
Once a final decision has been reached, the Municipal Act requires that council approve the
estimates. This may be done by resolution if council uses a confirming by- law or by passing a
separate budget approval by-law. The final budget allocations need to be communicated to
departments and local boards. Depending on the budget policies and procedures of the
municipality, this will be done in a variety of formats.

Changing the Budget during the Year
The current budget is a formal, legal document, but it provides only an estimate of what
expenses (and revenues) will be. During the year, expenses for certain services may be higher
or lower than budgeted. A typical example is the road maintenance expenditure, which can be
up or down depending upon the severity of the winter and the amount of snowfall.
What does a municipality do when expenses exceed budget or there are revenue shortfalls? It
is common practice for many municipalities to provide a contingency amount in the annual
budget, or a reserve policy to deal with issues. These can be re-allocated as determined by
council and/or staff. Some municipalities have policies that allow budget changes to occur, with
a budget reallocation being approved as long as the program or activity or department as a
whole will still be within its approved budget.
Some municipalities have budgetary control policies that allow the CAO some discretion in
dealing with over-expenses within a specified range and under specified conditions. Another
possibility is that revenues will be higher than estimated, providing additional funds to offset the
higher than expected expenses. Or expenses in other areas may be lower than the budgeted
amount, freeing up funds that can be used to offset the expenditures that are over budget.
In the cases of a major budget variance and subject to budget policy for the individual
municipality, the elected and appointed personnel responsible should make a presentation to
council explaining its magnitude and cause. After exhausting all other alternatives, council can
decide to amend the original budget by-law – to approve a higher level of expenses.
Normally, surpluses are either transferred to reserves or allocated during the year to an
additional project or program. Deficits are managed by way of program cuts, or other cost
cutting measures. Councils may simply fund the deficit by transfers from reserves or deal with
them as part of the subsequent year’s budget. This is not a good practice as it often means that
the future is funding current year expenses (basically debt). In any event, deficits generate
substantial discussions on the council floor but for the wrong reasons in many instances.
Deficits are not always negative and surpluses are not always positive. It depends on what has
been achieved in terms of services.
As noted earlier in this lesson, PSAB financial reporting standards require municipalities to
present actual revenue and expense with budget comparisons. Variance analysis should be
performed on a regular basis with explanations of variances throughout the year. Variance
analysis is the process of comparing budgets versus actuals (revenues and expenses) and
undertaking an analysis of the root causes for the variations. This should include an analysis of
performance, services standards as well as financial indicators.
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Budget Implementation and Financial Control
Procedures are needed to ensure that money is being received and spent during the year in
accordance with the budget plan. Otherwise:
It is as though we visited a race track, watched the horses parade back and forth
from the stands, saw them line up in the starting gate, and then went home just
as the bell sounded. The outcome of the race does not interest us. We do not
see the budget cycle to its conclusion (Fisher 1975: 3-4).
These procedures need to be set out in writing and clearly understood by the Treasurer. A
budgetary control system should include the following:
Features of a Budgetary Control System





financial records that record revenues and expenses in accordance with the
budget plan (but not manipulated to meet budget).
regular reporting of actual expenses and revenues and regular reporting of
totals. comparison and reporting of actual to budget figures and identification
of variances. investigation of variances, allowing for seasonal factors and
special circumstances.
regular reporting to departments and council of major unforeseen expenses or revenues,
with recommendations for budget adjustments or corrective actions if necessary.

Effective monitoring requires actual and budget allocations on a monthly basis. This allows the
treasurer to identify variances earlier and to take corrective action on a timely basis.
Regular reporting is the most effective control in this regard. The degree of sophistication to
meet the monitoring needs depends on the size of the operations, the level of expertise in the
organization, and the degree to which circumstances change during a year in the organization
or community.
Good managers continuously monitor their actions to
compare their budget to their actual performance;
indeed, they have an obligation to do so. They initiate
investigations into any variances from the budget and
suggest corrective actions even before council asks for
them. They are alert to situations where an overexpenditure or under-receipt might occur. The more
such imbalances can be anticipated, the better the
municipality can stay on top of its budget management.

Limitations of the Budget Process and Format
The great potential of the annual or multi-year budgets are not fully realized in most
municipalities, largely because of limitations with the budget process and format that many
municipalities utilize. In particular, the approach of providing councils with detailed, line item
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budgets are a significant hindrance to looking at the big picture. The Treasurer must change
the conversation from details to plans. As well, a major constraint is that the budget process
tends to be viewed much too narrowly, as a once-a-year exercise for the purpose of establishing
tax rates. The lack of appreciation of the continuous, year-round nature of the budget cycle is
akin to the quotation above about leaving the track just as the horse race begins.
Instead of reflecting municipal policies and priorities, current budgets have traditionally reflected
historical spending patterns, as altered by tempting new provincial grants or increased financial
levies from outside boards that council was required to provide. Provincial conditional grants
have pretty well disappeared, probably permanently, and municipalities have gained some
controls over the operations of local boards – including the authority to require such boards to
submit their budgets on or before March 1 in a form specified by the municipality. But the
current budget will only reflect future priorities rather than past patterns if councils make the
effort to articulate their priorities and to make these the framework for the budget process.

The Line Item Budget Format
One of the main constraints on the budget is its line item format that is used in many
municipalities. There is no requirement to do this. The form of the budget is totally up to the
municipality and it is the Treasurer and CAO who set the tone of the budget process.
Line by line budget format is the oldest and least effective budgetary format and emphasizes the
input of resources for particular objects of expenses such as salaries and wages, materials and
supplies, and financial expenses (interest and debt charges). For example, the budget for the
parks and recreation department might include the following items:
Sample Line Item Format – Budget for Parks and Recreation Department
Account

Description

2010
Budget

2010
Actual

2011
Budget

2011
Priorities

Percent
Change

Adjustment 2011 Final
Budget

16-3110

Salaries

2,356,450 2,359,015 2,380,015 0

1%

0

2,380,015

16-3112

Benefits

612,680

636,934

618,800

0

0%

0

618,800

16-3141

Stationery

6,500

7,200

6,903

0

6.2%

0

6,903

16-3151

Professiona 45,000

32,000

30,000

0

-33.3%

0

30,000

16-3121

L. T. Debt

300,000

300,000

600,000

300,000

100%

0

600,000

16-3145

Materials

137,000

134,595

135,225

0

-1.3%

0

135,225

This type of line item budgeting is straightforward, fairly easy to prepare and administer, and is
easily understood by administrators, council, and the public. It normally represents a reflection
of the municipality’s accounting system, thus facilitating a close link between the two for control
purposes. It also classifies expenses (and revenues) in the categories that are required in the
year-end financial statements and financial information return mandated by the province.
This format, however, is ineffective in getting councils to focus on long term planning, asset
management and cross departmental outcomes. Typically, it causes a line-by-line review which
is not effective to get council to focus on priorities and outcomes of services. The more a
municipality can get away from this process and focus on the long term, the more effective the
decision making will become.
With the line item format, budget deliberations become preoccupied with incremental changes
to last year’s budget, rather than a consideration of what expenses will produce results
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consistent with the municipality’s objectives. Indeed, it is difficult with the line item format to
determine what is being accomplished as a result of the expenditures being incurred. What
specific parks facilities, covering how many hectares, does the municipality get for its parks
expenditures, how well utilized are these facilities, and how satisfied are those who use the
parks? Such fundamental questions are not readily answered from the information in a line item
budget. As a result, it has “no means of encouraging local officials to allocate their resources in
an efficient manner” (Kitchen 2002).

Alternative Budgeting Systems and Formats
In response to the perceived deficiencies in the traditional budget format and processes, a
number of alternative budgeting systems have been introduced (Tindal and Tindal 2004;
Kernaghan and Siegel 1999). They have contained some advantages over the line item budget,
but they have also been oversold – being introduced as a magic solution for all financial
problems.
Municipalities, and other public and private organizations for that matter, have been tempted to
search for a “perfect” budget system that meets all of their needs. This has led them to
embrace, in turn, Performance Budgeting, Program Budgeting, Planning-ProgrammingBudgeting- System (PPBS) and Zero Base Budgeting (ZBB). Each of these systems has tended
to emphasize certain features to the relative neglect of others.
The approach herein is not to advocate any one budgeting system as the answer. Indeed, there
won’t even be an attempt to describe each of these systems per se, in large part because to do
so in anything more than a very superficial way would involve separate lessons on each one.
Instead, there will be a brief description of the features that might be incorporated into any
municipality’s existing budgeting system, namely:


Performance features, that focus on the productivity of activities;



Program features, that focus on, as the name suggests, entire programs;



Planning features, that focus on analyses having a longer term impact; and



Zero base features, that focus on the priority of activities.

Performance Features
Performance budgeting expanded the budget process to include consideration of whether or not
planned expenditures fulfilled their intended purpose. Attention shifted to the relationship
between the outputs and outcomes of benefits that were received and the input of funds being
appropriated. The cost accountant became a key budget figure, because of the need to collect
and calculate information about unit costs. The major improvement with performance budgeting
was that it added a management improvement focus to the control focus of line item budgeting,
and it provided decision makers with information to consider ways of improving management
and minimizing costs. But it “did not provide any techniques for future planning; nor did it
provide enough information to make tradeoffs among programs.”
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While performance budgeting gave way to other budgeting systems in the 1960s and 1970s,
performance features are now very much back in the forefront. With the province mandating
(since 2000) municipal reporting on the basis of efficiency and effectiveness measures, we can
expect performance features to figure much more prominently in municipal budgeting, financial
analysis, and financial reporting activities.
As it happens, the parks and recreation function was added to the list of core services effective
the 2004 reporting year, with measures highlighted in the following table.
Performance Features – Parks and Recreation
Efficiency

Operating costs per park per person
Operating costs for recreational programs
per person Operating costs for recreational
facilities per person

Effectiveness

Total participant hours for recreational programs per
1,000 persons Hectares of open space
Total kilometres of trails
Square metres of recreation facility space

These features are only a glimpse into performance reporting as they focus on outputs not
outcomes. Outcomes are longer term impacts that should relate to the vision of the
municipality. For example, the
municipality may have a vision
of a healthy, safe community.
One of the ways to achieve that
is through recreation programs.
A benchmark and performance
measure is needed to start with
and programs need to be
designed to move towards that
goal. A logic model is the best
way to depict and monitor these
goals against performance.

Program Features
Program features allow councillors to shift their attention from the details of spending objects (as
found in the line item format) to the purposes of spending. A “program” in this context is a set of
activities that relate to one another and that collectively define a municipal function or purpose.
Budget documents prepared with these program features are more concerned with the
programs being provided than with the departments from which the spending originates.
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For example, a recreation program involving arenas might require that staff bring together data
which previously may have been contained in the budgets of the engineering, recreation, and
supplies and services departments.30
Staying with our focus on the parks and recreation department, the table below shows the
format of a parks budget incorporating program features. Note that, unlike the line item format,
this budget information gives councillors at least an indication of what they are getting for the
dollar spent, and what services and facilities are being provided. However, it does not relate to
the number of hours, the level of satisfaction, the number of trails maintained etc.
Department of Parks and Recreation, Sub-Function: Parks
Summary of 2011 Costs, by Program
Turf Maintenance
Horticulture Maintenance
Grounds Clean-up
Parks Structures and Services
Sports Facility Maintenance
Playground Maintenance
Special Services
Park Service Operations
Special Projects
School Grounds
Staff Overhead
Total

$115,27
48,600
44,475
61,300
52,700
8,000
31,290
73,000
3,550
47,561
44,432
$530,180

Program budgeting allowed decision makers to escape the excessive detail found in line item
and performance budgets (Dachis and Robson 2014; Kernaghan and Siegel 1999). They were
provided only with information about total levels of expenditure, not the details of the objects of
expenditure. They were encouraged to make choices among programs rather than getting
bogged down in details.
Program budgeting, however, involved much more than just the emphasis on programs
(Tassonyi 2011). It was combined with long term planning and rigorous analysis to form a
planning, programming, budgeting system known as PPBS. It very much embodied the rational
model of decision making. Objectives were established and addressed in the planning stage,
possible responses were reviewed in the programming stage – on the basis of sophisticated
analyses on a multi-year basis – and then the responses chosen/programs were reflected in the
final, budgeting stage. The rational and integrated nature of this budgeting system was both its
strength and its downfall. It proved to be too complex to implement effectively even in as
sophisticated an organization as the United States Department of Defence. It also failed to take
into account the political reality of budgeting. “The fact that government objectives and activities
are political choices that reflect trade-offs between different value judgments was not sufficiently
recognized” (Allen and Tommasi 2001: 132; Tassonyi 2002: 192).

Planning Features
30

Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing, Municipal Operating Budgets, p. 28
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While PPBS was abandoned as a budgeting system, planning features have received growing
emphasis. Since the costs and benefits of many municipal services extend beyond the current
budget period, a longer-term perspective is desirable. A major advantage of this multi-year
perspective is that “decision makers may avoid making commitments to start new programs
18
requiring minimum initial funding, but very substantial funding over the longer term.”
To continue with parks and recreation as the basis for our examples, consider the following very
simple cost-benefit analysis of three options for a new recreational facility.
Option
A
B
C

Cost
$2,000,000
$4,000,000
$5,000,000

Benefit
$ 3,500,000
$ 9,000,000
$10,500,000

A short-term perspective, focused only on costs, would lead to a decision to go with Option A,
the cheapest facility. While there are many factors to consider, even the limited information in
the preceding table gives a council some insight into its options.
Option
A
B
C

Benefit
$ 3,500,000
$ 9,000,000
$10,500,000

Cost
$2,000,000
$4,000,000
$5,000,000

Benefit Minus
Cost
$1,500,000
$5,000,000
$5,500,000

Benefit Divided
By Cost
1.75
2.25
2.10

This very basic analysis reveals that while Option A is the cheapest, it is also the least efficient,
in terms of the ratio of benefits derived in relation to costs. Option B is a little cheaper than C
and a little more efficient as well, so it may be the best bet – subject to other factors that may
have to be taken into account.
Planning features are also being added to budgeting in the form of multi-year estimates now
being introduced or contemplated by a growing number of Canadian municipalities. While
Ontario municipalities must officially adopt a current budget every year, the Municipal Act was
amended in 2006 to accommodate multi-year budgets. This provision is covered by Section 291
of the Act. This allows municipalities to look at their current expenditures/revenues over the
entire four year term of council, especially given the large proportion of those expenditures that
are fixed for all or much of this period under collective agreements, leasing arrangements, rental
payments, and other established arrangements. A four year cycle allows a council to align its
current budget with its term of office and, often, with the cycle for reviewing and renewing its
strategic plan.
Lethbridge, Alberta introduced a three year annual budget cycle for the period 2003-2005. It
included contingency allocations for the second and third year, and still enacted tax rate by-laws
each year.31 Winnipeg’s annual budget includes one additional year. Ottawa’s budgeting system
includes in each annual budget a two year forecast of the operating budget. Calgary prepares
what it calls a “shadow budget,” which projects what spending and taxation levels are likely to
31 This innovation, which earned Lethbridge a municipal excellence award from the Alberta Minister of Municipal
Affairs, is described at the Municipal Excellence Network at www.menat.ab.ca.
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be in the years ahead. Hamilton provides projected budget pressures over a 10 year period.32
London was one of the first municipalities to implement a multi-year budget that was passed by
council. Here are some highlights.

32 These examples are from Plamondon & Associates, It’s About Accountability, Report for the City of Ottawa,
September 2004.
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Zero Base Features
Zero base budgeting developed as a variation on the PPBS (Tassonyi 2002). Zero base
features require the decision-makers to assign explicit priorities to municipal programs and
activities. The first step involves the identification of decision units, which are activities or groups
of activities for which a single manager has the responsibility for successful performance. These
decision units might be a traditional cost centre such as a water treatment plant, a group of
people such as non-union staff in the fire department, or a particular service such as tax billing.
The common element is that there needs to be a measurable output resulting from the
resources committed to the decision unit in the budget year. The accounting system of the
municipality may inhibit the identification of decision units below the departmental level, at least
in the initial approaches.
For each decision unit in the organization, a number of decision packages are identified which
represent levels of service above the zero base (that is, the minimum expenditure consistent
with the continuance of the program). For each decision package, information is then provided
on the incremental costs and expected consequences of the alternative described therein. To
keep the exercise manageable, usually only three or four alternatives (decision packages) are
considered. For example, these might relate to:


maintaining the current level of service (that is, last year’s budget figure adjusted for
inflation and for changes in the population served;



providing for a reduced level of service of, perhaps, 95 percent of the current level; and



providing for an increased level of service of, perhaps, 105 percent of the current level.

Even this relatively simple approach gives decision makers a significant amount of information
to assist them in determining funding levels.”
The packages are ranked in order of priority (as indicated in the chart below) and “a
predetermined cut-off level of funding is applied either at the departmental level or to a
municipal-wide list of priorities to determine those decision packages which will, or will not,
become part of the municipality’s funded purposes.”33

33

Ministry of Municipal Affairs, Municipal Operating Budgets, p. 31.
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Example of Ranking of Decision Units

A1
A2

A-3

B1
B2
B3
B4

Decision Packages

A: Purchasing

Decision Units
B: Stores
C: Maintenance

C1
C2
C3
C4

A-1
B-1
C-1
C-2
C-3
A-2
B-2
B-3
C-4

Proposed
Funding Line

No Funding
Below This Line

A-3
B-4

The excerpt on the next page is from a budget incorporating zero base features.34 The turf
maintenance decision unit illustrated is one of 40 departmental decision units identified in the
budget. Note how this type of budget information helps decision makers to appreciate the
significance of the spending decisions that they make – in this case to cut off at decision
package #3 – and the variations in service levels that result from such decisions.
As the following table indicates, budget information incorporating zero base features identifies
for councillors the costs associated with refinements in the level of service provided. Rather
than “cutting a budget down to size,” as councillors often see their role with respect to the
traditional line item budget format, zero base features allow councillors to build a budget up to
size, by approving additional levels of service until they reach the expenditure limit on which
they have agreed.

34

Ibid., p. 67.

Unit 1
Municipal Accounting and Finance Program

Page 94

TURF MAINTENANCE
Purpose: To provide for a level of turf maintenance that will allow grass to grow in a healthy,
playable and aesthetically pleasing state. To have the necessary techniques of good
maintenance applied on a timely basis to approximately 270 acres of turf. In addition, to cut and
clear 350 acres of public land.
Decision Pkg. Gross Budget Net Budget
Cumulative
% of
Funding Level
Net Budget
Previous
(descriptions
#1
75,611
74,111
74,111
51.8
#2
46,691
46,691
121,072
86.4
#3
47,530
47,530
168,602
117.3
Cut-off
#4
17,793
17, 793
186,395
130.7

Package
#1
#2
#3

#4

Description of Decision Packages
Description
Staffing
All large, open park areas cut but no
3
trimming. Complaints about noxious
Cut and trim some of the smaller, highly visible
2
areas. Fertilize sports fields.
Mowing 270 acres of turf on a 10-11 day rotation.
3.1
Cut and clear public lands. Fertilize highly visible
areas. Aerify all areas.
Increase mowing rotation to 9-10 days.

Funding Level

Cut-off

Summary: Limits of Budgetary Reform
The preceding discussion has focused on certain budgeting features rather than particular
budgeting systems per se, because embracing any one system exclusively may result in
neglecting some important considerations in the preoccupation with others. For example, zero
base budgeting is very strong on rational priority setting to determine those items that should be
included in the budget, but gives less attention to systematic follow- through to measure the
results of the expenditures undertaken. The latter focus is found in performance budgeting,
which, conversely, may neglect the initial determination of priorities.
The most comprehensive approach is the one contemplated by PPBS. It incorporates features
from both performance and program budgets and adds a multi-year perspective (usually three
to five years) and a more sophisticated analysis of alternatives. As already noted, however, its
complexity and sophistication are also its chief drawbacks, especially given the limited analytical
capacity found in most municipalities.
Both program budgeting and performance budgeting features offer much to recommend them
for today’s municipalities.35 Their advantages include:

35



a focus on outputs as well as inputs



a focus on entire programs

C. Richard Tindal, Municipal Councillor’s Guide, Oshawa, Ontario Municipal Management Institute, 2004, p. 3-31.

Unit 1
Municipal Accounting and Finance Program

Page 95



directing attention to high priority or high cost programs



providing information that can enhance management decision making Such a budgeting
system would include the following components:



the name of the program



a description of the program



objectives of the program



cost information for delivering the program at the same level as the past year



estimates for enhancements or providing the program to an increased population



performance measures (efficiency and effectiveness)

Whatever budgeting system is used, one must not overlook the political context within which it
operates. The budget process and content will be influenced by not only the preferences of the
elected representatives, but also the pressures generated by various groups and individuals in
the community. Regardless of the advantages of a long-term perspective, political reality
dictates a short-term and constituent-oriented response.36 It is not realistic to expect that
budgeting can proceed on a completely rational basis – no matter how logical it may look on
paper. Council quite properly must operate in a very political environment – one in which
individual councillors (or department heads for that matter) may have “pet” projects which they
are promoting, and certainly one in which citizens groups are actively lobbying for their
particular concerns.
Marshall describes some of the pressures and difficulties inherent in this process:
Current (senior government) policy, the pressure of public opinion, the predilections and prior
commitments of local politicians, the natural desire to preserve power and control, all these
factors play their part in the process. It would be idle to expect a neat conclusion based on the
logical measurement of pros and cons, or to expect a budgetary procedure as ordered as the
meticulously minded officer might desire.37
External constraints may very much affect the budget deliberations. A heightened social
conscience may lead to increased demand for certain amenities such as day care centres or
improved health services, or stricter safety standards. General economic conditions may
influence the revenues available, the cost of municipal services (through inflation), and the
interest rates on borrowed money. Provincial initiatives may alter the local government
expenditure burden or its revenue potential (factors very familiar to Ontario municipalities).
However “perfect” the budget system that is designed, it must operate in a very imperfect world.
It is partly because of these realities that this lesson has cautioned against embracing any one
36

For discussion of the political base of budgeting, see J. Richard Aronson and Eli Schwartz (eds.), Management
Practices in Local Government Finance, Washington, International City Management Association, 1975, p.66.
37

Ibid., p. 74
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alternative budgeting system as “the answer.” Rather, it is recommended that each municipality
attempt to incorporate those features, which it can most effectively build into its own budget
process – with the general objective of providing more emphasis on the initial determination of
priorities and the subsequent follow through and measurement of results.
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Lesson Highlights and Points To Remember
►

Capital and Current Expenses
Capital and current expenses are distinguished on the basis of the nature of the
expenditure, not the method of financing.
While there isn’t a legal requirement to prepare a capital budget (as there is with respect
to a current budget), capital budgets have becoming increasingly important because:

►



Municipalities need to plan and prioritize systematically to deal with their growing
infrastructure expenditures.



The Ontario government is looking for more long term strategic management of
municipal capital needs, as reflected in the reporting requirements found in the Safe
Drinking Water Act, 2002.



Capital budgeting has increased in importance because of PSAB changes as well as
the need to address the infrastructure deficit and build long term asset management
plans.



There are many links between a capital and a current budget.

Legal Requirements re Current Budget
Sections 289 and 290 of the Municipal Act 2001 require the annual adoption of a current
or operating budget, one that:


Includes amounts to cover annual debt payments



Includes amounts required for sinking funds or retirement funds



Provides for any operating deficit



Provides for taxes and other revenues that are uncollectable



May provide for such reserves as are considered necessary

The Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing is authorized to prescribe a specific form
for the current budget, but has not done so. However, the budgeting format (and
accounting system) used by a municipality is heavily influenced by the form of the yearend reporting requirements in the financial information return
►

Steps in Preparation of the Budget
With variations that mainly relate to the size of the municipality and its internal governing
structure, these steps include:
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Establishing a budget timetable



Initiating the budget call and providing supporting data and guidelines



Evaluating the draft departmental estimates



Compiling and evaluating the overall budget



Approving the budget (after public notice has been given) and adopting levying bylaws



Implementing and monitoring the budget throughout the year

Budget Format and Features
1. Line item Format


Oldest and simplest format and most easily understood



Emphasizes the input of resources for particular expenses such as salaries and
wages, materials, and supplies.



No focus on objectives to be achieved as a result of spending

2. Performance Features


Directs the budget process to a consideration of whether or not planned
expenditures fulfilled their intended purpose.



Focuses on the productivity of municipal operations.

3. Program Features


Shifts attention from details of spending “inputs” to what services and facilities
are being provided for the dollar spent.

4. Planning Features


Focuses on analyses having a longer-term impact.



Considers costs and benefits associated with alternative methods of fulfilling
defined municipal purposes or objectives.

5. Zero Base Features


Require decision makers to assign specific priorities to municipal programs and
activities.



Provides budget information that indicates variations in service levels related to
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Appendix A
City of XXX Budget Timetable

July
Distribute Guidelines
approved by Council
Submissions
from all
City Departments

Submissions
from local boards

September
Initial Finance Review

October
HR Plan

September-November
CAO/Staff Reviews

November
Draft Budget
November-December
News Releases

December
Draft Review by
Executive Committee

December
Final Approval
by Council

Source: This timetable is a simplified version of one that has been followed by a municipality in
Ontario, as outlined in AMCTO’s previously cited How-To Manual on Preparing a Municipal
Budget. This municipality was able to complete its budget process in such an expeditious
fashion partly because the budget that it adopted each December dealt only with the
requirements of city departments and boards. It passed by-laws later in the new year with
respect to the funds required by its upper tier government and by the area school boards.
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Budgeting,” Fall 2005, is a useful reference that addresses a number of similar topics.
Kenneth Kernaghan and David Siegel, Public Administration in Canada, 4
ITP Nelson, 1999, Chapter 26, examines the budgetary process.

th

Edition, Toronto,

Ministry of Municipal Affairs, Municipal Operating Budgets, January 1984, provides a good
description, with examples, of various approaches to budgeting.
Almos Tassonyi, “Municipal Budgeting,” Canadian Tax Journal, Vol. 50, No. 1, (2002), pp. 181198, available on line at www.ctf.ca.
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Many municipalities now provide detailed information about their budgets and their budget
processes at their web sites, so a search of the sites of some of the larger municipalities in
Ontario will provide useful information and examples.
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Review Questions
1. Annual and multi-year capital budgets have become an increasingly important financial
tool for municipalities. Explain why this has been happening.
2. What are the various legal requirements relating to the preparation of a current or
operating budget?
3. What are the main purposes of the annual current budget and what constraints keep it
from fully realizing these purposes?
4. Whether a municipal budget is prepared from the bottom up or the top down depends in
large part on what kind of information is made available, by whom, and when the
process is first launched. Explain and discuss this statement.
5. What factors should be taken into account if a municipality faces the need to change the
budget during the year?
6. What are the strengths and shortcomings of the line item budgeting format?
7. Describe, in general terms, two alternative budgeting systems and their key features.
8. Which features would you like to see most prominently in evidence in your municipality’s
budgeting system (or in the budgeting of municipalities in general) and why?
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Learning Objectives and Outcomes
By the end of this lesson, students should be able to:
1. Demonstrate understanding of the concepts of expenditure, disbursement, and expense,
and cash versus accrual versus encumbrance accounting.
2. Explain the threefold classification of expenditures specified for all Ontario municipalities,
and explain the reasons for classifying expenditures.
3. Analyze the use of account coding and analyze the chart of accounts as an example of
such a coding system for expenditures.
4. Describe the nature and objectives of a system of internal controls over expenditures.
5. Explain requirements for the reporting of expenses in annual financial statements and in
the annual financial information return.
6. Describe the nature and variety of internal financial reports and to examine and illustrate
the varying levels of need for these reports.

Introduction
The lesson examines Municipal Expenses, elaborating on the meaning of expenditure and how
it relates to other concepts like expenses, and disbursements. It also covers the classification of
expenses, internal control over expenditures and the reporting of expenses. The lesson
concludes with discussions surrounding the use of performance measures
The main municipal funds were introduced earlier in this Unit. A more detailed examination of
specialized funds is found in Unit Two. The remainder of this Unit examines the statement of
operations, with this lesson focusing on expenses, and the final two in the Unit focusing on
revenues.
Covering expenses before revenues reflects the process followed in determining budgets. But, it
is an oversimplification to state that governments determine their expenses before they decide
on revenues. Resources are limited even for governments. Any responsible treasurer will review
budgets with the heads of departments in light of the total municipal requirements and the
estimated revenues. If the expenditures are to be approved by the Finance Committee and
Council, the impact on the tax rate must be known.

The Meaning of Expenditure
Municipal expenditures have been the subject of much discussion in recent years, especially
with respect to the cost of services downloaded to municipalities under the Local Service
Realignment (LSR) and the adequacy – or inadequacy – of financial support from the province
to cover those expenditures. As a result of the LSR, municipalities in Ontario have much heavier
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expenditures on health and social services than municipalities in the rest of Canada (ROC), as
indicated by the following table (Kitchen 2005). The appropriateness of municipal social
spending, as well as the adequacy of provincial financial support for it, is a matter on ongoing
lively debate.

Expenditures, Expenses, and Disbursements
For the purposes of this lesson, it is important to distinguish between an “expenditure,” an
“expense” and a “disbursement.” Consider the following definitions.38
Expenditure

The cost of goods and services acquired in the period, whether or not the
payment has been made or invoices received.
Includes transfer payments due where no value is received directly in
return.This is not an accrual based accounting term.

Expense

The cost of resources consumed in and identifiable with the operations of the
accounting period including non-cash items whether or not the payment has
been made.

Disbursement

A payment in cash or by cheque or electronic transfer of funds.
The outlay of consideration for goods or services.

An expenditure and an expense differ. An expense is not a disbursement for producing revenue;
it is a cost incurred in the period. Expenses are the costs of goods and services consumed in
the period, whereas expenditures are the cost of goods and services acquired in the period.
A disbursement, as defined above, may:


precede an expenditure (an advance),



coincide with an expenditure (a direct payment), or



follow an expenditure (a payment of liability).

Cash, Accrual, and Encumbrance Accounting
It follows that a disbursement is identical to an expenditure with the cash basis of accounting.
On this basis – described in Lesson 1 – expenditures are not recorded until payment is actually
made (and revenues are not recorded until they are actually received). In practice, many small
municipalities maintain their accounts during the year on a cash basis, with necessary
adjustments made at year-end to convert the accounts to an accrual basis. While the cash basis
is undoubtedly simpler, it does not follow generally accepted accounting principles as required
by PSAB and the Municipal Act. Tax arrears accounts must be kept on an accrual basis for
individual properties in the municipality as this is absolutely necessary for the effective control
and collection of tax arrears (including the calculation of monthly interest on tax arrears).
On an accrual basis, expenses are recorded when the liability for them is incurred (and
revenues are recorded in the fiscal period when earned, regardless of when collected)
38 Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada , Public Sector Accounting Handbook, Sections 1100.48 covering
the definition of expenditure only.
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(Beauchamp 2009). Notwithstanding the traditional practice in small municipalities, the Public
Sector Accounting Board requires local governments to report their expenses and revenues on
an accrual basis.
While the accrual basis of accounting obviously provides a more accurate and up- to-date
picture of expenses (and revenues) than the cash basis, for even better budget control large
municipalities often use encumbrance or commitment accounting (Dachis and Robson 2014). It
records a commitment of an unexpended budget appropriation at the earliest point that it can be
recognized. While accrual accounting recognizes an expense when purchased goods are
received, encumbrance accounting recognizes that expense when the purchase order for those
goods is issued.
The approach is not without its drawbacks, however. For example, the price or quantity of goods
ordered could change before delivery, requiring an adjustment of the accounts accordingly.
Maintaining encumbrance accounting is often seen as double the work as a whole extra set of
entries has to be made, but computerization has assisted greatly with entry and recording,
thereby making this basis of accounting less cumbersome and available even for small
municipalities with limited staff resources.
It should be noted that encumbrance accounting is essentially a management tool for controlling
expenditures, whereas accrual accounting is a financial reporting principle required under GAAP
(Generally Accepted Accounting Principles). At period end or at year-end, liabilities that meet
the definition as per PSAB, must be recognized based upon the performance of the contract
and the shipping terms. These records provide managers with up-to-date information about
account status, but it is the accrual basis of accounting that is used for reporting purposes.
To illustrate the encumbrance entry, consider the following example of the purchase of a fire
hose.
Purchase of a Fire Hose
Expenditures – Fire Department Supplies
Encumbrance outstanding
(To record order of fire hose from Ajax Hose)

Debit
500.00

Encumbrance outstanding
Vouchers Payable
(To record amount payable to Ajax Hose)

500.00

Credit
500.00

500.00

For internal budget control, the Fire Department Supplies account will show that
$500 has been expended or committed (encumbered) and that there is an account payable for
$500. If the entry reflected the proper payable, then no further considerations are necessary.
However, if the final invoice is higher or lower than the encumbered amount, then an adjusting
entry would be required to reflect the actual cost.
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Matching Revenues with Expenditures
The Municipal Act requires that a municipality budget to meet its expected expenditures and
unlike the Federal and Provincial governments, legislation prohibits municipalities from
budgeting for a surplus or deficit. Thus, municipal officials must balance revenues and
expenses. When a surplus or a deficit occurs in a year’s operation, the amount must be carried
forward when preparing the budget for the next year or dealt with as part of the year end
through reserves.
Specifically, provincial legislation requires that a municipality must treat any operating surplus of
any previous year as revenue that will be available during the year and must provide for any
operating deficit of any previous year.39
In practice, however, most municipalities anticipating a sizeable surplus will transfer it to
reserves or will budget for a special project sufficient to use the surplus. These alternatives are
used to avoid undue fluctuations in tax rates from one year to the next. Applying a sizeable
surplus to the following year’s budget would reduce the tax levy that year. But the year after
that, the municipality would have to budget without the benefit of that surplus, while also
covering increased costs arising from inflation, possible new employee contracts, and other
factors. The result would be to push the tax increase in percentage terms to a politically
unacceptable level. Experienced municipal practitioners are always on guard to avoid such
fluctuations in tax rates, and accompanying public outcry.

Classification of Expenditures40
As noted in Lesson 1, the classification of municipal expenses by (1) function, (2) organization
(or sub-function) and (3) object is considered to be the most informative for the purposes of
reporting to the public. This classification reflects the provisions in the PSAB Handbook with
respect to financial statements, and it is also set out by the Ministry of Ministry of Municipal
Affairs and Housing in the requirements for the FIR. Schedule 40 of the FIR requires the
following breakdown for the analysis of revenue fund expenditures:41
1. There are nine categories under the function classification.


general government



protection services



transportation services



environmental services

39

Section 289 of the Municipal Act sets out these requirements with respect to upper tier municipalities and section
290 contains similar provisions for local municipalities.

40

It should be noted that the 90 series of schedules for the FIR and the provincially mandated municipal performance
measurement program are no longer in existence.

41 For details, see a copy of Schedule 40 in Appendix A of this lesson. You can also examine Schedule 40 and the
rest of the FIR at web site http://csconramp.mah.gov.on.ca/fir/welcome.htm.
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health services



social and family services



social housing



recreation and cultural services



planning and development
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2. Each of these nine categories is further divided by sub-function or organization. For
example, under protection services the FIR lists:


Fire



Police



conservation authority



protective inspection and control



emergency measures



Provincial Offences Act (POA)



Other

Under transportation services are such sub-functions as:


Roadways



winter control



transit



parking



street lighting



air transportation



other

3. Finally, within each function or sub-function, there are further classifications of expenditure
by type or object. The minimum requirements for object classification are:


salaries, wages and employee benefits
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long-term debt charges (interest)



materials



contracted services



rents and financial expenses



external transfers



long-term debt charges (principal)



transfers to own funds



interfunctional transfers



allocation of program support



amounts for unfunded liabilities
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These object classifications can be broken down further. For example, the FIR 2008 instructions
at site http://oraweb.mah.gov.on.ca/fir/FIR2016.htm indicate that the category of salaries, wages
and employee benefits includes employer contributions to CPP, OMERS, Employer’s Health
Tax, Employment Insurance (EI), Workplace Safety and Insurance Board, and any other
insurance plans – such as supplementary health and dental – along with clothing, moving,
tuition, housing and other employee benefits.
The object classifications may be broken down in more detail as a matter of municipal choice.
For example, the materials category can be sub-divided into such objects as hydro services and
utilities, insurance, travel, reimbursement of mileage, and photocopying charges. The
breakdown by object maintained in the accounting records should be in accordance with the
details supplied in the budget for proper budget control.
Classifying expenditures serves a number of purposes:


To ensure that expenditures have been made for the purposes approved in the
estimates adopted by council.



To provide information for the planning of operations and the costing of service levels.



To assist in the preparation of financial statements.



To provide uniformity in financial reporting as a basis for preparing comparative financial
statistics for use by all levels of government. The use of standard classifications of
expenditure by object, in combination with the classification by function, allows for
comparisons to be made between municipalities. The combination of the objects and the
organization providing the function helps to identify the responsibility for the
expenditures incurred. For example, the salaries, wages and employee benefits in
relation to the library sub-function could be compared for two or more municipalities.
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Use of a Chart of Accounts
As described in Lesson 1, it is necessary to have a chart of accounts to carry out the
recommended classification system and segregate revenues and expenditures in a manner that
is useful for internal and external reporting. The chart of accounts provided was presented as an
example, one that still serves as the basis for most computerized systems found in Ontario
municipalities today. But because computers offer so much more flexibility, recent charts of
accounts have become very detailed and complex.
Once the Treasurer becomes familiar with the principles involved, this coding system becomes
quite straightforward and directly relates to the FIR. The expenditure in the example above
would be recorded in the FIR as a non-capital expenditure on the “Analysis of Revenue Fund
Expenditures” schedule (Schedule 40).
When general ledger accounts are structured in such a way as to mirror the FIR schedules, it is
quite easy to assign new account numbers for new expenditures or revenues. The preparation
of the summaries of expenditures for inclusion into the FIR schedules is also simplified, thereby
reducing costs for audit or financial statement preparation. Once such a system of codification is
established, managers and department heads familiar with their own accounts will learn how
their own numbers affect the broader municipal financial picture.
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Expense Coding
Given the focus of this lesson, it is the coding of expenses that is of particular interest. Each
time an expense is made, it is necessary to examine it to determine the accounts to be charged.
In other words, all expenses must be allocated (charged) to the type of service performed
(function), the cost centre (organization) within the service function, and the goods or services
purchased (object) within the organization.
There are several ways in which costs can be allocated. Costs can be readily identified with a
particular service. Salaries, for example, will be charged to the functional area in which each
employee works or where the work has been performed. If records are kept, office supplies,
etc., will be charged to the area that used them. Other items that can readily be identified would
probably include operating supplies, repair and maintenance supplies, professional services,
transportation, advertising, printing, insurance, and rentals.
Allocation of costs often based on
extent of usage – as in example
of vehicle pool.

In some cases, the number of persons employed or
the use made of the service will determine the
allocation of costs. An example would be the
apportioning of vehicle pool costs.

Initially, the costs of the vehicle pool would be charged to the account(s) designated as vehicle
pool costs. At the end of a specified period (generally monthly), these costs would be allocated,
perhaps by journal entry, to the departments using the pool. If the basis of allocation is the
number of hours that vehicles are used and the Sanitation Department used the vehicles for
25% of the total time, then that department would be charged with 25% of the vehicle pool
costs.
The vehicle account within the vehicle pool would be credited with the revenue from the user
departments, which, at the end of the year would determine whether or not the vehicle pool
made or lost money. Surplus funds would be journalized to reserve for equipment replacement,
while any deficit would either be funded from reserves or from the net results of the operations
of the total equipment pool (assuming that the pool earned more than was spent on equipment).
The information from these records can also provide the basis for decisions about the
productivity of a piece of equipment or a vehicle and about whether the hourly charge-out rates
are appropriate or too high or low.
Many municipalities also utilize job and activity costing in order to provide better and more
detailed reporting of operations. Staff code their time as well as the use of a piece of equipment
such as a backhoe, to the job and activity. The rates for utilization of the piece of equipment
should be determined annually to ensure if reflects the cost of business. This is similar to what
construction companies do in order to bid on contracts. Often, the “revenues” that are realized
by the use of the equipment is put into a reserve as a chargeback and captured in a reserve to
finance future replacement of the equipment.
Once an account has been charged with an expense, it should not be reduced by any related
revenue. Instead any such revenue should be coded to an appropriate revenue account. The
FIR instructions for the netting of revenues and expenses are found in Appendix B, and GAAP
states that as a general principle, revenues and expenses should not be netted against each
other.
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Internal Control over Expenditures
In any organization, it is important to have a good system of internal control. Internal control is
defined as “ The process designed, implemented and maintained by those charged with
governance, management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance about the
achievement of an entity's objectives with regard to reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The term
"controls" refers to any aspects of one or more of the components of internal control."42 More
specifically, internal control is a system of checks and balances operating within an
organization, and comprising such things as signing and countersigning authorities, segregation
of duties between custodians of assets and those recording them, rotation of duties, and
procedural manuals.
A system of internal control is designed to fulfill the following four objectives:
1. Prevent Fraud, Abuse, Misappropriation of Funds and Protect Assets
The term “occupational fraud” may be defined as: “The use of one’s occupation for personal
enrichment through the deliberate misuse or misapplication of the employing organization’s
resources or assets.” There are three broad types of occupational fraud: corruption, asset
misappropriation and fraudulent statements. These broad types can be broken down further as
follows:
Governments
are
not
exempted from the victim
list. Over 18% of fraud
occurs in public sector
organizations with 32% of
those cases in local
government. The median
loss of $80,000 with typical
frauds lasting over two
years before detection. A
Treasurer plays a key role in
preventing fraud through
internal
controls
and
education.
The best controls against
fraud is to have a fraud
prevention
policy,
whistleblowing protection,
codes of conduct, good
culture and ethics training.
2. Monitor the Budget and Prevent Overspending
42

CPA Handbook - Assurance
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It is the responsibility of each department head to keep expenditures within approved estimates.
However, department heads can exercise this control only if the accounting department keeps
them up to date with reports that provide them with information on the level of their expenditures
and commitments. The accounting department should have ongoing assessment of expenses if
possible, to ensure that overspending does not occur. Operating personnel should be provided
with reports on authorized expenditures, goods or services received and paid for, orders placed
but not received, and balance of estimates still available for spending.
3. Prevent Unwise Expenditures and Ensure Value for Money
The exercise of control over unwise expenditures requires good judgment and diplomacy. First,
an unwise expenditure is not illegal nor is it unauthorized; it is simply poor use of approved
estimates. For instance, 200 benches are unnecessary for a small park. Similarly, to buy a fleet
of luxury cars for the Police Department is not wise, even though the expenditure may be within
the approved budget. The review and questioning of purchase requisitions is a sensitive matter.
Where this control is exercised depends on the size of the municipality and its organization.
Sometimes it is done in the finance area. In other cases, the control may be exercised by the
department head or by a Finance Committee made up of councillors.

Ensure that Proper Policies, Procedures and Processes are in Place and Are
Followed
Internal control cannot work unless proper methods and procedures are followed. There must
documented policies and procedures as well as training on those policies as they change and
as issues are identified. Although all operating managers are responsible for ensuring that
proper procedures are followed, much of the control is exercised by the accounting area.
In addition to these four objectives, a well-developed system of internal controls provides a
structure and framework for municipal operations and can be a valuable training tool for new
employees.
Internal controls have received increased emphasis in recent years, partly because of a number
of well-publicized accounting and financial irregularities involving major corporations such as
Enron. The increased attention is welcome to the extent that many municipalities have internal
control systems that lack adequate documentation or are not applied consistently, or are not
monitored closely. However, as Lesson 1 pointed out, it is a challenge to reconcile increased
controls and increased emphasis on controls with the more free and flexible operations
appropriate for the kind of entrepreneurial activities that municipalities are now encouraged to
emulate.

The Missing Piece in the Controls Jigsaw Puzzle
In addition, it is important to recognize that control processes, no matter how well designed, will
not prevent financial abuses. Indeed, a preoccupation with controls may overlook an underlying
factor of central importance to the financial integrity of the municipality. The missing piece in the
controls jigsaw puzzle is the prevailing organizational culture, which largely determines how
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people interpret and act upon information provided through the controls process.43
When presented with information that shows underperformance, for example, how do municipal
staff respond? Are they likely to forward the information up the line immediately, wait for the
next report cycle, bury the information, or even manipulate the information slightly to make it
more palatable? To the extent that the latter forms of inappropriate behaviour are exhibited, it is
almost certainly because of the prevailing organizational culture. That culture, for example,
might include the unspoken rule that you don’t question your boss, or a “shoot the messenger”
response to the bearer of bad news, or a “hear no evil” response that ignores any bad news that
is forwarded. In any of these circumstances, it is unlikely that the information generated by the
internal control system will be used as effectively as it could be.
Have municipalities given much thought, for example, to the way their organizational culture is
being affected by the current emphasis on performance reporting? Performance targets are
central to business operations and seem quite appropriate for promoting increased productivity
that fattens the bottom line. But these targets, when coupled with performance bonuses, have in
many cases encouraged a very short term perspective and have influenced decisions that
benefit individuals now but that do not serve the best long term interests of the organization.
Municipalities are governments, not businesses, and ultimately exist to serve the public interest.
To that end, they provide a number of services that can’t and shouldn’t come close to operating
at break-even, but they do so because these services meet some defined public need. As we
increasingly identify separate business units, each charged with demonstrating its operating
efficiency, we run the risk of creating an organizational culture that is internally competitive and
focused on accruing revenues and offloading costs, rather than one unified behind the nebulous
goal of the public good. This doesn’t mean that we should abandon performance reporting,
which certainly brings many benefits. What we are suggesting is that this activity is but one
example of developments that can affect an organization’s culture and that we need to be more
conscious of this culture and the impact it can have on organizational effectiveness, including
the effectiveness of an internal control system.

Reporting of Expenses
As discussed earlier in this lesson, municipal expenditures are reported in two main annual
external reports. These are:
i)

The annual financial statements, which are prepared in accordance with provisions in
the Public Sector Accounting Handbook of the CPA; and

ii) The annual financial information returns, which are prepared in accordance with
instructions provided by the Ontario government.
In addition, municipalities have recently been given a number of additional external reporting
requirements of a more specialized nature. These include:

43

The discussion that follows is largely based on Price Waterhouse Coopers, Viewpoint, June 2005, available at
www.pwc.com/viewpoint.
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With the downloading of the responsibility for social housing, the Social Housing Reform
Act, 2000 requires service managers to report annually to the Ministry using the Service
Manager Annual Information Return (SMAIR). The Act also requires housing managers
that are subject to Part VI of the Act to use the Annual Information Return (AIR). The
SMAIR became operative in 2003, for the 2002 fiscal year. Housing managers were not
required to use the AIR until their first full year under service manager administration.44



A second new requirement, noted in Lesson 1, arises from the Safe Drinking Water Act,
2002, which has imposed accounting and reporting requirements on municipalities with
respect to the cost and financing of water facilities. Under this legislation, bodies –
including municipalities – that provide water services or waste water services to the
public must provide a report to the Minister of Environment about the infrastructure
needed to provide the services, the full cost of providing the services, and the revenue
obtained to provide them, and such other matters as may be specified by regulation.45
An extension and expansion of these reporting requirements is likely as a result of the
Water Strategy Expert Panel, which has recommended that the full cost recovery plans
required under the SWSSA be prepared over much wider planning areas and contain a
number of additional elements.46

Municipal Public Performance Measurement Reporting
Performance reporting encompasses integrated financial and non-financial information in order
to provide both management and the public with an understanding of the results achieved with
the money that taxpayers has entrusted upon the municipality. A key concept of accountability
and transparency is to report on these achievements and demonstrate value for money.
From 2000 to 2013, Ontario mandated specific measures be reported by municipalities under
the Municipal Performance Measurement Program (MPMP) in schedules 90 to 95 of the
Financial Information Return. Effective January 1. 2015, these schedules were no longer
required and have been replaced by Schedule 80D. While the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and
Housing removed these requirements, public reporting of performance measurements is still
encouraged but municipalities are able to determine the best method to do so. An optional
reporting template has been provided by the ministry should municipalities wish to use it at
http://www.mah.gov.on.ca/Page10907.aspx
The data for years 2000-2013 for the MPMP program continues to be accessible for historical
purposes at https://efis.fma.csc.gov.on.ca/fir/MPMP%20Multi%20Year.htm#0900 .
Schedule 80D: Municipal Performance Statistical Information and the replacement for the more
44 Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing, April 22, 2002 letter to Service Managers under the Social Housing
Reform Act, 2000. Questions about these requirements can be mailed to SMAIR@mah.gov.on.ca
45

For details, and an analysis of the implications of this new legislation, see Gary Scandlan, Bill 175 – Sustainable
Water and Sewage Systems Act,” Municipal Monitor, March/April 2003.
46

Water Strategy Expert Panel, Watertight: The Case for Change in Ontario’s Water and Wastewater Sector, May
2005, p. 22.
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complex Schedules 90 to 95 requires the following information:
Required Performance Statistical Information
Service
Building
Services

Line
1304

Measure
Construction Value

Description
Total value of construction activity, based on permits
issued is entered in Line 1304.
The total value of construction activity is the hard
construction or demolition cost, including:
• All general
construction, labour and equipment; plumbing, heating
and air conditioning; elevators and other building services
and systems; site services and landscaping inside the
property line; contractor’s overhead and profit; and
provincial sales tax.
These costs will approximate a construction tender in
most cases. The value of construction should not include:

1306

1308

1310

Median Number of
Working Days to
Complete Building
Applications –
Category 1 –
Houses (houses not
exceeding 3 storeys/
600 square
meters)

• Cost of land, professional design fees; soft costs, such
as financing, marketing, legal, appraisal, surveying, soil
testing or remediation, development charges; furnishings
and process equipment housed in the building; and
allowances.
Reference definition of complete application. To be
considered a complete application, a permit application
must meet the requirements of sentence 5 in article 1.3.1.3
of Division C, Administrative Provisions, of the Building
Code.1
Provincial Standard is 10 days.

Median Number of
Working Days to
Complete Building
Applications –
Category 2 – Small
buildings (small
commercial/
industrial not
exceeding 3 storeys/
600 square meters)

Reference definition of complete application. Reference
definition of complete application. To be considered a
complete application, a permit application must meet the
requirements of sentence 5 in article 1.3.1.3 of Division C,
Administrative Provisions, of the Building Code.1

Median Number of
Working Days to
Complete Building
Applications –
Category 3: Large
buildings (large
residential/
commercial/
industrial/
institutional)

Reference definition of complete application. Reference
definition of complete application. To be considered a
complete application, a permit application must meet the
requirements of sentence 5 in article 1.3.1.3 of Division C,
Administrative Provisions, of the Building Code.1

Provincial Standard is 15 days.

Provincial Standard is 20 days.
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Median Number of
Working Days to
Complete Building
Applications –
Category Complex
buildings (post
disaster buildings,
including hospitals,
power/water,
fire/police/EMS,
communications)

Reference definition of complete application. Reference
definition of complete application. To be considered a
complete application, a permit application must meet the
requirements of sentence 5 in article 1.3.1.3 of Division C,
Administrative Provisions, of the Building Code.1

1314
1316
1318
1320

Numbers of building
permit applications,
by category

Number of complete and incomplete applications, by
category

1350
1352
1354
1356

Land Use Planning
Using Building
Permit information

Number of residential units in new detached houses
Number of residential units in new semi-detached houses
Number of residential units in new row houses
Number of residential units in new apartments/condo
apartments

1370

Land Designated for
Agricultural
Purposes
Paved Roads

Hectares of land designated for agricultural purposes in
the Official Plan

Condition of
Roads

Number of paved lane kilometres where the condition
is rated as good to very good

1312

Planning

Transportation
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1710
1720
1722
1725

Provincial Standard is 30 days.

Total Paved Lane Km

Has the entire municipal road system been rated?
Indicate the rating system used and the year the rating
was conducted
Total Unpaved Lane Km

1730

Unpaved
Roads

1740

Winter Control

Total Lane Km maintained in winter

1750

Transit

Total Number of Regular Service Passenger Trips on
Conventional Transit in Service Area
Population of Service Area

1760

Bridges and
Culverts

Total Square Metres of Surface Area on Bridges and
Culverts

1765
1766

Condition of
Bridges and
Culverts

Number of structures where the condition of primary
components is rated as good to very good, requiring only
repair (and total)

1755

1768

Have all bridges and culverts in the municipal system been
rated?
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1769
Environmental
Services

1810

Wastewater
Main Backups

1815

Wastewater
Collection
Wastewater
Treatment and
Disposal

Conveyance : Total KM of Wastewater Mains

Wastewater
Bypasses
Treatment
Urban Storm
Water
Management

Estimated megalitres of untreated wastewater

1840

Rural Storm
Water
Management

Total KM of Rural Drainage System plus (0.005 KM times
number of Catch basins)

1845

Water
Treatment
Water Main
Breaks

Total Megalitres of Drinking Water Treated

1855

Water
Distribution/
Transmission

Total kilometres of Water Distribution / Transmission Pipe

1860

Solid Waste
Collection

Total tonnes collected from all property classes

1865

Solid Waste
Disposal

Total tonnes disposed of from all property classes

1870

Waste
Diversion

Total tonnes diverted from all property classes

1910

Trails

Total kilometres of trails (owned by municipality and
third parties)

1920

Indoor
Recreation
Facility Space

Square metres of indoor recreation facilities
(municipally owned)

1930

Outdoor Recreation
Facility Space

Square metres of outdoor recreation facility space
(municipally owned)

2310
2320

Fire
Paved Roads

2330

Solid
Disposal

2340

Waste Diversion

1820

1825
1835

1850

Parks and
Recreation

Other Revenue

Assessment of
Exempt
Properties

Indicate the rating system used and the year the rating was
conducted
Total number of backed up wastewater mains

2370

Total megalitres of Wastewater Treated

Total KM of Urban Drainage System plus (0.005 KM times
number of Catch basins)

Number of water main breaks in a year

Waste

Data from returned roll

A network of municipalities formed the Municipal Benchmarking Network Canada (MBN
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Canada) in order to develop benchmarks across municipalities represented by 16 municipalities
across Canada This started in the late 1990s with the Ontario Municipal Benchmarking Initiative
(OMBI) whereby 11 regional governments and three large cities looked at detailed measures for
roads, long term care, water and waste water, solid waste management, and land ambulances47
MBN Canada’s goal is “to foster a culture of service excellence in municipal government.”48 It
now reports on 670 measures in 37 service areas and includes municipalities from 6 provinces
as follows:

As well, to see how a municipality can report to its council on the mandatory MPMP
requirements, go to the Town of Milton website at www.milton.ca , then find council reports at
look at report CORS-030-11, 2010 Municipal Performance Measurement Program, May 16,
2011This report goes beyond the provincial requirements by providing year over year
comparisons and detailed notes explaining the background of each measurement.

Use of Performance Measures
Performance information is most valuable when it brings together both financial and nonfinancial
(historical and prospective) information and establishes the links between the two. Its
usefulness is enhanced when the information is presented in the context of the municipality’s
vision, mission, objectives, and direction of its programs and activities.49
Performance measures need to move from simple outputs to outcome measures.

47 In general, however, more progress has been made with respect to hard services (such as road maintenance,
water supply and waste management) and with the identification of efficiency measures, since these are easier to
measure and quantify than soft services and effectiveness measures. See Martha Jones Denning, Update on
Government Reporting Initiatives and Local Government Performance Measurement, PSAB Perspectives, Canadian
Institute of Chartered Accountants, downloaded in February 2003 from the Institute web site at www.CPA.ca.

48
49

MBN Canada’s 2016 Presentation
2003 – Treasury Board Secretariat, Modern Comptrollership Initiative
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What is an Outcome Measurement?
Systematic way to assess whether a program/service achieves results. An example would be
“What has changed in the lives of your community?” or “How much safer, healthier is your
community?”
 “Outcomes” is the VALUE or the impact of our work (what are we accomplishing for the
$ we spend and impacts its having...?)
 All levels of governments are increasingly being asked to report on outcomes (what they
achieve) rather than outputs (what they do).
 Outcomes is why governments exist.
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Performance measurement is a process for determining how a program is accomplishing its
mission
Four key steps:
• Identification and definition of indicators
• Collection of appropriate data
• Analysis (comparing) performance to previous results or benchmarks
• Reporting the results
Performance measures answers the following key questions:
1. How much did we do (quantity)?
2. How well did we do it (quality)?
3. How hard did we try (effort)?
4. What change did we produce (effect)?
5. What Value did we provide our taxpayers, customers?
Why Should Municipalities Measure?
 To improve performance
 To enable good decision making (quantified)
 Enhance accountability
 Report to the public
 Show value
For municipal staff, providing the various required measures involves some additional work in
compiling necessary data,50 but an even bigger challenge – for council as well as staff – is how
these measures will be used. Lesson One noted that there are two primary objectives of public
accounting: (1) management control and (2) accountability. Leading experts on performance
measurement (Wholey and Hatry 1992) maintain that its intent is to serve the first purpose, by
helping managers improve program implementation, and that it is not supposed to be used for
external accountability purposes. The latter focus can lead to a preoccupation with providing
maximum output at minimal cost, while the original goal of performance measurement was to
improve service quality.
As discussed in Unit Three of the Municipal Administration Program, how performance
measures are used will largely determine whether they are beneficial or problematic. A
Municipal Monitor article (Rego 2003) provides a cautiously optimistic assessment and
emphasizes the potential value of information on best practices that will increasingly become
available at the web site of the Ontario Centre for Municipal Best Practices in Performance
Measurement (at www.omkn.ca), a joint initiative with the Association of Municipalities of
Ontario (AMO). But comparing performance measures of different municipalities can be quite
misleading due to variations in accounting systems, geographic locations (and their impact on
services), and actual service levels as established by councils and local residents. Taking the
cost of solid waste collection per tonne as an example, each municipality’s actual results will be
influenced by such factors as the density of settlement along the routes, whether there is a
single stream waste collection program or a co-collection program, the distance to disposal and
transfer stations, and the extent of local recycling efforts.

50 Specific instructions on completing the FIR schedules relating to the MPMP are available at the FIR web site at
http://csconramp.mah.gov.on.ca/fir/FIR2010.htm.
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Internal Reports
External reports receive most of the attention, largely because they are mandatory.
While there aren’t any mandatory internal reports, such documents are essential in helping
municipalities to make decisions and set policy. For example, monthly reports comparing actual
expenditures to budgeted, with variances, can alert management to unusual trends and can
prompt corrective action to avoid over-spending.
Since there are no legal requirements concerning such internal reports, their nature and scope
vary considerably from one municipality to another. In developing these reports, careful
attention should be given to the primary end user of the data, and of the amount of detail
appropriate for such users (as illustrated in the examples below). In all instances, the design of
an internal report should be based on discussions with the end users. The municipal treasurer
should ensure that any reports provided include accompanying explanations that are sufficient
to enable the user to understand what the information represents, its degree of accuracy, and
how it may or may not be used.
A number of basic steps may be needed to facilitate the generation of in-year financial reports
on a timely, accurate and consistent basis.51 First of all, if the books are being maintained on the
cash basis – actual receipts and disbursements (except for taxation) – as has traditionally been
the case in many smaller municipalities, then adjustments must be made to record information
concerning:
a) uncollected revenue invoices
b) unpaid invoices from suppliers
c) grants totally or partially outstanding
d) costs incurred but not recovered from other municipalities or other local government
bodies
e) commitments made – such as purchase orders issued but where the goods and services
are not yet received (except at year-end when the accrual system of accounting is
required).
The effect of these entries is to adjust the books of account from the cash basis to the accrual
(including commitment) basis, so that proper comparisons can be made between actual
expenditures and approved budgets. Obviously, those municipalities which routinely maintain
their accounting records on an accrual basis, or which have introduced commitment accounting
as a part of a system of financial control, are already well placed to generate the kinds of in-year
reports desired.
A second issue is the scope of the in-year reports. Partly because of the excessive attention
attracted by the adoption of the annual current budget and the tax rate increases that usually
accompany it, there is a danger that the revenue fund may receive all of the emphasis of in-year
reporting. This may mean that the activities of local boards are excluded from consideration,
since the annual budget only includes those expenditures that represent the municipal
contribution (if any) to these boards. But it is important – even if very difficult in practice, to have
51

The discussion that follows is based on BACPAC, Volume II, Sections 7020.1 to 7020.35.
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internal reports that reflect the overall revenue and expense picture of these boards, while
avoiding any double counting. It is also important to provide in-year reports on capital projects,
particularly on those to be financed in part by the issue of long-term liabilities.
A third issue relates to the calendarization of the budget, which simply means analyzing the
estimated expenses to determine when they are most likely to occur during the year. This is an
important component of a system of financial control because identifying such variances assists
in budget forecasting, especially toward year-end. However, few municipalities utilize this
approach.
A budget calendar can be prepared as follows:
 Analyze expenses over the previous three to four years to establish spending patterns.
Certain expenses such as wages, utilities and debt charges occur at fixed dates during
the year, and are very easy to identify. For other items, extensive consultation with other
staff should help to establish the pattern.


Tabulate the results by function and month.



Consult with other department heads to determine if the current year’s estimates will
follow the same trends and adjust where necessary.



Prepare a calendar listing estimated expenditures on a month-by-month basis.



Review on a regular basis and adjust for approved changes such as a realignment of
priorities, a change of policy by council, or unbudgeted emergencies.

Using this calendar as a guide, monthly reports can compare actual expenses to date with the
estimated amounts for the period. This will give an indication of the budget performance by the
various departments. Because of the calendarized figures, there is a basis for interpreting the
significance of in-year reports. For example, a report that indicated that 40 percent of the public
works budget was expended after only three months (25 percent) of the year might suggest a
serious problem of over-spending – except that much of this budget is for snow-removal which
is concentrated in those early months. A comparison with calendarized figures provides a more
realistic basis of measurement because its incorporation of past spending patterns reflects such
seasonal variations.
The important thing is that any substantial budget variances should be promptly investigated.
Some of these variances may relate solely to timing, and may not require any particular
corrective action. In other instances, however, there may be a need to curtail upcoming
expenditures to bring the total budget back in line or to investigate other sources of revenue to
offset any projected over-expenditure or surplus. Any system of in- year reports should include
explanations from the treasurer to council of any substantial budget variances.

Format of Internal Reports
There are no standard formats prescribed for internal reports. Those designing them should
attempt to respond to the information needs of the end users, within whatever constraints may
be imposed by the municipality’s accounting records. While individual preferences vary, there
are several layers of management in a municipality, each with fairly identifiable information
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needs. Four such levels are outlined below.

1.

The Council

Since it must set overall policy for the municipality, the council requires information by broad
categories. Council has ultimate responsibility for all expenses and revenues, but it should not
be involved in the day-to-day administration of the municipality; thus it should not require
detailed management information. Instead, it should monitor expenses within the summary
guidelines set in the current budget. In smaller municipalities, council will be more involved in
the day-to-day activities and will require more detailed reports. But, even here, care should be
taken that councillors don’t get bogged down in specifics to the neglect of the “big picture” which
should be their primary focus. The third example below provides information on expenditure
functions only and may be appropriate for members of council.

2.

The Standing Committee

The next level of management is the standing committee where they do exist. It is alleged that
the main advantage of committees of council – rather than having council sit as a Committee of
the Whole – is that the committees allow members of council to specialize in the operations of
specific services. If they are going to study these services closely, committee members require
more detailed financial information than council does.

3.

The Chief Administrative Officer

Next in line for information is the Chief Administrative Officer (CAO), if the municipality has such
a position. As suggested by the title, the CAO is the top appointed official in a municipality. All
the department heads report to the CAO and through the CAO to council. While not mandatory,
this position has been created in many municipalities since the province passed legislation that
allowed them to do so in 1970.
Because CAOs are part of general management, they need financial information of a general
nature. But as they are the spokespersons for all the department heads, they need to know the
details of all unusual budget variances so that they can explain the reason for them to council(In
some municipalities, Department Heads actually do the explaining of variances to council but
the CAO must be well aware of them in any case)
Reports to a CAO should usually operate on the exception system – meaning that they are
forwarded only when the results are unusual. For example, some CAOs request reports that
only highlight those accounts that will be over or under budget by a specified percentage – for
example, more than 10 percent. Others prefer a summary report from the Treasurer, drawing
attention to unusual variances or other issues of concern. Many CAOs are charged with overall
budget control. Compliance audits or reports (showing that expenditures are in compliance with
policy and within budget) are sometimes required depending on the authority given to the CAO
by council.

4.

Department Head

Under the CAO, if there is one, are the department heads. They are concerned with managing
the municipal services. Each is interested only in the areas and services that are his or her
responsibility, but they all require more detailed information on the various expenditures in order
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to properly manage their departments.

Examples of Internal Reports
Three examples of internal report, reflecting varying degrees of account detail, are outlined
below. Since they are illustrative only, they contain no more than one or two functions of
expenditure. But this same format would be used for all expenditures or revenues in a complete
version of the report. The examples present a very simplified heading scheme, comprising
budget, actual, and variance (either in absolute dollars or percentages depending on the
municipality’s needs)The column headings used should be developed according to the needs of
each municipality. Some internal reports may have different column headings from one
department to the next or from one reporting level to the next. Additional heading suggestions
are outlined after the three examples.

Example A
Township of Ontario
Statement of Revenues and Expenditures
For the period ended 200X
Budget
General Government
$
Members of Council
16-1110 Remuneration & Benefits
100,000
16-1130 Materials and Supplies:
16-1131 Office supplies
2,000
16-1134 Motor vehicle costs
5,000
16-1139 Other
500
16-1150 Rent & Financial Expenses
16-1153 Travelling expenses
1,4000
16-1156 Memberships
6,500
Total: Members of Council
128,000

Actual
$

$

50,000

+

1,500
2,500
100

+
+
+

12,000
7,000
73,100

Treasury Department
16-1210 Salaries and wages
Total: Treasury Department

300,000
300,000

160,000
160,000

+
+
5
4
+
+

Other General Government
16-1210 Salaries and wages
Total: Other General Government

200,000
200,000

100,000
100,000

4
+
+

628,000

333,100

0
+

Total: General Government

This report provides considerable detail, and includes both objects and sub- objects of
expenditure. For example, the object category of “materials and supplies” is further broken down
into office supplies, motor vehicle costs, and other, in the example above. The extent of detail in
this report may be appropriate for a department manager. In contrast, the next example omits
sub-objects and may provide the kind of overview appropriate for a municipal treasurer.
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Example B
Statement of Revenues and Expenditures
for the period ended 200X
General Government
Members of council
Salaries and
benefits Materials
Contacted
services
Rent and financial
expenses Total: Members
Treasury Department
Salaries and benefits
Long term debt
charges Materials
Contracted services
Rent and financial
expenses Transfers to
own funds
Total: Treasury Department
Other General Government
Salaries and benefits
Total: Other General Government
Total: General Government

Budget
$

Actual
$

100,000
7,500
3,000
20,500
131.000

50,000
4,100
0
19,000
73,100

+50,000
+3,400
+3,000
+1,500
+57,900

300,000
600,000
10,000
30,000
12,000
150,000
1,102,000

160,000
200,000
6,000
35,000
12,000
170,000
583,000

+140,000
+400,000
+4,000
--5,000
0
--20,000
+519,000

200,000
200,000

100,000
100,000

+100,000
+100,000

1,433,000

756,100

Variance
$

+676,900

The third example is by far the briefest reporting format. It provides detail on expenditure
functions only and may be appropriate for members of council.

Example C
Statement of Revenues and Expenditures
for the period ended 200X
General Government
Members of council
Treasury department
Other General Government
Total: General Government

Budget
$
131,000
1,102,000
200,000
1,433,000

Actual
$
73,100
583,000
100,000
756,000

Variance
$
+ 57,900
+519,000
+100,000
+676,900

For all three of these sample reports, the same column headings would be used, as follows:
1. Approved budget for the year
2. Budget calendarized
3. Year to date actual payments or receipts
4. Accounts payable and commitments
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5. Total year to date (that is, total of 3 and 4 above)
6. Under (over) spending to date (the difference between 5 and 2 above)
7. Projected spending to the end of the year
8. Projected under (over) spending to the end of the year (the difference between 1 and the
sum of 5 and 7)
It should be noted that early in the year the variances in columns 8 and 6 would be the same,
and columns 7 and 8 could be omitted from the financial reports. Later in the year, however,
(after re-estimates of expenditures to the year-end), there may be variances for individual
accounts reflecting decisions by council to alter the approved budget.
To illustrate how these columns work, consider the
following example concerning “memberships,
conferences, etc.” which is a sub- object under
services and rents, relating to members of council,
under the overall functional heading of general
government.

Example under General Government:
Members of Council: Services
and Rents:
Memberships, conferences, etc.

1. The approved budget for the year for this
category is, for the purpose of this example, $10,000.
2. The calendarized figures indicate that at the time of this report (let’s say the end of
August) an expenditure of $8,000 has been estimated.
3. The accounting records indicate that expenditures to date have been $7,000.
4. Accounts payable and commitments represent another $1,500 of expenses (These
are mainly related to bills still to come in from the AMO conference.)
5. The total of columns 3 and 4 is $8,500.
6. To date, therefore, this item is overspent by $500.
7. The projected spending to the end of the year is normally the amount in the
calendarized budget from the date of the report to the end of the year. In this case, the
figure would be $2,000, and the sum of this column and column 2 ($8,000) would
equal column 1 ($10,000)However, in this particular instance, council has approved an
additional expenditure for the mayor that was not part of the original, approved
budget(He has been invited to attend a municipal conference to speak on the
politician’s role in financial management.) Therefore, the projected spending to the end
of the year is $2,500.
8. The projected year-end financial situation is an over-expenditure of $1,000. This
results from the combination of column 5 ($8,500) and column 7 ($2,500) being
$1,000 more than column 1 ($10,000).
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It should be emphasized that these examples are illustrative only. Increasingly, the kinds of
internal reports that appear are computer printouts generated by municipal software. Whatever
the method of production and the degree of sophistication, these reports need to:


reflect the information needs of the end users; and



draw attention to any substantial budget variances so that these can be investigated and
acted upon where appropriate.

Finally, it should be noted that the level of detail that a department will go into in ensuring that all
accounts payable and commitments are recorded is usually based upon the size of the
department’s budget. For example, a department with an annual budget of $10,000,000 may not
be concerned that a commitment of $10,000 is reflected in the variance report, since this
represents only .1 percent of its budget. But a department that has a budget of $100,000 would
be concerned about a variance of this size, which represents 10 percent of its budget.
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Lesson Highlights and Points To Remember
►

Basis of Accounting
On the cash basis, revenues are not recorded in the accounts until they are actually
received, and expenditures are not recorded until they are actually paid.
On the accrual basis, revenues are recorded in the fiscal period when earned,
regardless of the period of collection, and expenditures are recorded when the liability
for them is initially incurred.
PSAB requires municipalities to report their revenues and expenditures on an accrual
basis, including such financial items as; post-employment benefits, closure of landfills,
and accrued interest on long-term debt issued late in the year.
In practice, some municipalities still maintain their accounts during the year on a cash
basis, except tax arrears accounts, which must be kept on an accrual basis for individual
properties.

►

Meaning of Expenditure
An expenditure is the cost of goods and services acquired in a period and also transfer
payments due where no value is received directly in return.
A disbursement is payment for goods and services and is identical to an expenditure on
the cash basis of accounting.
An expense is not a disbursement for the purpose of generating revenue (profit)It is a
cost incurred in the period.

►

Classification of Expenditures
Municipalities are required to report expenditures in the FIR under three classifications:
i) function (nine categories)
ii) sub-function or organization
iii) object or type
Classifying expenditures serves several purposes:
 ensuring that expenditures have been made for the purposes approved


providing information for planning and costing future budgets



assisting in the preparation of financial statements



providing uniformity to allow for comparisons
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Chart of Accounts
Needed to carry out the required classification system and to segregate expenditures in
a manner useful for internal and external reporting.

►

►

Objectives of a System of Internal Control


to prevent misappropriation of funds and protect assets



to monitor the budget and prevent overspending of estimates



to prevent unwise expenditures and ensure value for money



to ensure that proper procedures are followed

Reporting of Expenses
The financial information return (FIR) is a comprehensive set of financial statements
primarily used by the province to monitor the financial health and performance of
municipalities. It now includes schedules in which municipalities provide efficiency and
effectiveness measures with respect to core services.
The annual audited financial statements are a central feature of the municipality’s
accountability to its residents and ratepayers. Reporting requirements have changed as
a result of the adoption of PSAB standards.
There are new reporting requirements in relation to social housing (the SMAIR and AIR)
and in relation to the cost and financing of water and sewage facilities (under the Safe
Drinking Water Act, 2002).
In addition to these mandatory external reports, municipalities are free to prepare
whatever internal reports they wish – and such reports can be very important to sound
financial management. A good example is the monthly report comparing actual
expenditures to budgeted, with variances. Care should be taken to ensure that the
amount of detail in these internal reports is appropriate for the needs of the primary user.
These need of councillors, the CAO, and department heads are quite different. Sample
formats for internal reports are provided in the lesson.
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Appendix A
Schedule 40 Revenue Fund Expenses
A copy of Schedule 40 is found on the next page. You can also view this schedule at the FIR
web site at At that site you will also find detailed instructions concerning the functional
classifications of expenses (and revenues). You will need to scroll down the screen for some
time; the information that you want is toward the bottom of a long list of items.
As an example of the information provided in the instructions, fire is the first entry under
Protection Services, on Line 0410 of Schedule 40, and it includes the following expene
categories:


Administration



Alarm system



Auxiliary services



Equipment



Fire-fighting force (regular and volunteer)



Fire halls



Fire prevention and inspection



Hydro rental



Other fire protection equipment
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Appendix B
Netting of Revenues and Expenses
(Extract from the FIR)
The general principle followed in the netting of revenues and expenditures is that netting is done
when revenues are directly associated with expenditures required to earn those revenues –
such as purchases for resale. Otherwise, there is no netting of revenue against expenditure
except for the following situations:
1. Charges for long term liabilities issued by the reporting municipality on behalf of a
government business enterprise that meets the requirements of section 3230 of the
PSAB Handbook52
2. Insurance recoveries
3. Retail sales tax refunds

52

CPA, Public Sector Accounting Handbook, sections 3230.10 to 3230.14.
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Review Questions
1. Define and distinguish expenditures, disbursements, and expenses.
2. What purposes are served by classifying expenses?
3. What objectives are fulfilled by having a system of internal control?
4. How do external and internal municipal reports differ?
5. What steps are needed to facilitate the generation of internal reports that are
timely, accurate, and consistent?
6. Explain how different municipal users need different levels of detail in the financial
reports that they receive.
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Learning Objectives and Outcomes:
By the end of this lesson, students should be able to:
1. Explain and distinguish the various types of transfer payments to Ontario municipalities.
2. Analyze and assess the potential of the various miscellaneous local revenue sources
available to municipalities.
3. Explain the requirements for reporting of transfer payments and miscellaneous local
revenues in the annual financial statements and financial information return.

Introduction
The discussion in this lesson and the next examines Municipal Revenues. The focus of this
lesson is on transfers and miscellaneous local revenues. The discussion addresses issues like
transfer payments, such as unconditional and conditional transfers, and the collection of transfer
payments. It also covers miscellaneous local revenues such as user fees and charges, licensing
and permit fees, and fines and penalties. The lesson concludes with a discussion about
reporting on transfers and miscellaneous local revenues.
This lesson and the next one discuss municipal revenues. Since the real property tax has
always been the mainstay of municipal finances – and has become increasingly important in
recent years – it might have seemed logical to begin with it. However, the organization of the
lesson material reflects the sequence followed in the annual municipal budget process
described in Lesson 2 of this Unit. After all expense requirements are totalled, non-tax revenues
(transfers and miscellaneous local revenues) are subtracted to arrive at the amount to be raised
from taxation and to calculate the tax rates that need to be levied. Therefore, we examine these
non-tax revenue sources in this lesson before proceeding to the property tax in the next and last
lesson of this Unit. To repeat, those non-tax revenues consist of two categories:
a) Transfer payments from the provincial and federal levels of government; and
b) Miscellaneous local revenues.
At one time, transfers – especially from the Ontario government – represented a very
substantial portion of revenues (particularly for small and rural municipalities), whereas
miscellaneous local revenues were of limited significance. Over the past two decades, however,
transfer payments largely disappeared, and municipalities have had to rely much more heavily
on miscellaneous local revenues so as to minimize increases in the property tax.
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Transfer Payments
Transfer payments can take a variety of forms and have often been referred to by a variety of
names – including grants, subsidies, and shared cost programs. Within this category, it is usual
to distinguish three components:
i)

unconditional transfers

ii) conditional transfers
iii) payments in lieu or grants in lieu of taxes

Unconditional Transfers
Unconditional transfers, funds provided without any restriction on how they are spent, first
appeared in 1936. They were insignificant until the beginning of the 1970s, when three new
unconditional grants were introduced. These helped to boost the proportion of grants that were
unconditional to 28% by the late 1970s, but this had fallen back to only 13 percent by the
beginning of the 1990s.
By that time (in fact, in 1989), the three unconditional transfers that then existed (per household
grant, general support grant, and resource equalization grant) were lumped together into one
payment, and were frozen as part of the provincial restraint efforts then underway. Then in
1995, these transfers were lumped together with two large conditional transfer programs (the
roads grant and the northern road assistance grant) to create a new unconditional grant called
the Municipal Support Grant (MSP)While this change meant that conditions were removed from
two transfer programs, this positive development was tempered by the province’s
announcement that the total amount of money to be transferred under the MSP would be
reduced substantially. In fact, this new transfer disappeared in the 1998-99 fiscal year.
It was replaced by the Community Reinvestment Fund (CRF)This fund was established in 1998
as the province’s way of ensuring the fiscal neutrality of the local service realignment introduced
that year. The CRF included a basic grant that took into account residential tax room available
to municipalities as a result of the provincial assumption of approximately half of the education
costs previously borne by residential taxpayers. It also took into account savings from improved
efficiency that the province arbitrarily claimed that municipalities could achieve – ranging from a
1.7 percent savings target for municipalities of less than 100,000 to 4.2 percent for
municipalities over 500,000The CRF also included supplementary assistance for those
municipalities whose assessment fell below a specified threshold. A Special Circumstances
Fund was also distributed as part of the CRF in 1998, mainly to recognize the special needs of
small, rural, and northern municipalities that found it difficult to achieve the savings targets
mandated by the province – but this Fund was integrated into the CRF in 1999.
The CRF was essentially the only unconditional transfer program left in Ontario by this time, but
it is arguable how unconditional it really was – especially as compared to the earlier
unconditional transfers that municipalities automatically received on the basis of the number of
households or assessment levels. Under the CRF, municipalities had to meet specified
provincial reporting requirements designed to ensure that the financial assistance they received
was being used “to decrease municipal levy requirements or for taxpayers supported initiatives.”
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Municipalities were instructed “not to put the Community Reinvestment Fund entitlements into
reserves or discretionary reserve funds.”53
In March 2005, the province announced a new $656 million ($843 million for 2007) Ontario
Municipal Partnership Fund (OMPF) to replace the CRF. The new funding program
compensates municipalities with high costs for provincial social services programs relative to
their assessment base and also assists municipalities with limited assessment yield because of
low property values and low commercial and industrial assessment. It also provides small
communities with 50 percent of eligible policing costs over $150 per household and provides per
household grants for rural and northern communities. The province has indicated that the OMPF
allocations will be announced annually in the fall and provided – as an unconditional grant – in
quarterly payments to municipalities.54
As usual, the province and the municipal level have different views as to the adequacy of this
new fund. According to the province, the OMPF represents an increase of $38 million over the
CRF. Municipalities, however, point out that the OMPF is actually $47 million less than the total
paid by the province under the CRF after the 2003/2004 reconciliation payments that adjusted
for the actual cost of the downloaded services.
The Province has continued to make changes to this grant program since 2005. Starting in
2009, municipal transfers have been calculated as a combination of both OMPF grants and the
municipal share of social assistance benefit programs uploaded from the province. As well, the
OMPF remains responsive to changing municipal circumstances such as updates in
assessment, households and policing costs. In 2011, the Province will provide a combined
benefit of over $1.5 billion to 405 municipalities.55
The ongoing debate between the province and municipalities about the equity and fairness of
government transfers and service delivery of continued, and finally the Province decided to deal
directly with municipalities on this issue. With support from the municipal sector, Premier
McGuinty announced the creation of a panel to examine the Provincial-Municipal fiscal and
service delivery relationship in August, 2006.

The Provincial-Municipal Fiscal and Service Delivery Review
The review commenced in late 2006 and consisted of several components, led by a political
table. This group was the driving force behind this consensus-driven exercise and was assisted
by a coordinating table made up of senior provincial and municipal staff. The coordinating table
was charged with organizing and overseeing the work of three separate sub-tables: service
delivery accountability; the infrastructure; and fiscal architecture and economic competitiveness.
Their reports were considered by the political table and were used as the basis for the final

53

Information from the Municipal Finance Branch of the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing.

54 Details on the Ontario Municipal Partnership Fund are available at the web site of the Ministry of Finance at
http://www.fin.gov.on.ca/english/budget/ompf.
55

Ministry of Finance, OMPF 2011, 2011 Allocation, Technical Guide.
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Report. The Report and all of the papers and background materials can be accessed at the
Association of Municipalities of Ontario (“AMO”) website at www.amo.on.ca.56
The long-awaited and much-anticipated report examining the provincial- municipal fiscal and
service delivery relationship was released on October 31, 2008The report, entitled “Report of
the Provincial-Municipal Fiscal and Service Delivery Review: Facing the Future Together” (the
“Report”) sets out a framework for the uploading to the Province the costs of several programs
and services that had been downloaded by the Province onto municipalities in the 1990s.
The main feature of the Report is the commitment by the Province regarding the realignment of
program costs in the areas of social services and court security. In return, the amount of
financial support provided to municipalities through the Ontario Municipal Partnership Fund
(OMPF) will be reduced to offset the uploading of program costs to the Province. Once the
uploading is complete and the OMPF is adjusted (which will be 2018) there will be a $1.5 billion
net benefit to municipalities (as compared to 2007 figures).
According to a news release from the Ministry of Finance, some of the key results of the report
are;


The Province agreed in 2007 as an early outcome of the review to fully fund the Ontario
Disability Support Program and the Ontario Drug Benefit Program, with a shift now under
way and full phase-in by 2011.



Starting in 2010, the Province uploaded the municipal costs of Ontario Works benefits
(income and employment assistance) over nine years.



Stating in 2012, the Province uploaded the costs of court security over seven years by
providing funding to municipalities to a maximum of $125 million at maturity.57

The implementation of this report will start to make the provincial downloading of the 1990s
more revenue neutral. However, municipalities continue to be responsible for the administration
and delivery of social services with these costs be shared equally 50/50 between the province
and municipalities. As well, there is concern about the length of time (until 2018) to complete the
uploading especially considering it will cover 2 terms of council and successive Provincial
governments. It is important to note that this report still does not address the long term funding
assistance for municipal infrastructure. The Province and municipalities will continue to discuss
and negotiate regarding infrastructure, transit, social housing and accountability and
coordination of social services.

Conditional Transfers
Conditional transfers are payments made to local governments for a specified purpose by the
province or – to a much more limited extent – by the federal government. In almost every case,
these payments are shared cost programs, meaning that the provincial or federal government
56

Jody Johnson, Aird & Berlis, LLP, An Overview of the Provincial-Municipal Fiscal & Service Delivery Review
Report, Municipal and Planning Law Newsletter, Spring, 2009
57

Ontario Ministry of Finance, Ontario Municipal Partnership Fund Overview, Budget News Release, 2009
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agrees to fund a certain percentage of the cost of a program undertaken by a local government,
with that body contributing the remaining portion. Conditional transfers can also be provided on
the basis of a flat amount for each municipality or an amount per capita or per household. Such
transfers are still conditional if stipulations attached to the money require that it be spent in a
specified manner.
The first conditional grant, apart from education, was the roads grant authorized by the 1901
Highway Improvement Act. The number and variety of these grants proliferated throughout the
20th century, until they had reached over 100 by the 1980sThe major conditional grants – for
both operating and capital expenditures – have been for transportation, health and social
services, protection, environment, and culture and recreation.
By this time, however, provincial efforts to rein in growing deficits and public debt were starting
to erode the transfer payments, both conditional and unconditional. For example, provincial
transfers were cut by some $275 million a year as a result of the social contract and expenditure
control program introduced by the NDP government in 1993
In November 1995, the government in Ontario, the Minister of Finance announced a series of
cuts in provincial transfers for programs such as recycling and public transit, and substantial
cuts in transfers to conservation authorities and school boards. With the implementation of the
new local service realignment (LSR), beginning in 1998, conditional grants were discontinued
(temporarily in some instances, as it turned out) for virtually all programs that became municipal
responsibilities, including areas such as public transit and water and sewage treatment facilities.
Conditional transfers remained mainly with respect to social programs (social assistance, child
care, public health).
There is movement by the Province to reduce the financial burden of some of these social
programs as part of the provincial-municipal fiscal and service delivery review as previously
discussed. In fact, the line between conditional and unconditional transfers is being blurred. In
2011, the Province will contribute $947 million to municipalities as part of the uploaded Social
Assistance Benefit Program cost which is being phased-in. The transfers are being allocated as
part of the earlier mentioned unconditional OMPF grant program.

Conditional Transfers for Capital Expenditures
A growing municipal concern has been the
(in)adequacy of financial support (from both
the federal and provincial level) for capital
Federal and provincial governments
expenditures. While provincial transfer
finally providing more financial
payments funded 25 percent of municipal
support for infrastructure.
capital expenditures during the period from
1990 through 1992, these payments funded
only 7 percent of such expenditures between
1999 and 2001 (Kitchen 2003)However, there
have been so many reports documenting the backlog of infrastructure investment that the
federal and provincial governments have recently shown signs of recognizing the need to
increase their financial support.
Better Late Than Never
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In late 2002, a Task Force set up by the Prime Minister recognized the need for much greater
financial assistance for Canada’s cities.58 While the ensuing 2003 budget only committed the
federal government to a disappointing $100 million per year over 10 years for municipal
infrastructure, the 2004 federal budget accelerated the infrastructure assistance by compressing
it over a five-year period – in the form of a Municipal Rural Infrastructure Fund
The 2004 federal budget also provided municipalities with $7 billion in GST relief over the next
10 years, and the promise of a share of gasoline taxes, subject to agreement being reached
with the provinces on this matter. The 2005 federal budget delivered on that promise, and an
agreement was reached with Ontario in June 2005, under which nearly $1.9 billion will be
distributed for environmentally sustainable municipal infrastructure, beginning with
approximately $224 million in 2005These funds are being allocated to all municipalities on a per
capita basis and will be shared 50:50 between upper and lower tier municipalities within two tier
municipal systems. An additional $310 million over two years is also anticipated, under a
second agreement that implements the “enriched” 2005 federal budget amendments secured by
the NDP for their support of the minority Liberal government.59
The Federal government since 2005 has witnessed leadership changes. Also in this intervening
period, municipalities specifically through the lobbying efforts of the Federation of Canadian
Municipalities have constantly been making the case to have more federal financial support for
local infrastructure. As well, 2008 saw Canada and the world face a global economy that was
experiencing a variety of fiscal challenges. Thus the 2009 Federal budget presented on January
27, 2009 focused on providing stimulus and support for the Canadian economy. 2015 to 2017
has seen renewed focus on infrastructure.
As a result, municipalities had to quickly make funding applications for jobs that are deemed to
be “shovel ready” and able to be completed within short time frames. The budget will support
short-term projects aimed at renewing public infrastructure, including road and sewer upgrades,
as well as green infrastructure that contributes to cleaner air, land and water.60 The $33 billion,
seven year, Building Canada Plan first announced in the 2007 budget will now be actively used
as outlined in the details of the 2009 federal budget. Other key municipal infrastructure
programs outlined in the budget include:


$1 Billion over five years for a Green Infrastructure Fund



$500 Million over the next two years in new funding to the Communities component of
the Building Canada Plan.



A new $ 4 Billion Infrastructure Stimulus Fund over the next two years to provide funding
to provincial, territorial and municipal governments for rehabilitation projects



A new $500 Million fund over two years to support the construction of new community
recreational facilities and upgrades across Canada.

58 Prime Minister’s Task Force on Urban Issues (Judy Sgro, Chair), Canada’s Urban Strategy: A Vision for the 21st
Century, 2002.
59

Association of Municipalities of Ontario, Alert, “AMO Secures $2.2 Billion Gas Tax Deal for Ontario Municipalities,”
June 17, 2005, accessed June 30, 2005 from www.amo.on.ca.
60

Municipal Finance Officers Association of Ontario, 2009 Federal Budget Bulletin, January 27, 2009.
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All of the above programs will be wound down by October, 2011 except for the Green
Infrastructure Fund.
There were no major new announcements in the 2010 Federal Budget directly affecting
municipalities. On March 22, 2011, the Federal Government tabled the 2011 budget. The
budget was not adopted prior to the dissolution of Parliament on March 26, 201. Subsequently,
a federal election was called for May 2, 2011. The March 22 budget with slight amendments
was re-introduced on June 6, 2011 and was passed and received Royal Accent on June 26,
2011.
The budget does confirm that stimulus measures directed at infrastructure are coming to an end
without new programs to replace them at this time. It also indicates that the Government will
work with the provinces, the Federation of Canadian Municipalities and other stakeholders to
develop a long term plan for public infrastructure that extends beyond the expiry of the Building
Canada plan.61
After reducing or abolishing financial support for municipal capital expenditures throughout most
of the 1990s, the Ontario government established the SuperBuild Corporation in December
1999 to provide financial assistance for capital expenditures to municipalities that could make a
strong business case
In the aftermath of the Walkerton water tragedy, the province announced that $240 million
would be available from SuperBuild to help municipalities upgrade their water systems to
comply with new drinking water regulations. The 2003 Ontario budget reiterated provincial
financial support for public transit and pledged an additional $67 million over two years to
improve commuter travel across the Greater Toronto Area and that budget also pledged $460
million over five years for key infrastructure projects in agricultural and rural areas and small
towns and cities, much of it to help municipalities upgrade water systems
Following their victory in the provincial election of 2003, the Liberals established a Ministry of
Public Infrastructure Renewal “to capture and merge the critical roles played by two previous
government organizations: SuperBuild and Smart Growth.”62 In early May 2004, Ontario
became the first province to enter an agreement with the federal government to match federal
funding (announced in the 2004 federal budget as outlined above) under the Municipal Rural
Infrastructure Fund. Together with matching municipal funds, the Canada-Ontario Municipal
Rural Infrastructure Fund (COMRIF) will provide approximately $600 million (Canada and
Ontario) plus $300 million (municipalities) for infrastructure investment in rural communities and
small towns. Green infrastructure is COMRIF’s top priority, with more than half of the funding for
projects involving water quality, sustainable communities, climate change, and innovation.63

61

Municipal Finance Officers Association of Ontario, 2011 Federal Budget Bulletin, March 22, 2011.

62 Remarks by the Honourable David Caplan, Minister of Public Infrastructure Renewal, to the Public Policy Forum,
February 19, 2004.
63

Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing, Canada and Ontario Launch Intake Two of The Canada- Ontario
Municipal Rural Infrastructure Fund, News Release, June 16, 2005. Details on this fund can be found at
www.comrif.ca.
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The 2005 Ontario budget also contained a $30 billion, five year infrastructure investment plan
called ReNew Ontario. It was tied to a federal program known as the Canada Strategic
Infrastructure Fund (CSIF)The funding priorities were healthcare, education and economic
prosperity but other funding areas for municipalities included; transit and transportation,
affordable housing, justice, clean water infrastructure and rural communities. Both the CFIS
program and the COMRIF program are being sunsetted and replaced by a new program called
the Building Canada Plan, which was discussed earlier.64
The 2004 Ontario budget promised $448 million for transit capital expenditures (and the creation
of a Greater Toronto Transportation Authority to facilitate the flow of goods and services across
the GTA)Other provisions in this budget included financial support for transportation and
community infrastructure in Northern Ontario and the establishment of an Ontario Strategic
Infrastructure Financing Authority (OSIFA) to provide funding to the broad public sector to renew
and build public infrastructure. This budget also pledged that by October 2006, two cents per
litre of provincial gasoline taxes would be dedicated to public transit. It is expected that by 2010,
the Province will have contributed over $1.6 billion in gasoline tax funding to Ontario
municipalities for their local transit priorities. While the 2005 Ontario budget was mainly focused
on education and health care, it did broaden OSIFA’s loan program to include municipal culture,
tourism, and recreation projects.
Since 2005, the Ontario Government has introduced a number of new infrastructure programs
for municipalities, some in concert with the Federal Government. There is no doubt that the
recent economic downturn since 2008 has influenced the province to provide stimulus related
grant programs.
The 2009 Budget confirms infrastructure investments will be made by the province to match the
infrastructure stimulus commitments announced in the Federal Budget. Some details have been
announced previously including more than $600 million in matching social housing investments
as announced on March 20, 2009It includes a figure of $6.8 billion over the next two years for
“new short term stimulus investments”, the majority of which will be for municipal
infrastructure.65
The 2010 and 2011 Provincial budgets did not contain any new funding programs for capital
expenditures for Ontario municipalities. However on June 24, 2011, the Province released its
much anticipated 10-year capital plan for infrastructure for the province and broad public sector.
The 10 year plan, entitled Building Together: Jobs and Prosperity for Ontarians; “provides
clarity, sustainability, and greater predictability in Ontario's infrastructure policies, while focusing
on ensuring the province remains economically competitive. The intent of this plan is not to list
all infrastructure projects that will proceed over the next 10 years, but rather to set out a
strategic framework to guide future investments as needs evolve. Among other considerations,
this plan will ensure investments are fiscally responsible and responsive to changing economic
conditions. To that end, the government will adopt a l0-year perspective for infrastructure

64

Ministry of Energy and Infrastructure, Ontario, reported on website, www.mei.gov.on.ca, Infrastructure by Sector,
Municipal and Local Infrastructure accessed July, 2009
65

Association of Municipalities of Ontario, 2009 Ontario Budget Summary, Member Communication, March 26, 2009.
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planning, while making decisions to move ahead on specific projects through the Province's
annual planning and budgeting processes”.66
The detail in the Provincial Plan appears to be putting more pressure on municipalities to be
more active in long term financial planning, to move beyond asset accounting to asset
management specifically to support funding requests and to strongly address the financial
sustainability in water, wastewater and storm water. Only time will tell if there will be government
action in support of this plan.

Payments In Lieu (of Taxes)
Payments in lieu of taxes, as the name indicates, are transfer payments made with respect to
properties that are exempt from taxation. As discussed in the next lesson, all property is
assessed, but not all property is taxed. Categories of tax-exempt land include some provincial
and federal properties, churches, cemeteries, properties held by charitable and non-profit
institutions, and public educational institutions and public hospitals.67 Since they cannot tax
these properties, municipalities receive payments instead – of two different types, as described
below. While these payments do not generate a significant portion of total revenues, they can
be sizeable for municipalities like Ottawa and Kingston that have a high concentration of
government properties. They are essentially a form of unconditional transfer payment, which is
why they are included in this section of this lesson.
The Municipal Act provides for payments in lieu to municipalities in which are located colleges of
applied arts and technology, universities, public hospitals, provincial psychiatric hospitals,
centres for the developmentally handicapped, and penal institutions. These payments are made
on the basis of a fee (currently still $75) per full time student, rated hospital bed, or resident
place – thus their popular name as “heads and beds” payments. These payments have long
been a source of controversy because municipalities contend that they do not yield nearly as
much money as would be derived if applicable taxes were levied upon the assessed values of
these exempt properties.
It is this latter approach that is followed under the Municipal Tax Assistance Act, which
authorizes payments in lieu on certain provincial properties in an amount equal to the tax that
would be payable if the property were taxable. The tax rate applicable to the property class of
the property in question determines the amount of the payment in lieu that is supposed to be
paid. Properties owned by the Ontario government generally pay only municipal taxes, not
education taxes (with the exception of Crown agencies and taxable tenants of the Crown)It is
the province’s position that the education tax component is covered by the provincial grants
provided to school boards.

66

Municipal Finance Officers Association of Ontario, News Bulletin, Release of Ontario’s 10 Year Capital Plan, June
27, 2011.

67

For a complete listing of tax-exempt properties, see section 3 of the Assessment Act.
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Identifying and Distributing Payments in Lieu
Determining the properties that are eligible for payments in lieu is relatively straightforward,
since this information is provided each year by the Municipal Property Assessment Corporation.
As discussed in more detail in the next lesson, the information comes in the form of Realty Tax
Qualifiers (RTQs) that are placed on all properties, along with their Realty Tax Codes
(RTCs)The codes identify the class of property (such as R for residential, F for farmlands and I
for industrial), while the qualifiers indicate what charges apply to each property class (such as T
for full taxation and F for exempt from taxation but eligible for payments in lieu at the full rate).
A complete set of RTC and RTQ codes describing the property classes reported on the
payments in lieu schedule of the Financial Information Return can be found at the FIR web site
at http://csconramp.mah.gov.on.ca/fir/FIR2016.htmUnder the heading of “Information” (available
for downloading) click on “FIR Tables” and you will find the several pages of codes.
These pages also provide specifics on the distribution of payments in lieu, that is, whether they
are retained solely by the municipality or shared between upper and lower tier municipalities or
shared with school boards.68 Over the years, there has been a fair bit of confusion surrounding
the distribution of payments in lieu, so this listing is very helpful. See also Ontario Regulation
423/02, which serves to clarify the sharing provisions concerning any payments received by a
local municipality under the Municipal Tax Assistance Act. These are the same sharing
provisions that were set out in Ontario Regulation 382/98, which applied to all provincial
payments in lieu but didn’t explicitly refer to payments under the Municipal Tax Assistance Act.

Federal Payments in Lieu
The federal government also makes payments in lieu to municipalities with respect to federal
properties that are tax exempt (Shafroth 2014). These payments are entirely at the discretion of
the federal government, which need not accept the assessed values that have been placed on
the property in determining what it will pay. However, a Grants in Lieu of Taxes Act passed by
the Canadian government in the spring of 2000 provides for the first time for interest charges on
late payments and an improved dispute resolution process, and is expected to streamline
payments in lieu to municipalities.

Collection of Transfer Payments
In all instances, the first step is to check the applicable provincial (or federal) statute that sets
out the authority under which the municipality will attempt to receive payment. Regulations to
these statutes usually define specific procedures that the municipality must follow. With respect
to grants, these may include:


reviewing and satisfying the grounds for eligibility;



following the procedures for making application;

68 Schedule 26 of the FIR deals with the split of PILs between municipalities and school boards and the distribution of
the educational portion of PILs among the various types of school board.
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procedures for recording expenditures; and



procedures for reporting and submitting expenditure claims.
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Application forms can be obtained from the appropriate provincial or federal body and, in the
case of annual or recurring types of grant program, the application forms may be automatically
sent to the municipality. The forms are submitted on an interim or final basis as defined by the
type of program and its rules. Payments are received by the municipality on an advance, interim
or final draw basis, on the amounts claimed or as adjusted by audit – since an audit may be
made of the municipality’s expenditure records relating to the grant program.
There is no consistent policy in place for municipalities to bill and collect payments in lieu of
taxes from any level of government. As a result, there are a variety of processes used
throughout the municipal sector.
For municipal PILS such as local hydro operations or waste management facilities, they are
usually billed and paid by instalments similar to regular taxes.
In the case of provincial payments in lieu, while a few provincial agencies are billed directly and
make their own payments, most payments in lieu on provincial properties are paid by the
Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing. It automatically pays 50 percent of the previous year’s
amount in early April and makes the final payment after receipt of a municipality’s levying bylaw.
Turning to federal payments in lieu, application forms are usually included with the previous
year’s payment. Most applications are made to the Municipal Grants Division of the federal
Public Works and Government Services Canada (PWGSC).

Miscellaneous Local Revenues
Unlike the property tax or even the somewhat more varied category of transfer payments, there
is no precise definition for the category of miscellaneous local revenues. For the purposes of
this lesson, we will highlight the following sources within this category:
i)

user fees and charges

ii) licenses and permit fees
iii) fines and penalties (including those under the Provincial Offences Act)
iv) special capital levies and development charges
v) income from investments
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The brief summary of these sources will highlight the significant changes that have occurred to
several of them in recent years.

User Fees and Charges
This broad and diverse sub-category has become an increasingly important source of municipal
revenues over the past couple of decades. In simplest terms, a user fee is a charge levied upon
an individual for the use of a specific public service. Over the years, a variety of revenueearning enterprises at the local level have employed user fees to finance at least a part of their
operations. Examples include recreational and cultural facilities such as arenas, pools, and
community centres, water supply, sanitary sewage collection and disposal, public transportation,
public housing, and municipal parking.
Some of these services have been administered by local boards and commissions – such as
arena boards and utility commissions – which have relied heavily on user fees as they have
been called upon to bring their operations closer to break-even.
The FIR instructions for Schedule 12 include the following examples.
User Fee Examples from the FIR Instructions for Schedule 12
















Day nursery charges
Committee of Adjustment fees
Contributions from residents in Homes for the Aged
Incidental services to individuals or tax exempt properties, such as snowplowing driveways
Garbage collection fees
Parking revenues and permit parking
Photocopies of municipal documents
Planning Act fees
Recreation programs
Road closures for special events
Tile drainage and shoreline property assistance collections
Transit fares
Transit revenues from contract services and charters
Waste management
Direct water billings on ratepayers and sewer surcharges billed to ratepayers

Economists favour increased user fees to promote efficiency in the consumption of goods and
services (Bird and Slack 1993; Kitchen 2000)The municipal authority to raise revenues from
user fees was expanded (although less than first anticipated) by changes introduced in Bill 26
(the Savings and Restructuring Act, 1996)This legislation authorized municipalities to impose
these fees on any class of persons for services or activities provided, for costs payable by them
for services or activities provided, or for use of their property
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Since the new provisions initially provided that by-laws could provide for user fees that were in
the nature of a direct tax for the purpose of raising revenue, municipalities took the position that
they could levy such charges as a gasoline tax or a sales
tax. The Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing denied
any such possibility, and then specifically prevented it
through amendments to the legislation before it passed.69
Other limits were found in provisions that the Minister could
prescribe activities or services for which municipalities could
not impose a fee or charge (a power that was exercised),
and could impose conditions and limits on the powers of a
municipality under this section, including limits on the fees to
be charged
Regulation 244/02 under the Municipal Act, which took
effect on January 1, 2003, sets out who and what are not
subject to fees and also outlines new implementation criteria and processes.70 Fees for waste
collection and disposal, sewer and water consumption, and police and fire protection permits
and inspections will be limited to cost recovery and are subject to the most strict process rules.
A municipality must give 21-days notice and hold at least one meeting before passing a by-law
imposing these fees. Ratepayers have the right to make representation at the meeting. The
regulation does not define cost recovery, but it is assumed to include direct operating costs as
well as administrative overhead, capital asset costs, and the cost of standby capacity where
applicable.
All other municipal fees will be subject to less stringent notice and disclosure rules, and are not
limited to cost recovery. Examples of such fees includes those that are optional to the user
(such as photocopy costs), local market related (such as golf course fees), program fees (such
as recreation programs), and fees set at such a level as to ration use of a municipal facility
(such as with arena rental charges).
In 2006, the Municipal Act and regulations related to Fees and Charges were amended
extensively through the passage of the Municipal Statute Amendment Act. Part XII of the
Municipal Act has been changed in several ways and the legislation continues broad powers to
charge fees for municipal services. Municipalities can now impose fees for any service on
persons who may receive a benefit of the service in the future.
Previously, such “deferred benefit” fees were limited to sewer and water costs. There is now
clarity that costs included in a fee or charge could include both operating (administration,
enforcement) and capital (acquisition and replacement of capital costs). There is also clarity that
fees or charges could be imposed for a municipal service whether or not the service is
mandatory. Municipalities and their local boards are no longer required to keep a list of fees.
Finally, the provision prescribing what may be in a municipal fee by-law has been removed and
is now left to municipal discretion as part of a municipality’s broad authority to pass fee by-laws.
69 The provision that user fees and charges are in the nature of a direct tax for raising revenue was deleted entirely
from the new Municipal Act. In effect, this is a legislative concession to the ruling of the Ontario Court of Appeal – in
the case of Urban Outdoor Trans Ad v. Scarborough (City) – that a user fee is not a tax but a fee and, as such, must
bear a reasonable relation to the cost of providing the service.
70

The summary that follows is based on Municipal Finance Officers of Ontario, Bulletin, August 26, 2002, available at
web site www.mfoa.on.ca.
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Regulation 244/02 was revoked effective January 1, 2007 and replaced by regulation
584/06This new regulation continues to prescribe certain limits to the broad powers of the fees
and charges legislation. Housekeeping changes have been made to provide greater clarity and
reduce the previous process and notice requirements in favour of the municipality’s general
notice policies. Municipalities will be able to charge gas and electric utility companies permit
fees for accessing municipal rights of way as they currently charge telecommunications
companies.
Fees or charges established under the Planning Act continue to be excluded from the legislation
under the Municipal Act.

Licensing and Permit Fees
Municipalities are authorized to prescribe, prohibit and regulate many activities of individuals
and organizations. This power is exercised through the issuance of licenses or permits for which
the municipality charges widely varying fees. Licensing has been defined as “a privilege to do
something which persons without permission may not lawfully do.”71 A permit can be defined as
“a document obtained from a government body stating that the holder has met the preconditions
for permission to do a specified act.”72 While a license usually grants permission to engage in an
activity over an extended period of time and may confer monopoly value in the marketplace, a
permit is usually employed to authorize a specific act of short duration and does not ordinarily
confer any monopoly value.
Building permits are a good example; they certify that the plans for a proposed building have
been submitted to, and approved by, the municipality, and authorize construction to begin.
Ontario Regulation 305/03 establishes limits and conditions on the imposition of building permit
fees. Amendments to the Building Code Act that took effect on July 1, 2005 limited building
permit fees to anticipated reasonable costs of administering and enforcing the Act. In addition,
municipalities must report annually on building permit fees and must hold public meetings
before building permit fees are changed. Ontario Regulation 236/05 postponed the
implementation of the annual building permit report (and several other matters relating to
qualification requirements and time frames for the review of applications) until January 1,
2006.73
The Municipal Act used to specify over a hundred different subjects that could be licensed, and
also provided for license fees that varied from a nominal amount to thousands of dollars to
whatever the municipality decided. Revenues from license fees have always been negligible,
however, because of the widespread view that the main purpose of licensing was regulatory not
raising revenues.

71

Association of Municipal Managers, Clerks and Treasurers of Ontario, Reference Paper on Municipal Licensing,
Toronto, 1975, p. 1 (out of print and since replaced with an updated 2004 “How-To” Manual).

72

Ibid., p. 2.

73 Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing, Ontario Regulation 236/05, Fact Sheet, May 19, 2005, available at
www.mah.gov.on.ca.
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A major change with respect to licensing was introduced in 1996 with the Savings and
Restructuring Act (Bill 26)In place of the various specific legislative provisions on licensing,
municipalities were given a blanket power to pass by-laws for licensing, regulating, and
governing any business carried on within the municipality. While this change was seen as
providing more discretion to municipalities and more potential to raise revenues, there were
some constraints or limit
The licensing power defined in Bill 26 basically excluded manufacturing and wholesale
activities. The Minister was authorized to exempt any business or class of business from any or
all parts of licensing by-law. In addition, municipalities must justify any fee on the basis of the
cost of administering and enforcing the licensing by-law. While this last provision is consistent
with the longstanding view that licensing is for regulatory purposes not raising revenue, at least
municipalities were authorized to recoup the costs of the licensing function – whereas the
previous legislation set out specific fees that in many cases were minimal.
The new Municipal Act states that municipalities may only license businesses for three
purposes:
1. Health and safety
2. Nuisance control
3. Consumer protection
While this stipulation seems to be a further limitation on licensing, in fact it essentially codified
the three main grounds on which the courts had been upholding licensing activities in the past.
Licensing by-laws that were in force on December 31, 2002 were permitted under section
457(1) of the new Act to remain in effect. These by-laws continued in effect until their repeal or
January 1, 2006 – whichever came first – but they could not be amended. By-laws passed
under the new Act expire five years after they come into force – in effect requiring a five year
review.
Legislation related to licensing received a major overhaul in 2006 through the passage of the
Statute Law Amendment Act. Part IV of the Municipal Act has been changed to reflect
significant change in municipal licensing. The authority to license is now either in broad powers
(for single tier) or spheres (two tier structures)Licensing powers have been extended and no
longer limited to the purposes of health and safety, nuisance control and consumer protection.
Fees for licensing now considered under the general fees and charges provision of the
Municipal Act. Some restrictions still continue in that there is no authority to license a
manufacturing or industrial business, the sale of goods by wholesale or the generation,
exploitation, extraction, harvesting, processing, renewal or transportation of natural resources.
Some of the legislation remains the same under the changes. A municipality can limit the
number of taxicab licenses and set fares/rates for taxicabs and tow trucks. The Minister still has
regulation making authority.
There are new sections in the legislation too. It is now possible to have an administrative
suspension of a license and a license can be suspended without a hearing for 28 days under
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various conditions. There is now authority to require payment of administrative penalties for
failure to comply with a by-law related to a business license.
Certain restrictions on licensing have been lifted under the new legislation. There is no longer a
requirement to explain the purpose of licensing in the by-law. There is no requirement for notice
and public meeting before passing a licensing by-law and the five year “sunset” of the licensing
by-law has been removed.
Regulation 243/02 under the Municipal Act has been revoked effective January, 2007 and
replaced by regulation 583/06.

Fines and Penalties
Some revenue is derived from fines imposed for contravention of municipal by- laws, most
commonly with respect to local parking and traffic by-law violations and violations of building bylaws and regulations. Also in this category are penalties and interest charges imposed on
overdue and unpaid taxes – matters discussed in the next lesson. Revenues derived from fines
and penalties can be substantial in some municipalities in some circumstances, but this
situation could only be considered a mixed blessing, since it would signify that the municipality
was having problems in collecting taxes and/or gaining compliance with its by-laws.

Revenues From POA Transfer
One component of this category is the revenue stream arising from changes to the
administration of the Provincial Offences Act (POA).74 These changes were proposed by the
Who Does What panel chaired by David Crombie, and were incorporated in Bill 108, the
Streamlining of the Provincial Offences Act, which became law on June 11, 1998.
This Act provides for the transfer to municipalities of:


the administration and prosecution of Part I of the POA (mainly speeding tickets under
the Highway Traffic Act) and the remainder of Part II (parking infractions having already
been transferred) and



administration support but not prosecution for the more serious offences covered by Part
III of the POA.

While the net financial benefit from this change has not been as substantial as originally
predicted, it does provide a stable, if modest, revenue stream for municipalities.

Special Capital Levies and Development Charges
This category takes in two separate forms of revenue raising that are both concerned with
allocating at least a portion of the capital expenditures associated with new development (such
74 Since these revenues arise from the collection of fines and surcharges, they are included under the heading of
“fines and penalties,” rather than as a separate category.
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as paved roads, sidewalks, and sewerage services) to the parties directly benefiting, rather than
having these expenditures borne by all taxpayers in the municipality. In that sense, therefore,
these levies and charges might be seen as more of an alternative to the property tax than as an
additional source of revenue. But they do free up more of the property tax yield for other
municipal purposes and they reduce the municipality’s need to debenture and all of the long
term financial implications that result from that step.

Special Capital Levies
The first point to note is that these are capital levies, and are not to be confused with the special
levies that are often used in connection with current expenditures to reflect variations in the
provision of services. For example, the provision of limited, urban-type services in an otherwise
rural area will often be financed by the imposition of a special levy on top of the basic tax rate. A
special levy or flat rate charge will also usually be imposed to properties in a specialized service
area, such as a portion of the municipality that receives door-to-door garbage collection. In all
these cases, however, the special levies relate to current expenditures, whereas the category
we are examining here relates to capital expenditures.
Special capital levies have long been provided under the Local Improvement Act, which was
repealed with the passage of the new Municipal Act. Ontario Regulation 586/06 under the new
legislation outlines the procedures relating to local improvement charges, which are essentially
unchanged. These charges are based on the metres of frontage of the properties receiving or
benefiting from the service in question. The rate is normally uniform but in those instances
where there are different degrees of benefit derived from non-abutting properties – as in the
case of the construction of a trunk sewer – there may be different rates according to the varying
degrees of benefit. However, in all instances a uniform rate per metre still applies to all
properties receiving the same degree of benefit. Regulation 586/06 also contains provisions
relating to such matters as public notice of municipal intention to pass a local improvement bylaw and local petitions for and against such undertakings.75
Sewers are the most significant capital project constructed and paid for by special levies, with
other undertakings including pavement works, waterworks, street lighting, parks, and parking
lots. Other statutes that authorize special capital levies include the Ontario Water Resources
Act, the Shoreline Property Assistance Act, the Tile Drainage Act, and the Police Act.

Development Charges
With the rapid urbanization following the Second World War, a number of measures have been
introduced in an attempt to have developers assume responsibility for providing or paying for
municipal services associated with their new developments. Enforcing this responsibility has
been relatively straightforward in the case of those services within the development area, such
as sidewalks, streetlights, roads, sanitary sewage, water services, parks, and tree planting.
These are normally the direct responsibility of the developer, whose obligations in this respect
are set down in a subdivision agreement with the municipality, the existence of which is one of
the prerequisites to approval of a subdivision plan

75

The complete regulation can be accessed at www.e-laws.gov.on.ca.
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These subdivision agreements protect the municipality from having to absorb the servicing costs
of a new development and to pass these on to all taxpayers within its boundaries. For their part,
developers expect to recover these costs by including them in the sale price of the lots or homes
being developed. So, as with the capital levies discussed above, the ultimate result is to shift the
cost burden of the capital expenditures to those who will be directly benefiting.
But developments also often give rise to servicing costs beyond their area – as with the need to
expand sewage treatment facilities or to enlarge sewers and water lines – and recouping funds
from developers to cover these additional costs has been more problematic over the years.
Municipalities used to charge lot levies (often called impost fees or capital imposts) on each new
lot created by subdivision or severance. By the 1980s, however, decisions by the Ontario
Municipal Board and the Courts76 had largely restricted lot levies to offsite “hard services”
related to a development, not “soft services” such as additional fire stations, library expansions,
additional police stations, recreational facilities, hospitals, or even additional municipal office
space. As a result, municipalities lobbied the province to pass new legislation that would permit
a broader range of lot levies extending into the soft services area.
The provincial response took the form of the Development Charges Act, 1989It broadened the
scope of development charges but at the price of a more complex and elaborate process.
Development charges had to be based on growth-related net capital costs, and there were
requirements for public meetings and an appeal to the Ontario Municipal Board.
Experience under this legislation over the first half of the 1990s was decidedly mixed, and can
be briefly summarized as follows:


A number of municipalities were not ready with new development charges by the
November 1991 deadline set out in the Act, and found themselves without any means of
raising revenues from this source.



Other municipalities chose not to pass a development charges by-law.



Still others completed the necessary studies, determined the amount of development
charge that they could justify, and then reduced the charge in line with those found in
neighbouring jurisdictions in an attempt to remain competitive in attracting development.

Following the June 1995 election, the new Conservative government announced that it was
undertaking a review of the development charges legislation, which it felt was contributing to
excessively high housing costs. The
outcome of that review was the current
Development Charges Curtailed
legislation, the Development Charges Act,
1997The new Act and its accompanying
Applicable to fewer services and can
regulation (O. Reg 82/98) reduce the scope
only recoup 90 percent of costs of this
of services for which municipalities may
reduced list, with notable exceptions.
impose development charges by excluding
cultural or entertainment facilities (not
76

See, for example, Re Mills et al and Land Division Committee of the Regional Municipality of York et al, O.R. (2d)
349, Re Frey and the Regional Municipality of Peel Land Division Committee, 2 M.P.L.R. 1, April 1977, and Steel
Company of Canada vs. the City of Nanticoke, 6 O.M.B.R. See also W.D. Russell, “The Perils of Municipal Lot Levies
– Parts 1 and 2,” Municipal World, December 1977 and January 1978.
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including libraries), tourism facilities, parkland acquisition, hospitals, waste management
services, municipal offices, local municipal roads and other services as prescribed.
Municipalities have to fund these exclusions from sources of revenue other than development
charges.
The legislation also provides that the costs of eligible services, with some notable exceptions,
are discounted by 10 percent in the calculation of growth-related net capital costs for purposes
of funding from development charges revenues. The exceptions to this discount provision are as
follows; water and sewer, roads and related services, fire protection and police protection, works
yards and storm water drainage and control systems. For a complete summary of the eligibility
of all municipal services, please see Appendix C – Table 4-1, Categories of Municipal Services,
extract from the Town of Milton, 2010 Development Charges Background Study, December 6,
2010 (amended June 10, 2011) prepared by Watson and Associates Economists Ltd.
The legislation also sets out a number of requirements that provide for greater disclosure and
accountability. These include:


The authority to prescribe by regulation the disclosure of development charge revenues
and expenditures in the annual statement of the Treasurer;



The requirement for municipalities to prepare a background study that clarifies the types
of services for which they will be imposing development charges and provides detailed
information on how the development charges will be calculated;



The requirement that this background study be made available to the public when a
municipality seeks to pass a development charges by-law; and



The requirement that a pamphlet outlining development charges in effect in a
municipality must be available to anyone requesting such a document following the
adoption of a development charges by-law by a municipality.

All development charges by-laws passed under the previous legislation expired no later than
August 31, 1999, by which time municipalities had to have in place by-laws passed under the
new Act if they wished to obtain revenues from this source. Such revenues are now somewhat
smaller as a result of the new Act – given the more limited scope of coverage and the 90
percent limit on cost recovery for all but a few important exceptions among the eligible services.
Reducing the municipal revenue yield to stimulate development activity was, of course, a stated
objective of the legislation.
However, municipalities and their associations continue to press for revisions to the legislation
that would remove the 90 percent limit and allow for increased financing of capital expenditures
from development charges rather than from increased taxes on all ratepayers in a municipality.
The Municipal Finance Officers Association of Ontario are currently building and documenting a
case for reforms to the Development Charges Act that will better enable municipalities to
recover growth related costs from new development.77 On the other hand, the development
77 Municipal Finance Officers Association of Ontario website, www.mfoa.on.ca, News from MFOA on Development
Charges, March 10, 2011.
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community is concerned about the increasing cost of development charges. They are
recommending the Province pay a greater share of the cost of municipal infrastructure such as
fire stations and libraries and provide more transit funding and the municipalities implement user
fees in place of development charges wherever possible.78

Income from Investments
Another source of miscellaneous local revenues is interest earned from the investment of
surplus funds that become temporarily available to a municipality. Such a surplus arises
periodically for various reasons including interim tax payments and receipt of a transfer
payment. Subject to any statutory limitations, this money should be invested to earn additional
revenue for the municipality. This action should be taken as part of a broader system of cash
planning and short-term money management designed to maximize opportunities for short term
investment while also minimizing the need to rely on short term borrowing.79
Regulation 265/02 which amended regulation 438/97, enacted under the new Municipal Act,
broadens the scope of investments that may be made with funds not immediately required by
the municipality.80 The revised regulation permits prescribed municipalities (those with a
specified bond rating) to invest in a number of prescribed securities. It requires, if a municipality
has not already done so, that it adopt a statement of investment procedures and goals and in
preparing such statement the council is to consider the adoption of appropriate risk
management strategies and procedures through which a municipality is expected to address its
risk tolerance, the preservation of its capital, and the need for a diversified portfolio of
investments. Further changes to eligible investments and related financial agreements are
covered under regulations 399/02, 655/05, 607/06, 39/07, 292/09 and 52/11.

Miscellaneous Local Revenues Recap
With the decline in transfer payments (slowed but not reversed by recent improvements) and
the reluctance of councils to raise the property tax, miscellaneous local revenues have emerged
as the category – if only by default. There have been some rather optimistic predictions about
the ability of this category to generate the additional revenues needed by municipalities
It should be evident from the preceding discussions, however, that this view is open to question.
It is true that municipalities now have more flexibility in exercising their licensing powers and in
charging fees that recoup the cost of administering and enforcing these powers – but within
various limits. They also have somewhat greater scope with respect to user charges, but again
subject to limits imposed by the Minister and the Courts

78

The Globe and Mail, Hidden Fees Hike Cost of New Homes in GTA by as Much as 30 Percent, March 10, 2011.

79

For details on short-term money management, see Lesson 5 of Unit Three of the Municipal Administration Program
of AMCTO.

80

The summary that follows is drawn from Heather Douglas, New Municipal Financial Tools, paper. presented at a
conference of The Canadian Institute, “Ontario’s New Municipal Laws and Regulations,” June 18-19, 2003, p. 19.
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Additional revenues have resulted from the transfer to the local level of the administration of the
Provincial Offences Act. On the other hand, more stringent provisions relating to development
charges reduce the yield from this source.
Overall, the combined impact of the various changes affecting miscellaneous local revenues is
likely to be a modest gain, but the specific impact will vary from one municipality to the next
depending upon local circumstances.81

Reporting on Transfers and Miscellaneous Local Revenues
Municipalities report on their revenues in a number of ways to meet a variety of needs. They
must compile an annual financial information return (FIR) that is submitted to the province and
they must also prepare annual financial statements that are audited and provided to the public
as part of the municipality’s accountability to its ratepayers. In addition, however, municipalities
may – and should – prepare in-year financial statements that report to council and senior
management on the extent to which revenues are being received in line with the budget
expectations. All of these reports are examined below.

Reporting in the FIR
The reporting of revenues in the FIR is outlined in the order in which these revenues sources
were described in this lesson, which means that we begin with the various types of transfer
payment.

Reporting of Transfers
Transfer payments are reported in several schedules of the FIR, as summarized
below.

Reporting of Unconditional Transfers
Unconditional transfers received by the municipality are reported within Schedule 10 of the
Financial Information Return (Revenue Fund Receipts)Schedule 10, set out in Appendix A of
this lesson, is a summary schedule that compiles information from a variety of other schedules
(20 to 28, 72 and 12)It includes the total of all Ontario and Canada conditional transfers
received (as reported in Schedule 12) and information on various miscellaneous local revenues
that are discussed later in this lesson.

Reporting of Conditional Transfers
Conditional transfers for current or operational expenditures from both the provincial and federal
government are reported in Schedule 12 of the Financial Information Return (Current Revenue
for Specific Functions), which is also found in Appendix A of this lesson. The transfer
information is reported under the appropriate functional category; for example, transfers for

81 For further discussion of miscellaneous local revenues, see AMCTO, Municipal Administration Program, Unit 3,
Lesson 3.
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general (welfare) assistance are reported under the category
of social and family services at Line 1210 of Schedule 12.
Gasoline tax revenues that municipalities now receive (as
described above) are reported in the Revenue Fund as a
conditional grant for Transit services if the gasoline tax
revenues were utilized during the year. Reserve funds set up
to retain gasoline tax revenues are reported as deferred
revenue on Schedule 60 of the FIR.

Reporting of PILs
Payments in lieu are reported in Schedule 24 of the FIR (Payments-in-Lieu of Taxation), which
has four parts. It is on the fourth part, Schedule 24D (Supplementary Payments-in-Lieu), Line
8055, that the “heads and beds” payments are reported. All four parts of this schedule are
provided in Appendix B of this lesson. Payments in lieu, and their distribution among the
categories of school board, are also reported in Schedule 26.

Reporting of Miscellaneous Local Revenues
As noted early in this lesson, various miscellaneous local revenues are reported in Schedules
12 and 10 of the FIR (Current Revenues for Specific Functions and Revenue Fund Receipts),
found in Appendix A More specifically:


Revenue from the Provincial Offences Act is reported on Line 0460 of Schedule 12,
under Protection Services.



User Fees and Service Charges are reported in Column 4 of Schedule 12.



License, permits, rents, etcare reported in Schedule 10, Lines 1410 to 1499.



Fines and Penalties (including revenues from the POA) are reported in Schedule 10,
Lines 1605 to 1699.



Investment income is reported as part of Other Revenue in Schedule 10, at Line 1805.

Please note that development charges received are not reported as revenue in Schedule 10, but
are entered as deferred revenue in Schedule 60, Continuity of Reserves and Reserve Funds.
These funds are examined in more detail in Unit Two of this program. However, development
charges earned are shown on Line 1812 as Deferred Revenue earned.
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Reporting in the Financial Statements
According to the PSAB Handbook (Section PS 1200.012), “financial statements should present
any information required for the fair presentation of a government’s financial position, results of
operations, change in net debt and cash flow. As a result, financial statements should include a
statement of financial position, a statement of operations, a statement of change in net debt,
and a statement of cash flow (PS 1200.031). Revenues, including gains, should be recognized
in the period in which the transactions or events occurred or were realized (PS 1200.077)
Financial statements should disclose the expenses of the accounting period by object (PS
1200.083).”

Reporting Government Transfers
The subject of accounting for and reporting Government Transfers has been under review by
PSAB for several years because of a number of issues. However, with the recent change to full
accrual accounting and the January 1, 2009 change to accounting and reporting of tangible
capital assets, there was more pressure on PSAB to provide clear direction on how government
transfers are recognized from an accounting standpoint.
PSAB had issued a total of four Exposure and Re-exposure Drafts on the subject. When PSAB
approved the change to full accrual accounting, the government community identified a need for
additional guidance and clarification with the intent and requirements of the revised Section PS
3410 pertaining to Government Transfers.82
According to the PSAB Handbook until it was changed in March, 2011:83
Government transfers should be recognized in a government’s financial
statements as expenditures or revenues in the period that the events giving rise
to the transfer occurred, as long as:
a) the transfer is authorized;
b) eligibility criteria, if any, have been met by the recipient; and
c) a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made.
The basis for determining the amount recognized for any particular transfer
should be applied consistently from year to year. Judgment will be required to
account for transfers in a manner that best reflects the substance of the
underlying events rather than the form or funding pattern.
As stated earlier, after much thought and debate about appropriate changes for the accounting
treatment of Government Transfers, PSAB issued in March, 2011, its new standard PS 3410
which replaces the existing standard PS 3410.

82
83

Grant Thornton, New Development Summary, Government Transfers, May 9, 2011.

Chartered Professional Accountants, Public Sector Accounting Handbook, Section PS 3410.07.(prior to March,
2011)

Unit 1
Municipal Accounting and Finance Program

Page 167

PSAB has indicated that the new standard provides guidance for accounting and reporting
government transfers from both a transferring government and a recipient government
perspective. It clarifies the difference between eligibility criteria and stipulations and their roles in
the recognition of government transfers by the transferring and recipient government. It explains
how the definition of liabilities in Section PS 3200, Liabilities, should apply to the recognition of
government transfers by a recipient government. It addresses what evidence would be required
to support the authorization of a government transfer from the perspective of the transferring
government.84
The highlights of the standard are summarized by BDO at www.bdo,.ca in a recent article as
follows:85

Transferor
A transferring government or government organization recognizes an expense
when the transfer is authorized and the recipients have met
any eligibility criteria.

Recipient


A recipient government or government organization recognizes the transfer
as revenue when the transfer is authorized by the transferring government
(organization), unless it meets the definition of a liability for the recipient. The
authorization has to be in place by the financial statement date.



A liability related to the transfer may result from:

•

Receiving an asset prior to meeting any eligibility criteria;

•

Specific stipulations contained in the transfer agreement; or

•

Unclear stipulations but the recipient creates a liability through its own
actions and communications related to the terms of the transfer by the
financial statement date

Stipulations are terms imposed by a transferring government regarding the use of
the transfer or the actions a recipient must perform in order to keep a transfer.
The recipient will have already met the eligibility criteria; a stipulation must be
met after the transfer is provided. For example, a provincial government making
a transfer to a municipality may stipulate how the transfer should be used by
stating that it must be used for a particular activity or for a specific region or they
may stipulate when the transfer may be used.
The new standard for local governments is effective for the fiscal year 2013 but PSAB is
encouraging earlier adoption.

Reporting Miscellaneous Local Revenues
84

Public Sector Accounting Board, A Basis for Conclusion, Government Transfers, PS 3410, April, 2011.

85

BDO, Assurance and Accounting, PSAB Update, Government Transfers, March, 2011..
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Here again, miscellaneous local revenues should be recorded on an accrual basis.
Revenues are accounted for in the period the transactions or events give rise to the revenues
occurred (for example, user fees in the period the goods and services are provided)
Government Transfers, Section PS 3410, sets out the recognition criteria for revenue arising
from government transfers. Tax Revenue, Section PS 3510, sets out the recognition criteria for
revenue arising from tax transactions. Accounting for all of a government’s revenues ensures
that related assets are accounted for in the period they are created(PS 1200.078)
Municipalities may receive amounts before the transactions or events occur that give rise to the
revenues. These amounts are not included in revenue, but are considered deferred revenue
until the municipality discharges the obligations that led to the collection of the funds (PS
3100.07)Development charges are the prime example.
Short term investments are reported in the statement of financial position at the end of the
accounting period (PS 3030.02) Financial statements should disclose (PS 3030.03) adequate
information about the nature and terms of a government’s short term investments together with
any valuation allowances.

In-Year Financial Reporting
While the mandatory year-end financial statements are audited and provided to the public as a
reflection of municipal accountability to the local citizenry, financial statements and reports are
also a management tool for senior staff and council. If they are to be effective for this purpose,
they must be provided on a timely and frequent basis, so that decision makers are kept
informed throughout the year, not just at (or a few months after) year-end. Therefore, financial
information on an accrual basis should be reported on at least a quarterly and preferably a
monthly basis.
The preceding lesson discussed the use of these internal, optional reports and provided three
generic examples to show the different levels of informational detail that might be appropriate
for a department head, the treasurer, and the council. These reports focused on expenditures
(consistent with the subject matter of Lesson 3) and it is expenditures that receive most of the
attention if a municipality is doing in-year tracking through internal reports. However, it is equally
important that regular reports be prepared that track the influx of revenues and compare the
yield with the revenue assumptions underlying the approved annual budget. To take three
examples:


A municipality with four payment dates for property taxes would benefit from quarterly
reports that compare the tax revenues received with those anticipated – although tax
revenues are the subject of the next lesson.



If a municipality is anticipating a certain revenue stream arising from development
charges, regular reports are needed to determine whether the expected development
(and resulting revenue) is materializing.



If a municipality projects certain revenues on the basis of new and/or increased user
charges and licensing fees, these need to be carefully tracked to determine if the
expected revenues are accruing. What if increased user fees for particular services
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result in a decrease in the number of users and actually reduce the revenue flow? This is
not something to discover only in the year-end financial statements.
In-year reports that compare actual expenditures with budgeted amounts, while noting any
significant variances, are now increasingly common in municipalities and are an excellent tool
for monitoring and financial control. But it is equally important to have timely, regular in-year
reports that compare actual revenues with the amounts contemplated in the budget. Discovering
too late that one’s revenues have not materialized is just as much a financial crisis as
discovered too late that there have been over-expenditures in certain areas.
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Lesson Highlights and Points To Remember
►

Transfer Payments
These consist of (1) conditional transfers, (2) unconditional transfers, and (3) payments
in lieu of taxes.
1. Conditional transfers, money with conditions attached as to how it could be spent,
proliferated throughout the 20th century until there were more than 100 such
transfers by the 1980s. Almost all of these transfers were eliminated during the
1990s, however, as a result of provincial deficit and debt reduction efforts and in
conjunction with a new alignment of provincial and local responsibilities and costs
arising from the Who Does What exercise of the mid-1990s. The main conditional
transfers that remain with respect to operating expenses are in the health and social
services field. The past couple of years have seen some new provincial and federal
financial assistance for infrastructure investment as well as other measures to ease
the financial pressure on municipalities.
2. The much more limited unconditional transfers have also been combined and
reduced over the past decade. The main transfer left in this category is the Ontario
Municipal Partnership Fund (OMPF) and about 40 municipalities no longer receive
funding from this source.
3. The report on the Provincial-Municipal Fiscal and Service Delivery has begun
providing some financial relief to municipalities and talks between the province and
municipalities will continue to pursue a more balanced relationship.
4. In June of 2011, the Province released a 10-year capital plan for the province and
the greater public sector. The actual impact on municipal infrastructure funding is not
known but it does appear the Province will be requiring better long term financial
planning by municipalities with more emphasis on asset management and financial
sustainability.
5. Payments in lieu are essentially unconditional transfers, paid to municipalities to
compensate them for the revenues unavailable to them from tax-exempt properties.
Under the Municipal Tax Assistance Act, these payments are equal to the amount
that would have been generated by taxing these properties, but the “heads and
beds” payments under the Municipal Act fall well below the tax yield equivalent and
have long been a source of controversy. There have also been some problems with
federal payments in lieu over the years since the federal government has always
treated these payments as optional and has not felt obliged to accept the assessed
values placed on its exempt properties in determining how much it will pay. A federal
Grants in Lieu of Taxes Act passed in 2000 provides a number of improvements.
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Miscellaneous Local Revenues
While there is no precise definition for this category, the lesson examines five sources:
1. User charges are an important and growing source, favoured by economists.
However, the revenue potential of this source was not expanded by Bill 26, the 1996
Savings and Restructuring Act as much as first anticipated and there are a number
of limits and constraints within the provisions of the new Municipal Act.
Improvements have now been made under the Municipal Statute Law Amendment
Act of 2006.
2. The story is much the same for licensing and permit fees, which were given more
scope by Bill 26, but less than predicted, and which continue to face constraints
under the Municipal Act. However, the Municipal Statute Law Amendment Act of
2006 has provided more flexibility in dealing with licenses and permits.
3. Fines and penalties arise from regulatory and enforcement activity and are not
intended primarily as a way of raising revenues. However, this source has increased
in recent years as result of the transfer to the municipal level of various
responsibilities and revenues relating to the administration of the Provincial Offences
Act.
4. Special capital levies to finance capital expenditures in localized areas of a
municipality through the imposition of charges on the benefiting properties can be
implemented under a number of statutes, including the Municipal Act.
Development charges can be imposed for growth-related net capital costs at 100
percent for some services and up to 90 percent of the cost of certain defined
services. However, some services are not eligible for recovery at all. Through this
means the municipality attempts to pass on to the developer the capital costs of new
services required as a result of a subdivision or severance – who, in turn, passes
these costs on to consumers in the price of the lot or accommodation.
5. Income from investments arises from the short term investment of temporarily
surplus funds identified through effective short term money management.

►

Reporting on Transfers and Miscellaneous Local Revenues
Transfer payments are recorded in several schedules of the FIR, particularly Schedules
12 and 10, and also Schedules 24 and 26 in the case of PILs Schedules 12 and 10 are
also used for reporting on most miscellaneous local revenues. A notable exception is
development charges, which are reported as deferred revenue in Schedule 60 of the
FIR.
Transfer payments and miscellaneous local revenues are also reported, on an accrual
basis, in the annual audited financial statements of the municipality. But amounts
received before the transactions or events that give rise to the revenues (notably
development charges) are not included in revenues but are considered deferred
revenue.
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Appendices A and B
On the next three pages you will find Schedules 10 and 12 of the FIR. These are followed, on
the subsequent four pages, by Schedule 24 of the FIR.
All of these schedules can also be viewed at the FIR web site at
http://csconramp.mah.gov.on.ca/fir/Welcome.htm.
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Appendix C
Table 4-1, Categories of Municipal Services, extract from the Town of Milton, 2010
Development Charges Background Study, December 6, 2010 (amended June 10, 2011)
prepared by Watson and Associates Economists Ltd.
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Regulations on any of the topics herein can be found at www.e-laws.gov.on.ca.
Information on new developments relating to transfers and miscellaneous local revenues may
appear on a number of association web sites including:




www.amcto.com for the Association of Municipal Managers, Clerks and Treasurers of
Ontario.
www.mfoa.on.ca for the Municipal Finance Officers of Ontario.
www.amo.com for the Association of Municipalities of Ontario.

Other possible sources include the web sites of the Ontario ministries of Municipal Affairs and
Housing www.mah.gov.on.ca and Finance www.fin.on.ca .
The FIR and various instructions relating to completion of its schedules are found at
http://csconramp.mah.gov.on.ca/fir/FIR2010.
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Review Questions
1. Describe and compare the three types of transfer payment available to municipalities.
2. The potential of user charges as a source of municipal revenues is considerable, but
there are still limits and constraints. Discuss and explain this statement.
3. What are the key provisions governing licensing fees in the Municipal Act?
4. Why did municipalities call for a broadening of legislation dealing with development
charges, and how well does the current legislation meet their objectives?
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Lesson 5 – Municipal Revenues II: Property Taxation
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Learning Objectives and Outcomes
By the end of this lesson, students should be able to:
1. Explain and evaluate the system of property assessment in Ontario.
2. Demonstrate understanding of the system of property taxation in Ontario.
3. Explain and illustrate the calculation of property taxes.
4. Evaluate the methods of collecting, and enforcing payment of taxes.
5. Explain and illustrate accounting and financial reporting for property taxes.

Introduction
This lesson addresses the second part of the discussion about Municipal Revenues, focusing
on property taxation. It analyzes the property assessment and taxation system, the calculation
of property taxes and other tax considerations It also examines the issues relating to levying
and collection. The lesson concludes with a discussion about the cancellations, adjustments
and refunds of taxes.
This is the second of two lessons dealing with municipal revenues. Lesson 4 examined transfer
payments and miscellaneous local revenues. These two non-tax revenue sources are
subtracted from the total funds required by the municipality during the annual budget process to
determine the amount to be raised from taxation. It is that final source, property taxation, which
is the focus of this concluding lesson of Unit 1.
The property tax, as its name indicates, is a tax levied upon property – essentially defined as all
land and buildings, and certain other types of structure and fixtures. All of the real property
within a municipality is
assessed and given a
dollar value. Some
properties (such as
churches) can be
exempt from taxation,
but all the rest make up
the tax base of the
municipality.
The amount that a
municipality requires
from taxation each year
is divided by this
taxable assessment to
arrive at a tax rate,
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although with quite a few extra wrinkles that will be discussed later in this lesson. This rate,
expressed either to eight decimals or as a percentage to six decimals, is really nothing more
than a mathematical ratio – the factor that will generate the amount of money needed when
applied against the available assessment. It follows that the larger the assessment base, the
lower the tax rate needed to generate a given amount of revenue, as in the very simple example
below.
Assessment is the Key
Situation 1:
Amount to be raised

$1,000,000
--------------- = .00500000
Weighted Assessment $200,000,000

Situation 2:
Amount to be raised

$1,000,000
---------------- = .00250000
Weighted Assessment $400,000,000

Since the amount of assessment available to be taxed is the key to revenue generation for a
municipality, the process followed in assessing property is clearly of central importance. As will
become apparent, that process was badly flawed until the introduction of major reforms in the
latter part of the 1990sThese reforms have brought a much improved system of assessment,
but they have been accompanied by a very complicated series of changes to property taxation.
These changes have been well documented elsewhere86 and need not be repeated in detail
herein. Instead, it seems more useful to focus our discussions on the current state of property
taxation in Ontario, the culmination of the many changes over the past few years. We begin,
however, with an examination of assessment reform.

The Property Assessment System
Properties are supposed to be assessed at their actual or market value – that is, at the price
that would be obtained with a willing buyer and seller and free market conditions. While this
concept was first introduced in the Assessment Act of 1850, the assessments carried out by
municipalities over the following 120 years were almost always well below market value – not
least because low assessments gave taxpayers the illusion that they were getting away with
something. When land values soared with the rapid urbanization following the Second World
War, assessed values fell way behind actual values, but to varying degrees in different
municipalities. As a result, there were growing criticisms of the inequitable and unfair nature of
tax burdens.
The Ontario government took over from the municipal level the responsibility for property
assessment in January 1970, with the objective of reassessing all properties to full market
value. For a variety of reasons that need not concern us here, achieving this objective proved
quite problematic.87 The actual reassessment of properties was not that difficult but the province
was hesitant to introduce the new values because of the extent to which tax burdens would shift
within property classes as past inequities were corrected. As will be seen, this concern has
86

In particular, see the Association of Municipal Managers, Clerks and Treasurers of Ontario, Municipal
Administration Program, Unit Three, Lesson Two and the Association of Municipal Tax Collectors of Ontario,
Municipal Tax Administration Program, various lessons.
87

For background on this period, see Municipal Administration Program, Unit Three, Lesson Two
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continued to bedevil the efforts to reform the system.

The Basis of Assessment
By the 1990s, a number of reports were insisting on the need for assessment reform.88 In
response, the province announced in mid-January 1997 that it would proceed with a new
system of current value assessment that was essentially the same as the market value
assessment that had proven so elusive over the preceding decades. In one notable departure,
however, the province first announced a system that would, when fully implemented, establish
assessment values on a three year rolling average. But averaging was postponed indefinitely
(and probably permanently) in the 2003 Ontario budget because of additional complications it
would bring to an already very complex system.
Municipal associations welcomed this change. The AMCTO, for example, had argued against
the introduction of the averaging provisions on the grounds that they:89


would confuse municipal property owners (who are just beginning to understand the new
assessment values being assigned to their properties);



would greatly complicate the assessment appeal process (since an appeal of one year’s
assessed value would require an examination of the assessed values for the preceding
three years);



would overload the Municipal Property Assessment Corporation; and



would be very problematic in the commercial and industrial sectors due to the lack of
commercial and industrial sales data and other complexities relating to such things as
properties moving between the industrial and commercial classes as the nature of their
business activity changes.

The table summarizes the (re)assessment
schedule that has been followed since the
introduction of the current value system.
It should be noted that beginning in 2009,
eligible increases in current market value
assessments are being phased in over a four
year period. For example, if a property
assessed at $180,000 at its 2005 assessed
value and is increasing to $220,000 at its 2008
market value, the property will not be taxed on
the value of $220,000 until 2012. The increase
will be phased in as follows; $190,000 in 2009,
$200,000 in 2010, $210,000 in 2011 and
88 See, for example, Fair Tax Commission, Fair Taxation in a Changing World, Queen’s Printer, 1993, and Report of
the GTA Task Force (Anne Golden, Chair), Greater Toronto, January 1996.
89 A Report from the AMCTO Property Tax Project Team, Concerns and Observations: Assessment Averaging and
Tax Mitigation Tools, January 2004, available from its web site at www.amcto.com.
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$220,000 in 2012. Of interest too is the fact that assessment decreases are not phased in.90

Responsibility for Assessment
The property assessment function to be known post-1997 as the Ontario Fair Assessment
System was transferred from the province to a new Ontario Property Assessment Corporation
as a result of legislation passed in December 1997Every municipality in Ontario is a member of
this corporation and municipal councillors and staff initially made up 12 of the 14 members on its
governing board. Municipalities pay the corporation for the assessment services that they
receive. Ironically, when the province renamed this body the Municipal Property Assessment
Corporation (MPAC) in 2001, it reduced municipal representation on the board to seven
members, along with five taxpayer representatives and two provincial appointees.91
There are four main components in Ontario’s property assessment and taxation system. Each
plays an important role.


The Provincial Government passes legislation, sets property tax policies and sets
education tax rates.



The Municipal Property Assessment Corporation (MPAC) establishes current value
assessments and classifications for all properties in Ontario.



Municipalities determine their revenue requirements, set municipal tax rates and collect
property taxes.



The Assessment Review Board, an independent tribunal that is part of the Environment
and Land Tribunals Ontario cluster which reports to the Ontario Ministry of the Attorney
General, hears assessment appeals from property taxpayers.92

Tax Exempt Properties
The main categories of property exempt from taxation have continued under the new legislation
(section 3 of the Assessment Act), along with three main changes:

90
91
92



The exemption from taxation for “property held in trust for a band or body of Indians” was
eliminated, bringing Ontario into line with all other provinces by closing a tax loophole
that exempted native-owned off-reserve lands from property taxes.



Eligible conservation lands – that is provincially significant wetlands, areas of natural and
scientific interest, and habitats for rare or endangered species – are now exempt from
taxation.



There is a new exemption with respect to small live theatres (as defined) and larger
theatres that are owned and operated by non-profit corporations.

Municipal Property Assessment Corporation, Valuation data, website accessed, June 18, 2011.
For details on MPAC, see its web site at www.mpac.ca.
Accessed from MPAC 2010 Annual Report, page 10, June 18, 2011.
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Classes and Coding of Property
Section 7 of the Assessment Act provides that the Minister shall prescribe property classes for
the purpose of the Act, and sets out seven main or core classes that apply universally. These
are listed in the table below, along with new classes for railway rights- of-way and utility
transmission and distribution corridors. All property classes are identified by coding found on the
assessment roll provided to municipalities (and discussed below). The code for each realty tax
class (RTC) is in the following table.93
Upper tier and single tier municipalities have the option under regulation 282/98 of the
Assessment Act of selecting various “optional property classes” within the multi- residential,
commercial and industrial classes. These are provided as an option to protect against large tax
increases.

RTC Codes
RTC
R
M
N
F
C
I
P
T
O
W
U
A
Q
E
D
S
L
G
J
K
X
Y
Z
–

93

Description
Residential / Farm
Multi-residential
New multi-residential
Farmland
Commercial
Industrial
Pipeline
Managed Forest
Other Taxable
Railway right-of-way
Utility corridor
Theatre
Professional Sports Facility
Exempt
Office buildings
Shopping centres
Large industrial
Parking lots
Industrial, New Construction
Large Industrial, New Construction
Commercial, New Construction
Office Building, New Construction
Shopping Centre, New Construction
Blank; is non-assessable

Compiled from information in FIR Tables found at http://csconramp.mah.gov.on.ca/fir/FIR2010.htm, accessed June
18th, 2011.
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Assessment Roll
The RTC codes are but a small part of the information contained in the assessment rolls
provided to municipalities by the Municipal Property Assessment Corporation (MPAC). Section
14 of the Assessment Act specifies inclusion of the following items for land in a municipality:


a description of the property sufficient to identify it



the names and surnames, in full, if they can be ascertained, of all persons who are liable
to assessment in the municipality



the amount assessable against each person who is liable, opposite the person’s name



the name of every tenant who is a supporter of a school board



the number of acres, or other measures, showing the extent of the land



the current value of the land



the value of the land liable for taxation



the value of the land exempt from taxation



the classification of the land



the name of every tenant who is a supporter of a school board



the type of school board the owner or tenant, as the case may be, supports under the
Education Act.



whether the owner or tenant, as the case may be, is a French-language rights holder.



religion of the owner or tenant, as the case may be, if he or she is Roman Catholic.



in the case of a corporation, whether the corporation is a designated ratepayer under the
Education Act.



whether the land is liable to school taxes only.



the value of the land leased to tenants referred to in subsection 4 (3) of the Municipal
Tax Assistance Act2006, c33, Sched. A, s13 (1).

The assessment roll, subject to adjustments resulting from assessment appeals (discussed
below), provides the assessment base for determining the tax levies in the municipality in the
subsequent year. In addition, supplementary assessment lists are provided by MPAC three
times (sometimes four) annually.
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Assessment Appeal
When there is any change in any particular described above that is not reflected in the last
assessment roll as returned, MPAC is required (by section 31 of the Assessment Act) to deliver
an assessment notice at least 14 days prior to the completion of the assessment roll, along with
an information notice setting out appeal avenues available to the property owner. The latter
notice may be in the form of an advertisement in a local newspaper.
An appeal on a point of law can be brought to the Ontario Divisional Court and can be appealed
from there to the Ontario Court of Appeal and the Supreme Court of Canada, but only with
leave. Appeals on a point of fact (usually about the value of the assessment) involve the
following steps:


Initial discussions with MPAC assessors, who may decide to adjust the assessment and
to issue an amended assessment notice.



A Request for Reconsideration (made any time during the taxation year), as a result of
which MPAC may decide to make a change.



An appeal to the Assessment Review Board (ARB), which must be filed by March 31st in
any given year or 90 days from the notice date for in year assessments. There is no
longer any further appeal to the Ontario Municipal Board, so the decision of the ARB on
a point of fact is final – although a decision may be appealed to the Superior Court of
Justice on a question of law, if the court grants leave to appeal.94

Assessment Base Management
It is recommended that municipalities devote more attention to assessment base management
techniques to protect and enhance their property tax base while ensuring that all taxpayers are
being treated fairly under the new assessment and taxation system (Slack 2012). In part, this
involves the targeted allocation of expertise and resources to preserve the assessment base
when and where it is at risk. Initiatives would include participating in assessment appeals and
reviewing settlements reached between the Municipal Property Assessment Corporation and
taxpayers and also auditing tax relief applications (discussed later in this lesson) – in both
instances to ensure that any reductions granted through appeal or rebate are no larger than fair
(Nell 2002)
In addition, municipalities should take steps to ensure that taxable assessment is added to the
assessment roll and is available for municipal taxation on the timeliest basis. The assessment
roll should also be audited on a regular basis to identify “errors or omissions” and to identify
desirable assessment policy/practice changes for unique or special purpose properties in order
to serve municipal interests more effectively. An example of the latter is campgrounds (where
assessment policy has been redefined in a way that benefits municipalities) (Nell 2002)
In response to municipal requests for more in-year information, MPAC has introduced a
Municipal Status Report, initially as a pilot project with several municipalities in late 2004Issued
94

Details on the hearing and decision process of the Assessment Review Board can be found at its web site, at
www.arb.gov.on.ca. Assessment appeals are also described in some detail in the AMCTO Municipal Administration
Program, Unit Three, Lesson 2.
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quarterly, and customized for each municipality, these status reports provide information on
building permit activities, supplementary/omitted assessments, requests for reconsideration,
and notices of complaint.95

Assessment Reform Recap
After more than a century of unsuccessful efforts, the assessment reforms gave Ontario
municipalities the prospect of a reliable, equitable assessment base on which to levy taxes
(Smart 2013)Regularly scheduled reassessments provided a way of ensuring that the
assessment base would keep up with changing market values. As a result, the stage seemed
set for municipal taxes applied to the new assessment base to be consistent, equitable,
defensible, and largely free of the problems that had plagued the old system.
The assessment reforms were
greatly complicated – and even
undermined – by the
accompanying tax reforms.

These attractive prospects failed to materialize,
however. The new assessment values so long
pursued were not allowed to become the basis
for the calculation of property taxes in Ontario
(Slack 2012)Had they been allowed, the result
would have been dramatic shifts in the burden of
taxation

Those who had been paying more than their fair share for many years would have enjoyed
reduced taxes, while those who had not been paying their share would have faced an increase
in taxes – in some cases an overwhelming increase. Such a result is inevitable if inequities that
have built up over decades are removed at one point in time. In an attempt to avoid or minimize
these anticipated tax shifts, the province combined the assessment reforms with a number of
reforms to property taxation. The latter have brought a great deal of complexity to the
implementation of the new assessment system – and have even undermined that
implementation in some respects.

The Property Taxation System
As already explained, there will be no attempt to provide a “blow-by-blow” account of all of the
tax reforms that were introduced, modified, and even in some cases withdrawn, in the latter half
of the 1990sInstead, the key components of the new tax system will be outlined, followed by a
general explanation of how the tax is calculated.

Education Taxes
For almost 200 years, since the election of school trustees was first authorized in 1816,
education taxes were set by local school boards, with municipalities obliged to provide their
portion of funding based on their share of the assessment within the school board area. Under
the new property tax system, education property taxes are now set by the province. It
established a uniform residential tax rate of 0.46000000 for education in 1998, a rate designed .
to raise $2.5 billion, the amount of education cost left to local taxpayers after the province
assumed half of the education costs as part of the adjustments arising from the Local Service
95

This summary is based on “MPAC Introduces the Municipal Status Report,” Municipal Monitor, AMCTO,
January/February 2005.
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Realignment (LSR)The residential rate was cut by 10 percent in 1999, to 0.41400000, a rate
continued for 2000It was further reduced to 0.37300000 for 2001 and 2002, to 0.33500000 for
2003, and to 0.29600000 for 2004 and 2005For 2006, 2007 and 2008, the rate was reduced to
0.264000 and for 2009 it was reduced to 0.252000Rates continue to fall as the rate was
0.241000 for 2010 and is 0.231000 for 2011The key reason for reducing the education tax rates
relates to the continuous reassessment program of MPAC.
The province also sets the education rate for business taxpayers, and that rate has also been
reduced several times in municipalities where the average annual tax rate was above the
provincial average. The 2007 Ontario budget does indicate that a $540 million cut in business
education taxes will take place over the next seven years (Page 19 of 2007 budget papers – A
Fair Property Tax System)This program is being continued as noted in the 2011 Provincial
budget document.96 Municipalities are still responsible for collecting the taxes and remitting
them to the school boards.

The Business Occupancy Tax (BOT)
The reforms abolished the business occupancy tax (BOT) that had been levied on those who
occupied or used a business property whether they were owners of the property or not. The
BOT was always a difficult tax to collect, since it did not form a lien on the land, and since
business residents could literally disappear overnight. But when the province abolished this tax,
the tax burden associated with the BOT was absorbed into the commercial and industrial taxes
by being reflected in their transition tax ratios (discussed below). This meant an increased tax
load for property owners of these classes unless the lease arrangements that they had allowed
them to pass on the appropriate tax portion to their tenants.

Farm and Managed Forest Rebates
Prior to the reforms, it had been provincial policy to provide a rebate to farmers of 75 percent of
the taxes that they paid on farmland and outbuildings and to provide a similar rebate to owners
of managed forests. Under the new property tax system, the province transferred the cost of this
subsidy to the municipal level by specifying that farmlands, farm outbuildings, and managed
forests could be taxed at no more than 25 percent of the residential tax rate.97 This meant, of
course, that to generate the same amount of money municipalities had to increase taxes on all
other classes of property, including not just any industrial and commercial properties, but also
residential properties including the homes of farmers. A new method of assessing managed
forest properties was introduced for the 2004 taxation year (as well as for settling Requests for
Reconsideration filed for 2003).98

96

Outlined in the Competitive Business Taxes section of the March 29, 2011 Provincial Budget, available on the
Ministry of Finance website at www.fin.gov.on.ca

97

Municipalities have the ability to reduce the tax rate for farmlands to less than 25% of the residential rate.

98 For details, see Municipal Property Assessment Corporation, Assessment of Managed Forest Properties, March
2004, available at the Corporation web site at www.mpac.ca.
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Tax Ratios/Weighting of Assessment
While it wasn’t described as such, the weighting of assessment did exist under the old property
tax system. For those who remember the way that property taxes used to be calculated, we
discounted residential and farm assessment by 15 percent before combining it with 100 percent
of commercial and industrial assessment to form the total assessment base used in the tax
calculations. In effect, the tax ratio for residential and farm properties was .85 of the assessment
for commercial and industrial properties.
Under the new system, there are weighting factors, expressed as tax ratios, for every property
class. These ratios define the tax rate of every property class in relation to the tax rate for the
residential class, which, as the benchmark for the comparisons, is set at 1. The tax ratios were
initially provided by the province, in the form of transition ratios. In a very significant step, the
province decided that these initial ratios would reflect the distribution of tax burden, by class, as
it was before the introduction of the new current value assessments. This decision prevented
the pronounced shifts in tax burden that would almost certainly have otherwise occurred in 1998
(and subsequent years) when new current value assessments were available for tax
calculations.
But the introduction of tax ratios on this basis also had the effect of essentially cancelling out the
introduction of the new assessment values and perpetuating all of the discrepancies and
inequities inherent in the old system that had prompted assessment reform in the first place.
Since most municipalities were assigned tax ratios for industrial and commercial property
classes in the 2.0 to 3.0 range, this meant that properties in these classes continued to carry a
tax burden two or three times heavier than that borne by the residential property class. While
they will not be discussed in detail herein, almost all of the many complex revisions to the
property tax program that were introduced by the province for several years following the initial
reforms represented attempts to reduce this tax burden on business properties.

Tax Ranges
In 1998, the province established what it considered to be fair tax ranges for each class of
property in Ontario. As indicated by the table below, these ranges were quite narrow and
indicated the provincial view that the tax burden for all classes should be fairly close to that
borne by the residential property class.

Fairness Ranges
Property Class
Commercial and industrial property classes
(and the four optional classes within them)
Multi-residential and new multi-residential classes
Pipe line property class

Fairness Range for Tax Ratio
0.6 to 1.1
1.0 to 1.1
0.6 to 0.7

The provincial government announced around the time that the tax ranges were released that
“currently about 90 percent of the business properties in the province are being taxed at higher
levels than the ranges of fairness would indicate are appropriate.”99 As a result, the province
stipulated that upper tier and single tier municipalities that had been given the discretion to
99

Ministry of Finance, Tax Fairness Measures for Municipalities, February 5, 1998, p. 1.
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adjust their tax ratios (and therefore the actual burden of taxation borne by the different
classes), could only make such adjustments in the direction of moving the ratios closer to the
fairness ranges. A limited exception to this restriction was introduced for the 2004 taxation year,
as discussed in the next section on tax capping.

Tax Capping
Municipal discretion with respect to taxation decisions has been further constrained by the
provincial imposition of tax caps or limits. The concept of capping first appeared in the Small
Business and Charities Protection Act of 1998, but as an optional feature that was only
implemented by the City of Toronto. By the end of 1998 the province had moved to impose a
mandatory cap for three years (1998, 1999 and 2000) on tax increases resulting from property
tax reform on commercial, industrial and multi-residential properties. The administration of this
capping program brought a massive increase in municipal workload that has still not run its
course.100
In December 2000 the province imposed an ongoing tax cap under the Continued Protection of
Property Taxpayers Act. This legislation required municipalities, beginning in 2001, to limit tax
increases related to property tax reform on commercial, industrial, and multi-residential
properties to 5 percent per year. These limits were calculated on the basis of the previous year’s
taxes, not the taxes paid in 1997, as was the case with the earlier capping. The capping limit
imposed by this legislation only applied to tax increases arising from the assessment and
property tax reforms, which implied that municipalities were free to exceed this limit if they
needed to increase taxes to pay for policy and servicing decisions of their own.
But the legislation imposed a further restriction for those municipalities where the tax ratios for
commercial, industrial, and/or multi-residential property classes exceeded the province-wide
average tax ratios for these classes. These average ratios, as prescribed by the province, are
1.98, 2.63, and 2.74 respectively. Where this levy restriction applied, improved or additional
services could not be financed by tax increases in the affected classes, but had to be financed
from other classes (mainly the residential taxpayers).
Municipalities affected by this restriction (which has since been modified, as discussed below)
had two choices, neither politically popular. They could raise taxes if they were prepared to have
this tax burden borne by the remaining property classes – primarily homeowners (voters). Or
they could reduce their tax ratios for commercial, industrial and/or multi-residential properties
downward below the provincial average tax ratio. While such a change made these property
classes eligible for increased taxation again, reducing their tax ratios also served to shift the tax
burden to the remaining property classes – again primarily homeowners.

100

Because the cap was based on the relationship between new taxes and those actually paid in 1997, municipalities
must maintain a frozen assessment roll (more accurately termed a frozen assessment listing) for all commercial,
industrial and multi-residential properties. This listing has to be kept updated by the municipality for a variety of
possible changes including Assessment Review Board decisions concerning assessment appeals. In addition, if the
use of a property changes after 1997, it is necessary to calculate what the property would have paid in taxes if it had
been classified under its new use back then.
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Easing the Cap
Recent reforms have reduced some of the rigidity of the capping regime and have facilitated
movement toward the current value assessment system that was supposed to be introduced
back in 1998.
In March 2004, the province introduced two measures for the 2004 taxation year that were
intended to ease the residential property tax burden. With residential property values rising
faster than commercial property values in most of Southern Ontario, particularly in a number of
larger municipalities, the first measure allowed municipalities to increase the tax ratio of one or
more business property classes to the extent necessary to maintain the existing municipal tax
burdens between classes. The impact of this measure was revenue neutral, as levels of taxation
on each class did not go up or down as a result. The authority to adjust these ratios was
provided through provincial regulation of new tax ratios on a case-by-case basis, upon
submission of a satisfactory municipal proposal to the Minister of Finance, along with a copy of
a council resolution supporting the new tax ratios.101
The second measure offered some flexibility to those municipalities that had been operating
under a levy restriction (discussed above) because the tax ratios for their commercial, industrial,
and/or multi-residential classes exceeded the provincial average ratio for these classes. For
2004, these municipalities could increase taxes on these classes up to 50 percent of any tax
increase levied upon the residential property class.102 This measure gave municipalities at least
partial access to a tax base that had been closed to them. It also attempted (with the 50 percent
limit) to maintain a delicate balancing act between shifting some of the tax burden from
residential property taxpayers and continuing to narrow the gap between business and
residential taxes.

Loosening the Cap:
New tax capping mitigation
tools introduced in 2005.

The May 18, 2004 Ontario budget introduced some
tax capping mitigation tools that extend municipal
flexibility and facilitate movement toward a full current
value assessment system. Enacted in Bill 83, An Act
to Implement Budget Measures, SO 2004, Chapter 7,
these changes allow municipalities, effective 2005
and onward to:



increase the 5 percent cap on properties to up to 10 percent of the previous year’s taxes;
and/or



set a limit for annual increases of up to 5 percent of the previous year’s annualized



establish a minimum threshold for properties which became eligible for new construction
or new to class treatment in 2005

101 Municipal Finance Officers Association of Ontario, Tax Facts, Volume 3, March 19, 2004, available at
www.mfoa.on.ca.
102

See Ontario Regulation 66/04, which amends Regulation 73/03 with respect to the municipal levy restriction.
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current value assessment taxes (instead of basing the limit on the previous year’s
adjusted or capped taxes); and/or



move to full current value assessment any properties that are capped or clawed- back at
amounts less than $250.103

The Provincial Government in Ontario continues to make changes with the current method of
assessment through tax policy. The March 22, 2007 budget proposed to introduce a mandatory
phase-in of future residential assessment increases over four years. The program was
implemented province-wide in 2009 following the most recent reassessment.104 In fact, the
Provincial Government has even widened this policy effective with the 2009 taxation year so
that the phase-in program will cover all assessment classes. As well, starting in 2009, the
Province provided additional capping features to allow municipalities to remove properties from
capping and claw back, once properties have reached the Current Value Assessment (CVA)
level taxes.105
Here again, the measures attempt a delicate balancing act – this time reflected in “the interests
of the rate paying community, which favours maintaining property tax protection for those who
benefit from capping treatment, against the need to give municipalities the flexibility to
accelerate movement towards full CVA for all classes of property if this is the locally preferred
approach.”106

Tax Tools
To meet the capping requirements, the legislation authorized municipalities to utilize a number
of tax tools, some of which had been provided earlier in the reform process. The main tools are
summarized in the following table.

103 Both the Association of Municipal Tax Collectors of Ontario and the Municipal Finance Officers Association
recommend that once a property in a capped class reaches full CVA taxation, it should be removed from the tax
capping calculation.
104

“2007 Ontario Budget” – Mandatory Phase-in of Residential Assessment Increases, March 22, 2007, p. 25 of
Budget Papers.

105 Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing, The Municipal Councillor’s Guide 2010. Sources of Municipal Revenue
section
106

Carla Nell, “Assessment Changes: Mitigation Tools,” Municipal Monitor, AMCTO, January/February 2005, p. 8.
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Tax Tools
Optional property
classes

Graduated taxation
(banding)

Phase-in program

Up to four optional classes can be created within the
commercial and industrial classes and one optional class for
new multi-residential. Using these optional classes allows
municipalities to avoid or reduce tax increases that these
properties would otherwise face.
Municipalities can create two or three bands of assessment for
commercial and/or industrial classes, with assessments within
the lower bands paying at a lower rate and assessments
within the higher bands paying at a compensatingly higher rate
– since the total tax yield from the class must stay the same.
The effect of this banding is to shift some of the tax burden
from lower valued properties to higher valued properties.
The Continued Protection of Property Taxpayers Act provides a
new phase-in tool as a permanent option that can be used to
implement gradually (for up to eight years) tax increases and
decreases upon each reassessment. While this option was
available for the last reassessment of 2008 for 2009 taxation,
mandatory phase-in of assessments in increments of 25 %
between 2009 and 2012 province-wide essentially eliminates
the necessity to implement this option107

Tax rebates

Under the Municipal Act, 2001, single tier and upper tier
municipalities are required to provide property tax rebates to
registered charities and may also include similar
organizations, as determined by your municipality. The rebate
amount for a registered charity must be at least 40 per cent,
and your municipality has the flexibility to rebate up to 100 per
cent of an organization’s property taxes, including the
education portion of the tax. Local municipalities also have the
authority to provide property tax reductions or refunds to
owners of buildings designated under the Ontario Heritage Act
as being of architectural or historical value. The amount of
relief must be between 10 per cent and 40 per cent of the
taxes (municipal and education) levied on the property.

Tax ratios

Upper and single tier municipalities continue to have the
tax tool of adjusting tax ratios, although only toward or
within the fairness ranges provided by the province.

Property Tax Reform Recap
After decades of problems and delays, the provincial government deserves credit for tackling
the long overdue reform of assessment and property taxation. Unfortunately, the objective of
creating a simpler, easier to understand system has only been achieved with respect to
assessment reform. The series of property tax reforms have created a very complex system that
is incomprehensive to the ordinary taxpayer and not even that easily understood by municipal
107

Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing, The Municipal Councillor’s Guide, 2010, Property Tax Section.
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personnel.
There was merit in the original intention of giving municipalities (at least upper tier and single
tier municipalities) the discretion to establish tax policy and to adjust the distribution of tax
burden locally. Under the old system, the actual tax burden borne by the various property
classes was concealed within the widely varying under-assessments that characterized the
system and ensured widespread inequities. The new system promised greater transparency in
that the tax burden was defined by the tax ratios and could be adjusted by the decision of
eligible municipal councils.
In practice, however, municipal tax discretion has been constrained by the series of changes
that kept the system off balance for the first several years and by the permanent tax capping
(now slightly loosened) that has been imposed by the province. The little discretion left to the
local level is mainly that of deciding how quickly or slowly one wants to shift the tax burden from
the business classes to the residential property taxpayer – so as to overcome the continued
inequities that were built into the new system when the province established transition tax ratios
the way that it did.
Ontario municipalities continue to struggle with an imperfect system. As noted by Enid Slack,
current value assessment may have its problems, particularly in the face of market volatility, but
as the evidence in the report shows, efforts to cure some of the problems only make matters
worse. Assessment limits provide help to those property owners have been made wealthier by
the market at the expense of those whose property values have not changes. Capping may also
have unintended consequences by helping those who need it the least and increasing taxes for
those it is designed to help.108
For ease of reference, the following table summarizes the key statutes that established (with the
help of a great many regulations) the reformed property tax system in Ontario.109 For up-to-date
statutory references, however, please bear in mind that most of these legislative provisions
have now been incorporated into the Municipal Act 2001, especially in Part VIII – Municipal
Taxation and Part IX – Limitations on Taxes for Certain Property Classes.

Key Statutes relating to Assessment and Property Tax Reform
Bill 106
and
Bill 149

Fair Municipal
Finance Act, Part I
and Fair Municipal
Finance Act, Part II

S.01997, c5

These two statutes introduced the new
assessment and taxation system

S.O1997, c29

108

Association of Municipalities of Ontario, Assessment Limits for Ontario: Could We Live With The Consequences?,
Enid Slack, Institute of Municipal Finance and Governance, University of Toronto. June, 2010.

109

The regulations can be found at www.e-laws.gov.on.ca or at the web sites of the Ministry of Municipal Affairs
www.mah/gov.on.ca and the Ministry of Finance www.fin.on.ca. Information on regulations is also found at the web
sites of the Association of Municipal Managers, Clerks and Treasurers of Ontario (www.amcto.com), Association of
Municipal Tax Collectors of Ontario (www.amtco.on.ca) and Municipal Finance Officers Association of Ontario
(www.mfoa.on.ca).
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Bill 164

Tax Credits to
Create Jobs Act

S.O1997, c43

Establishment of Ontario (now
Municipal) Property Assessment
Corporation – MPAC

Bill 16

Small Business and
Charities Protection
Act

S.O1998, c3

Creation of optional classes within
industrial and commercial property
classes

Bill 79

Fairness for Taxpayers
Act

S.O1998, c33

Imposition of the 10-5-5 cap for 19972000

Bill 14

More Tax Cuts for
Jobs, Growth and
Prosperity Act

S.O1999, c9

Provisions for a standard tax bill

Bill 140

Continued Protection
for Taxpayers Act

S.O2000, c25

Bill 130

Municipal Statute
Law Amendment
Act

S.O2006, c25

Continuing mandatory cap of 5% per
year for assessment-related
increases on multi- residential,
industrial and commercial classes.
Changes made to special area
taxation, tax collection changes and
tax sale procedures.

Calculation of Property Taxes
As noted at the beginning of this lesson, the property tax rate is determined by dividing the
amount of money required from taxation by the total taxable assessment, with some extra
wrinkles yet to be introduced. At least a few of these wrinkles may be transferred to your brow
by the time you get finished with this lesson. However, no attempt will be made to describe
every complexity associated with property tax calculations in Ontario today.110 Instead, the
objective will be to proceed from simple examples to build a general understanding of the way
property taxes are now calculated.

Determining the Amount to be raised from Taxation
The top half of our calculation formula is still determined in the same way – as a result of the
annual budget process described in Lesson Two. In simplified terms, the key steps are:

110 Those hardy souls interested in pursuing this topic in more detail should consult the Municipal Tax Administration
Program cited earlier. Check also the web sites in the previous footnote.
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Weighting the Assessment
The bottom half of the calculation formula is determined by weighting all of the classes of
assessment by applying their tax ratios to them. For our first, very simplified example, let’s
assume only three property classes, with ratios as shown below.

Example 1:
Property Class
Residential
Commercial
Industrial
Total

Assessment
$30,000,000
$1,200,000
$1,400,000

Tax Ratio
1.000000
3.175000
1.750000

Weighted Assessment
$30,000,000
$3,810,000
$2,450,000
$36,260,000

Applying the tax ratios increases the total assessment base by increasing the proportion of
assessment accounted for by those property classes with ratios above 1.
There are some additional calculations to take into account when assessments are being
weighted, because of the fact that the new system provides for reductions for certain classes of
property. For example:


We have already noted that municipalities are now responsible for providing the 75
percent subsidy to farming and managed forest operations that the province used to pay,
with the result that assessments in those categories must be weighted at 25 percent
(unless the municipality lowers the portion even more in the case of farmlands).



Lower tax rates can be charged on up to two bands of lower valued assessments on
commercial and industrial property.



Reduced tax rates also apply to two classes of farmland awaiting development.



In addition, vacant commercial and industrial lands are taxed at reduced rates of 70
percent and 65 percent respectively.

This last reduction situation is the example that is illustrated below. It takes the figures from the
first example and demonstrates what happens if a portion of the commercial and industrial
assessment is represented by vacant land.

Example 2:
Assessment

Base value

Tax ratio

Tax reduction

Residential
Commercial
(regular)
Commercial
(vacant)
Industrial
(regular)
Industrial
(vacant)
Total

$30,000,000
$1,000,000

1.0
3.175000

0
0

Weighted ratio Weighted
Assessment
1.0
$30,000,000
3.175000
$3,175,000

$200,000

3.175000

30%

2.225000

$444,500

$1,200,000

1.750000

0

1.750000

$2,100,000

$200,000

1.750000

35%

1.137500

$227,500

$32,600,000

$35,947,000
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The total weighted assessment is less than in the first example ($35,947,000, as compared to
$36,260,000), which is a logical result of introducing reduction factors that discounted the
assessed value of vacant lands.

Applying the Formula
Continuing with our series of examples, let’s assume that we need to raise $200,000 from
taxation. According to the basic formula:
Amount to be raised

($200,000)

Total Weighted Assessment

----------------($35,947,000)

= 0.00556374 tax rate

That initial rate is actually the residential rate. Once it has been determined, the tax rates for the
other classes are determined by multiplying their tax ratios against the residential tax rate, as in
the following example.

Example 3:
Property Class
Commercial regular
Commercial vacant
Industrial regular
Industrial vacant

Tax ratio
3.17500000
2.22250000
1.75000000
1.13750000

Residential tax
0.00556374
0.00556374
0.00556374
0.00556374

Other tax rates
0.01766487
0.01236541
0.00973654
0.00632875

To “proof” these calculations, the various tax rates are levied against the applicable assessment
to see if the required $200,000 is generated.
Property class
Residential
Commercial regular
Commercial vacant
Industrial regular
Industrial vacant
Total

Tax rate
0.00556374
0.01766487
0.01236541
0.00973654
0.00632875

Assessment
$30,000,000
$1,000,000
$200,000
$1,200,000
$200,000

Tax Revenue
$166,912
$ 17,665
$
2,473
$ 11,684
$
1,266
$200,000

Keeping track of the various tax reductions that have to be calculated is not as complicated as it
first might seem. We noted in the earlier discussion of assessment reform that the assessment
roll contains Realty Tax Class (RTC) codes. The roll also contains Realty Tax Qualifier (RTQ)
codes that indicate what taxes (reduced or other- wise) apply to the various property classes.
The RTQ codes are found in the table below.112

112

Compiled from information in FIR Tables found at http://csconramp.mah.gov.on.ca/fir/FIR2010.htm.
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RTQ Codes

Taxable
T
H
D
M
1
4
U
K
B
X
J
A
I
N
S
C
L
Payment-in-Lieu
F
P
G
2
3
5
6
V
Q
W
Y
R
Z

Fully Occupied
Fully Occupied, Shared PIL
Education Only
‘General’ Only, No Education
Farmland Awaiting Development – Phase I
Farmland Awaiting Development – Phase II
Excess Land
Excess Land, Shared PIL
Excess Land, Lower Tier Only
Vacant Land
Vacant Land, Shared PIL
Excess/Vacant Land, ‘General’ Only
Water Intake System, Shared PIL
Non-generating Station, Shared PIL
Generating Station, Shared PIL
Lower Tier and Education Only
Upper Tier and Education Only
PIL: Full Occupied
PIL: Full Occupied, Taxable Tenant of Province
PIL: ‘General’ Only (No Education)
PIL: Farmland Awaiting Development – Phase I
PIL: Farmland Awaiting Development – Phase I, ‘General’ Only
PIL: Farmland Awaiting Development – Phase II
PIL: Farmland Awaiting Development – Phase II, ‘General’ Only
PIL: Excess Land
PIL: Excess Land, Taxable Tenant of Province
PIL: Excess Land, ‘General’ Only
PIL: Vacant Land
PIL: Vacant Land, Taxable Tenant of Province
PIL: Vacant Land, ‘General’ Only

Another Calculation Example
For this final example, let’s use the same data provided above, and add a multi- residential
property class as well. To recap, the amount to be raised from taxation is $200,000 and the
assessment available is $30,000,000 residential, $1,200,000 commercial (of which $200,000 is
vacant), $1,400,000 industrial (of which $200,000 is vacant), and $5,000,000 multi-residential.
The tax ratios are 3.175 commercial, 1.750 industrial and 2.5 multi-residential. The format used
in the earlier examples is retained, but with an additional column for the coding information.
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Example 4:
RTC/RTQ

Assessment

Base value

RT

Residential

MT
CT
CX
IT
IX

Tax ratio

$30,000,000 1.000000

Tax
Weighted
reduction ratio
0
1.0

Weighted
Assessment
$30,000,000

Multi-residential

$5,000,000

2.500000

0

2.5

$12,500,000

Commercial
(regular)
Commercial
(vacant)
Industrial
(regular)
Industrial
(vacant)
Total

$1,000,000

3.175000

0

3.175000

$3,175,000

$200,000

3.175000

30%

2.225000

$444,500

$1,200,000

1.750000

0

1.750000

$2,100,000

$200,000

1.750000

35%

1.137500

$227,500

$37,600,000

($200,000)
----------------Total Weighted Assessment ($48,447,000)

$48,447,000

Amount to be raised

= 0.00412822 tax rate

Example 5:
RTC/RTQ

Property Class

Tax ratio

Residential rate

Other tax rates

MT

Multi-residential

2.50000000

0.00412822

0.01032055

CT

3.17500000

0.00412822

0.01310710

2.22250000

0.00412822

0.00917497

IT

Commercial
regular
Commercial
vacant
Industrial regular

1.75000000

0.00412822

0.00722439

IX

Industrial vacant

1.13750000

0.00412822

0.00469585

CX

Example 6:
RTC/RTQ
RT

Property class
Residential

Tax rate
0.00412822

Assessment Tax
Revenue
$30,000,000 $123,847

MT

Multi-residential

0.01032055

$5,000,000

$ 51,603

CT

Commercial regular

0.01310710

$1,000,000

$ 13,107

CX

Commercial vacant

0.00917497

$200,000

$ 1,835

IT

Industrial regular

0.00722439

$1,200,000

$ 8,669

IX

Industrial vacant

0.00469585

$200,000

$

Total

939

$200,000
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Detailed instructions on property tax calculations are provided with the FIR and can be found at
its web site at http://csconramp.mah.gov.on.ca/fir/FIR2010.htmSee in particular the instructions
related to Schedule 22A copy of this schedule is appended to the lesson as a further illustration
of the steps involved in tax calculations.

Other Tax Considerations
After the rather extensive discussion of assessment and property tax reform, we need to look
specifically at tax levies for upper tier municipalities and school boards.

Upper Tier Levies
The tax calculations for county and/or regional purposes are the same as those illustrated
above. The upper tier municipality determines the amount to be raised from taxation as part of
its budget process, and then the lower tier municipalities are responsible for collecting and
providing the money. Each municipality’s share of the budget is essentially based on the
proportion of assessment that it has in relation to the total assessment of all municipalities within
the county or region.
The new Municipal Act, section 311(2) states that an upper tier municipality shall pass a by-law
each year, directing each lower tier municipality to levy a separate tax rate, as specified in the
by-law, on the assessment in each property class in the lower tier municipality that is ratable for
upper tier purposes.
The same basic formula is used for the calculation of the applicable tax rates for upper tier
purposes:
Amount to be raised from taxation (for the upper tier apportionment)
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------Total weighted assessment (as discussed and illustrated above)
This calculation produces the residential tax rate, and the tax rate for the other properties are
then determined using the tax ratios.
The Municipal Act, section 311(13) states that, unless agreement is reached on alternative
arrangements, a lower tier municipality in a county must pay amounts to the upper tier
municipality in the following instalments:


25 percent of the amount required for county purposes in the previous year, on or before
March 31st.



50 percent of the amount required for county purposes in the current year, less the
amount of the previous instalment, on or before June 30th.



25 percent of the current amount, on or before September 30th.



The balance of the entitlement for the year, on or before December 15th.
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In the case of upper tier municipalities other than counties, the legislation – section 311(12) –
simply states that a rating by-law passed by such an upper tier municipality may require
specified portions to be paid to the treasurer of the upper tier municipality on or before specified
dates.

School Board Levies
Municipalities no longer have any responsibility for the calculation of education property tax
rates, except where they are required to recalculate industrial or commercial tax rates that
exceed the prescribed provincial average for these classes – a limitation described earlier in this
lesson.
Municipalities continue to levy and collect education taxes, on the basis of rates established by
the province, and they remit the revenues from these taxes to school boards on a quarterly
basis. Residential taxpayers still have the right to designate that their taxes go to the school
system that they support – Public, Catholic or French- language education. In the case of
business property taxpayers, the revenues are shared among the school boards on an
enrolment basis, as determined by regulation. Each March the Ministry of Education publishes
the proportions, in accordance with sections 238(2) and 257(8.3) of the Education Act.
The payment schedule is set out in the Education Act, section 257(11.1) and is identical to the
schedule for payment of the county apportionment. But the legislation does provide that a
divisional board, by agreement with a majority of municipalities representing at least two-thirds
of the assessment, may provide for an alternative payment schedule.
Municipalities must meet the payment schedule that applies, whether or not the taxes have
been levied or collected, or they incur late payment charges. If municipalities pass by-laws to
phase in tax increases or decreases for education and municipal purposes (as discussed
above), local municipalities are required to pay the full education levy to the school boards. If an
upper or single tier municipality passes a by-law to defer, cancel or provide other relief in
relation to municipal and education tax increases arising from changes to the assessment of
property owned by low income seniors or disabled persons, however, school boards are
required to reimburse municipalities for the education portion of the deferral – and the school
boards are then reimbursed by the province.

Tax Levying and Collection
When the various tax rates discussed above have been determined, a number of steps then
follow to bill and collect the appropriate amounts from the local taxpayers.

The Collector’s Roll
Central to the tax collection process is the collector’s roll. Legislation used to specify that the
clerk must prepare a collector’s roll after the assessment roll was received and verified. The
new Municipal Act, section 340(1), provides that the treasurer shall prepare what is now termed
a tax roll (still based on the last returned assessment roll for the year.) The tax roll must show
the following information, specified in section 340(2), for each separately assessed ratable
property in the municipality.
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Information in the Tax Roll
a) the assessment roll number of the property;
b) a description of the property sufficient to identify it;
c) the name of every person against whom land is assessed, including a
tenant assessed under section 18 of the Assessment Act;
d) the assessed value of the property;
e) the total amount of taxes payable;
f) the amounts of taxes payable for the general municipal levy, each special
local municipality levy, the upper tier levy, each special upper tier levy, each
school board, all other purposes; and
g) if parts of the property are shown in two or more property classes, the matters
set out in d), e) and f) above for each part.

The Tax Bill
Once the tax roll is completed, it is the responsibility of the treasurer, under section 343(1) of the
new Municipal Act, to send a tax bill to every taxpayer at least 21 days before any taxes shown
on the bill are due. Over the past few years, the province gradually introduced a standard tax bill
for municipalities and the new Municipal Act, section 343(2) specifies that it must contain the
following information:
Information in a Tax Bill
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)

the name of the taxpayer;
the assessment roll number of the property;
a description of the property sufficient to identify it;
the assessed value of the property;
the total amount of taxes payable;
the amounts of the new taxes required to be shown separately on the tax roll
unless the bill is for an interim tax (discussed below);
g) the amount of any taxes previously billed for the year, including any
accrued late payment charges;
h) the date or dates on which the taxes are due and any alternative schedule of due
dates;
i) the place or places where the taxes may be paid;
j) the late payment charges that will be imposed on overdue taxes;
k) the discount that will be given for taxes paid in advance;
l) if portions of the property are in two or more property classes, the matters set
out in d), e), f), and g) for each portion.

Ontario Regulation 75/01, as amended by Regulation 170/01, sets out the content and form for
a standardized property tax bill for municipalities, commencing in 2001113 and section 344 of the
Municipal Act authorizes the Minister of Finance to require a standard tax bill and to prescribe
its contents by regulation.
113 For details, see Standard Tax Bill: Explanatory Bulletin, June 2001, available from the Ministry of Finance web site
at www.fin.gov.on.ca
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The accounting methods for billing, collecting, and recording of municipal tax payments are
similar to any accounts receivable procedures and are illustrated below. As payments are
received, they are recorded in an individual subsidiary tax revenue ledger, and at the end of a
recording period the payments are totalled and a journal entry is made debiting the general
ledger bank accounts and crediting the general ledger taxes receivable control accounts. Some
municipalities will book the credits in more detail than in the example below for the municipal
portion of the revenue, and each major tax class (residential, multi-residential, commercial,
industrial, etc.) will have its own account.
To record tax revenues for 20XX as billed
Taxes receivable
Tax revenue – General – residential
Tax revenue – General – commercial
Tax revenue – County
Tax revenue – Elementary public
Tax revenue – Secondary public
Tax revenue – Elementary separate
Tax revenue – Secondary separate
Tax revenue – Special area

Debit

Credit

$1,255,000
$230,000
190,000
185,000
190,000
200,000
120,000
125,000
15,000

The tax payments may be quite voluminous and payments are batched for totals to be
transferred by journal entry to the taxes receivable control account. Posting to the individual
taxpayers records in the subsidiary ledger may be done by hand, mechanical or electronic
equipment, depending on the size and nature of the tax collection and recording operations –
almost all of which are now computerized.
Recognized good accounting procedures are very important in the receipting and handling of
tax payments to ensure accuracy and proper recording of payments.
Payments should be recorded promptly and tax receipts should be deposited to the
municipality’s bank account on a frequent basis, preferably daily.

Interim Billing and Instalment Payments
Provision is made in the Municipal Act for a local municipality to bill taxpayers for an amount of
taxes before the adoption of the estimates for the year. Section 317 authorizes interim billing for
lower tier municipalities and section 316 contains similar provisions for upper tier municipalities.
The amount levied on a property under this interim billing must not exceed the prescribed
percentage or 50% if no percentage is prescribed, of the total amount of taxes for municipal and
school purposes levied on the property for the previous year.
Taxes may be billed with a requirement that payment be made in a series of instalments
(section 342 of the Municipal Act). The number of instalment payments varies. While three or
four payment periods are common, instalment plans have called for as many as eight to ten
payments, and the legislation now authorizes monthly tax billings in addition to instalments. The
main advantages of instalment billing are:
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Reduced cost of current borrowing, especially when used with an interim billing.



Provision of a steady cash flow throughout the fiscal year.



Convenience to taxpayers in planning and budgeting for their payments.



Reduced tax delinquency because payments are made more manageable.
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The scheduling of instalment payments should be related to major cash requirements of the
municipality, such as the due dates for municipal payment of upper tier and school board levies.
Such planning is part of a good short-term money management.
Various incentives can be used to encourage prompt payment of municipal taxes. Section
345(10) provides that a local municipality may, by by-law, authorize its treasurer to give a
discount for advance payments at the rate and in the manner specified in the by- law even
though the taxes have not yet been levied or the assessment roll has not yet been returned
when the advance payment is made. This discount legislation is seldom implemented by
municipalities. Various tax payment arrangements can be made for the convenience of the
taxpayer, such as; pre-authorized cheques, post-dated cheques, paying taxes in person at a
financial institution, telephone or internet banking and debit plans under which taxes can be
withdrawn automatically from the taxpayer’s bank account.

Penalty and Interest Charges
Just as financial incentives can be provided to encourage prepayment of taxes, so too are there
financial incentives to discourage late payment. Section 345 authorizes a municipality to pass
by-laws to impose late payment charges for the non-payment of taxes or any instalment by the
due date
All taxes billed during the year that remain unpaid in that year may be subject to a penalty
charge, from the date of default to the date of payment or to the end of the year – whichever
comes first. The penalty is not to exceed 1.25 percent per month of the amount of taxes due
and unpaid. Taxes billed in previous years that remain unpaid are subject to an interest charge
(not to exceed 1.25 percent per month) from the beginning of the year that the taxes went into
arrears until the date of payment.114
Under the new Municipal Act, municipalities can continue to charge penalties and interest at the
existing rates, but they are now also required, under sections 345(6) and 345(7), to pay interest
to ratepayers on overpayments arising from administrative error or appeals under the
Assessment Act. If taxes have already been paid and an assessment appeal is successful,
municipalities are now required to refund the overpayment with interest. In the case of a
successful appeal where taxes have not already been paid, the municipality is now required to
waive interest and penalty charges on the excess amount.
The legislation (as amended by the Municipal Statute Law Amendment Act, 2002), sets out the
114

Municipalities used to have the option of imposing interest and penalty charges under the Municipal Interest and
Discount Rate Act (MIDRA), which was passed in 1982 after bank rates much higher than the maximum 15 percent
charges that municipalities could levy created an incentive for taxpayers not to pay. MIDRA allowed the charges to be
related to the bank rate, but this statute was repealed with the passage of the new Municipal Act.
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following provisions for the allocation of payments received on taxes overdue or in arrears:


The payment shall first be applied against late payment charges owing in respect of
those taxes according to the length of time charges have been owing, with the charges
imposed earlier being discharged before charges imposed later.



The payment shall then be applied against the taxes owing according to the length of
time they have been owing, with the taxes imposed earlier being discharged before the
taxes imposed later.

However, section 347(2) of the Act also provides that a late payment on account of taxes may
be applied in a different manner – subject to the approval of the treasurer. While noting the
greater flexibility inherent in this provision, the Association of Municipal Managers, Clerks and
Treasurers of Ontario’s response to the new Municipal Act115 had requested its removal. Its
concern was that “it will open the door to all kinds of exceptions, it does not require any consent
or policy guidance from council, it has the potential to put the treasurer in a difficult position, and
it may open the treasurer to allegations of discrimination depending on the individual decisions
made.” It is suggested that treasurers seek policy guidance from their councils with respect to
this matter.
The imposition of penalty and interest will require a journal entry similar to any other account
receivable, as in the example below. The debit will actually be made to the taxes receivable
subsidiary ledger, where the penalty will be identified separately from the proportion of the
receivable representing current taxes due.
To record penalty and interest charges

Debit

Taxes receivable
Penalty and interest revenue

$5,000

Credit
$5,000

Enforcing Tax Payment
While the provision for penalty and interest charges can be considered as incentives to pay,
there are other specific means available to the municipality to enforce payment. Systematic
follow up on overdue taxes is important. Generally, municipalities send out monthly notices of
arrears to property owners. In cases where arrears are substantial, they may make phone calls
or even visit the owner. As well, mortgage companies can be contacted to advise of these
arrears.
Many collection difficulties in the past had related to the business occupancy tax that was
abolished as part of the property tax reforms. .With the elimination of the Business Occupancy
Tax, the commercial land owner now relies on lease arrangements for collecting this component
of the taxes Net leases are better for this purpose, but the Small Business and Charities
Protection Act of 1998 attempted to ensure fair treatment of landlords holding gross leases by
allowing them to pass on to tenants the equivalent of the average business occupancy tax for
the property class in their municipality. This authorization continues under the new Municipal
Act, sections 367 and 368It should also be noted that with the introduction of ongoing 5 percent
tax capping (for business and multi-residential properties), the Continued Protection of Property
115

The AMCTO’s Response to Bill 111, “The Municipal Act, 2001,” available at www.amcto.com
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Taxpayers Act provides that landlords of business properties must limit the tax increases of
eligible tenants to 5 percent per year.
There are several methods available to a municipality for enforcing payment of overdue realty
taxes, including the following:


Using third party collections
This method involves relying on a bailiff, collection agency, or credit bureau. Bailiffs can
be quite effective since they can seize assets for sale and lock the doors of a business,
and their costs are recovered from the delinquent taxpayer. However, municipalities
have been reluctant to use a bailiff because this is viewed as a fairly severe action with
an adverse impact on public relations and because they have an ultimate collection tool
anyway through their lien on the land and their power to sell it if necessary.



Attornment of rent
This is an option where taxes are overdue on properties that are occupied by tenants.
The municipality can require the tenant to pay the rent to the municipality for application
against the unpaid taxes.



Tax Sale
The last resort, and most effective weapon, is to register and sell the property – an
action that can be taken once the property has been in arrears for three years. The
provisions for a tax sale used to be set out in the Municipal Tax Sales Act, but they are
now found within the new Municipal Act, Part XI, sections 371-389The key steps are
briefly summarized in Appendix B, including those changes introduced by the new
Municipal Act.

Cancellations, Adjustments and Refunds of Taxes
Legislation provides for a number of ways in which the tax roll can be reduced. This can occur
through assessment appeals that affect both the assessment roll and the tax roll and through
tax appeals under the Municipal Act that affect the tax roll only.
The assessment appeal procedures have already been outlined. Any decision concerning a
change in assessment results in a notice being sent to the clerk of the municipality in question,
and the municipality then amends the assessment roll. The tax roll is amended accordingly, and
the new tax then calculated. In addition, local municipalities may cancel, reduce, or refund the
taxes paid by property owners for a variety of circumstances that occur on a property after the
preparation of the assessment roll. The main provisions are summarized in the table on the next
page.
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Tax Relief Provisions found in the Municipal Act 2001
s319

Tax deferrals,
relief

A municipality may pass a by-law providing for
deferrals or cancellation of, or other relief in respect
of, a tax increase on property in the residential class
for low income seniors or low income persons with
disabilities.

s354

Tax write off,
removal

Treasurer can remove unpaid taxes from the tax roll if
council, on the recommendation of the treasurer, writes
them off as uncollectible, or if the taxes are no longer
payable as a result of tax relief granted under other
provisions of the Act. A local municipality may only write
off taxes after an unsuccessful tax sale.

s357

Cancellation,
reduction or
refund

Upon application to the treasurer, a local municipality may
cancel, reduce or refund all or part of taxes if the property
is reclassified into a lower-taxed class, the land becomes
vacant, the land becomes exempt by being acquired by
the Crown, there is destruction of all or part of a building
on the property, a mobile unit on the land was removed, a
person was overcharged as a result of a gross or manifest
error that is clerical or factual in nature in assessing the
property, or the property could not be used for at least
three months because of repairs or renovations.

s361

Rebates for
charities

Every municipality, other than a lower tier municipality,
must have a tax rebate program providing a rebate of at
least 40 percent (or such other percentage as the
Minister of Finance prescribes) to registered charities
that are owners or tenants occupying commercial or
industrial property. Municipalities also have the option of
providing rebates to organizations similar to charities and
for properties in other than the commercial and industrial
classes. The costs of a tax rebate on a property must be
shared by municipalities and school boards that share in
the revenues from the taxes on the property.

s364

Vacant unit rebate Every local municipality must have a program to provide
tax rebates to owners of property that has vacant portions
if that property is in any of the commercial or industrial
classes.

s365

Cancellation,
reduction or
refund

The council of a local municipality may pass a by-law to
provide for the cancellation, reduction or refund of taxes
in respect of the eligible property of any person who
applies for relief and whose taxes are considered by the
council to be unduly burdensome.
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s365.1

Cancellation,
rehabilitation
and
development

A local municipality may pass a by-law providing for the
cancellation of all or a portion of taxes for municipal and
school purposes for property being rehabilitated under the
Environmental Protection Act.

s365.2

Tax reduction or
refund, heritage
property

A local municipality may pass a by-law providing for the
tax reduction or refund of between 10 percent and 40
percent of the taxes for municipal and school purposes in
respect to eligible heritage property.

Ledger accounts should be maintained to record any tax adjustments and refunds of tax
overpayments resulting from reduction of taxes on the various grounds outlined above. The
journal entries made would be the opposite of those used for recording supplementary taxes.
The usual procedure in many municipalities is to make payment of supplementary tax levies to
boards and other bodies at the end of the year. The amount of tax cancellations, adjustments
and refunds are deducted from the gross amount of supplementary taxes levied for the board or
other body and a net amount is then disbursed to them, as in the example below.
To record write-off of taxes cancelled

Debit

Tax write-off (expense account)

$5,000

Taxes receivable
To record recovery of taxes written off from School
Board

Debit

Tax Write-off Recoveries (contra-expense
account)

$2,500

Credit
$5,000

Credit
$2,500

Tax write-off recovered from School Board
(receivable or revenue, depending on
interpretation)
An application for the cancellation, reduction or refund of taxes under section 357(1) of the
Municipal Act must be filed with the treasurer on or before February 28th of the year following
the year in respect of which the application is made. If no such application is made within this
time frame, the treasurer can file an application up until April 30th, but only with respect to a
gross or manifest error or repairs and renovations.
Before September 30th, council must hold a meeting, at which applicants can make
representations, and must make a decision. Notification must be sent at least 14 days in
advance of this meeting, and applicants must also be notified of the decision within 14 days. An
appeal can be made to the Assessment Review Board within 35 days of the decision.116

116

Council can, by by-law, delegate its authority to make the initial decision to the Assessment Review Board, but this
option has rarely been exercised, if ever.
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Financial Reporting of Property Taxes
As already noted, property taxes are reported in Schedules 22A through 22D in the FIR, as
found in Appendix A.
The reporting of property taxes in the year-end financial statements is illustrated in various
financial statements in Lesson 4 of Unit Two.
In addition, however, property taxes are an excellent example of a municipal activity that
benefits from a variety of interim or in-year financial reports as well. Of particular importance are
collection reports, which provide essential information on due dates for tax instalments and
which measure collection performance for taxes.117 These reports allow for comparisons, such
as how well a department is doing from one year to the next or relative to departments in other
municipalities. Collection reports should include an analysis of the extent and pattern of overdue
accounts, rather like the “aging” of accounts receivable undertaken by the private sector, in
which overdue accounts are grouped into categories such as 1-30 days, 31-60 days, etc. Using
a similar aging analysis makes it possible to analyze each tax instalment, as billed, for collection
performance.
The resulting information highlights accounts on which prompt follow up action is required and
also provides insight into the effectiveness of tax collection methods.

117 The discussion of collection reports is largely based on the Association of Municipal Tax Collectors of Ontario,
Municipal Tax Administration Program, Unit Two, Lesson 5.
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Lesson Highlights and Points To Remember
►

The Property Assessment System
A new system of current value assessment was introduced in 1997 and when fully
operational it was supposed to be based on a rolling average of the assessment values
of the preceding three years, but this was altered by the Provincial government recently
in favour of property re-assessments every 4 years with an increase phase-in program
over 4 years and decreases granted immediately.
There are more property classes in the new system, including a number of optional
classes, and the assessment values for all of these classes have to be weighted.
The responsibility for the assessment function has been transferred to a Municipal
Property Assessment Corporation (MPAC).
Assessment appeals on a point of fact only go to the Assessment Review Board (ARB),
and there is no longer any further appeal to the Ontario Municipal Board.

►

The Property Taxation System
The Ontario government now sets education tax rates but municipalities are still
responsible for collecting the taxes and remitting them to school boards.
The Business Occupancy Tax (BOT) has been abolished and the burden associated
with it was initially absorbed into the commercial and industrial taxes by being reflected
in their tax ratios.
The provincial rebate previously provided to farmers and owners of managed forests has
been converted to a reduced tax level on these properties provided by municipalities
through reduced tax rates on these categories of property.
The province has provided tax ratios that define the tax rate of every property class in
relation to the tax rate for the residential class and that reflect the distribution of tax
burden among classes as it was before the current value assessments were introduced.
The province has also provided tax ranges that indicate what it considers to be a fair tax
range for each class of . ranges are quite narrow and when they were introduced in
1998 about 90% of business properties were being taxed above the ranges
To protect business properties from excessive tax increases relating to the new
assessment and taxation system, the province first introduced a voluntary tax cap on
commercial, industrial, and multi-residential properties, followed by a three year 10-5-5
cap, followed by the current, ongoing cap on these three property classes.
Municipalities were given some flexibility with respect to municipal taxation for the year
2004They can increase the tax ratios on one or more of the commercial, industrial, or
multi-residential classes to the extent necessary to avoid a shift of tax burden to the
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residential property class as a result of reassessment (a shift that might otherwise occur
because of the way residential property values have been increasing relative to other
property classes)In addition, those municipalities that have been subject to a levy
restriction on their commercial, industrial, or multi-residential classes can increase taxes
on these classes up to 50 percent of any tax increase imposed on the residential
property class. Ongoing flexibility is promised in the May 18, 2004 Ontario budget, which
outlines several tax capping mitigation tools for municipalities. As well, effective in 2009,
all property tax classes will have a mandatory phase-in program.
The province also provides a number of tax tools that municipalities can use to mitigate
adverse tax impacts. These involve the creation of optional tax classes, the use of
assessment banding and graduated taxation, a phase-in program, the provision of tax
rebates, and – of course – alterations in the tax ratios, but only toward or within the
fairness ranges and only by authorized municipalities (single and upper tier
municipalities).
The basic formula for the calculation of property taxes is still the amount to be raised
from taxation divided by the total taxable assessment. But the assessment in all property
classes has to be weighted, and there are also reduction factors to take into account for
properties such as vacant commercial and industrial land and farmland awaiting
development.
►

Tax Billing and Collection
The treasurer (the Act used to specify the clerk) is responsible for preparing a tax roll
(which used to be called the collector’s roll), with taxes levied against each parcel
recorded in separate columns, along with the specified charges that apply.
The treasurer (the Act used to specify tax collector) is then responsible for preparing and
delivering a tax bill, which must clearly state any instalment provisions and must indicate
how the taxpayer may take advantage of advance payments and discounts. The
province has mandated a standard tax bill, beginning with final billing in 2001, and the
new Municipal Act, section 344, continues to authorize the Minister to require a standard
tax bill.
Legislation provides for penalty charges on taxes unpaid during the current year, and for
interest charges on taxes unpaid (in arrears) in subsequent years. The new Municipal
Act requires municipalities to pay interest to ratepayers on overpayments arising from
administrative error or appeals under the Assessment Act.
Various procedures are available to enforce tax payment, including third party
collections, attornment of rent, legal action in “Small Claims” Court, and tax sale.
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Appendix A
Schedule 22 of the FIR
On the next four pages, you will find copies of FIR Schedule 22 (A, B, C and D), Municipal and
School Board Taxation. You can also view this schedule at the FIR web site at
http://csconramp.mah.gov.on.ca/fir/FIR2010.htm.
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Appendix B
Tax Sale Procedures
1. Where any part of tax arrears is owing with respect to land in a municipality on January
1st in the third year118 following that in which the real property taxes become owing, the
treasurer may – unless otherwise directed – initiate proceedings by preparing and
registering a tax arrears certificate against the title to that land.
2. Within 60 days of the registration of a tax arrears certificate, the treasurer is required to
send notices to interested parties advising them that this has been done.
3. Any person may prevent a sale by paying the cancellation price within one year from the
day of the registration of the tax arrears certificate.119
4. Before the one year period expires, the municipality may authorize an extension
agreement with the owner of the land, the spouse of the owner, or a mortgagee or tenant
in occupation of the land, extending the period of time in which the cancellation price can
be paid.
5. If the cancellation price remains unpaid 280 days after the day the tax arrears certificate
was registered, the treasurer – within the following 30 days – must send a second and
final notice to those notified in step 2 above, warning them that unless the price is paid
the land will be sold once the one year period is up.
6. If the cancellation price has not been paid and no extension agreement has been
entered into one year from the date of the registration of the tax arrears certificate, the
treasurer must advertise the land for sale in the Ontario Gazette and local press.
7. A sale will be by public tender or public auction, conducted in accordance with the
regulations made under the Act, and a tax deed must be registered in the name of the
successful purchaser.
8. If there is no successful purchaser, the legislation used to require the treasurer to
prepare and register a notice vesting the land in the municipality. The new legislation
gives municipalities much needed flexibility in dealing with land that might be
contaminated by providing that if there is no successful purchaser, the treasurer may
prepare and register a notice of vesting, in the name of the municipality. It goes on to
state, in section 379(15) of the Municipal Act, that if a notice of vesting is not registered
within two years after a public sale has been conducted, the tax arrears certificate with
respect to the property is deemed to be cancelled. But this does not prevent the
treasurer from registering a new tax arrears certificate, nor does it relieve the property
owner of any liability with respect to taxes owed.
118

The old legislation had provided for different time frames for improved versus unimproved (vacant) land, but the
new Municipal Act specifies the three-year time frame for all types of land.
119 The cancellation price is an amount equal to all of the tax arrears owing, plus all current real property taxes owing,
penalties and interest, and all reasonable costs incurred by the municipality after the treasurer becomes entitled to
register a tax arrears certificate.
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9. The proceeds of a sale are applied in accordance with the Act and where they exceed
the cancellation price the excess is paid into the Superior Court of Justice and then paid
out in accordance with an order of the court.
10. If the Treasurer conducts a public sale and there is no successful purchaser, the
Treasurer may, within two years after the date of the public sale, offer the land for public
sale by public auction or public tender, a second time in accordance with the prescribed
rules.
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Association of Municipal Managers, Clerks and Treasurers of Ontario, Municipal Administration
Program, Unit Three, Lesson Two, provides a fairly detailed outline of the evolution of
assessment and property tax reform in Ontario.
Association of Municipal Tax Collectors of Ontario, Municipal Tax Administration Program, is a
two course specialized program focusing on assessment and taxation.
Relevant information is found at various web sites including:
www.amcto.com - Association of Municipal Managers, Clerks and Treasurers of Ontario
www.amtco.on.ca - Association of Municipal Tax Collectors of Ontario.
www.e-laws.gov.on.ca - A site containing statutes and regulations
www.mfoa.on.ca- Municipal Finance Officers Association of Ontario
www.mah.gov.on.ca - Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing
www.fin.gov.on.ca - Ministry of Finance
www.utoronto.ca/mcis/imfg/resources.htm - This accesses the Institute of Municipal
Finance and Governance at the Monk School of Global Affairs, University of Toronto.
There are a number of presentations and papers here that discuss property assessment
and taxation.
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Review Questions
1. Define and distinguish clearly between tax rates, ratios, and ranges.
2. Many of the features of the new property tax system have been designed to limit or
reduce the tax burden on business properties, a burden perpetuated and even
accentuated by other features of the new system. Explain this statement.
3. Briefly describe and compare the main enforcement tools available for collecting
overdue taxes.
4. Describe the provisions for interim billings and instalment payments.
5. A municipality can cancel, reduce or refund the taxes paid by property owners for a
variety of circumstances that occur after the preparation of the assessment roll. What
are these circumstances?

